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Financial Highlights

REVENUE:
Year 2010 2009
Channels 2626 2256
Content & Production 976 882
Digital Media 30,0 27.5
Global Brands 709 6l.5
Sales & Distribution 2148 2049
Home Entertainment 2300 12253
Magazines 1683 170.6
Total 1,074.2 1,003.6
Less: share of Jjoint ventures' revenue (185 9) (239.0)
Revenue 888.3 704.6
PROFIT:
Year 2010 2009
fm £m
Channels 392 292
Content & Production 176 168
Digital Media (208) (290)
Global Brands {74y (68)
Sales & Distribution 579 458
Home Entertainment 403 342
Magazines 184 16 2
Operating profit before specific items 145.2 1064
Specific items {52} (623)
Operating profit 140.0 44.1
Net financing costs {(136) (14 5)
Profit before tax 126.4 29.6

Throughout pages 4 to 50, references to Sales and Profit follow the defintions descnbed below, unless
otherwise stated

Sales Revenue including the Group's share of joint ventures’ revenue

Profit Operating profit i1s stated before specific tems Specific tems are not defined under IFRS and may
not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies Specific items are matenal items
which are highlighted by wvirtue of therr size or ymportance to epable a full understanding of BBC
Worldwide's performance A full defirition of specific tems 1s provided in Further Financial Information on
page 25 and n note 4 to the financial statements
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Chief Executive’s Review

OVERVIEW OF 2009/10

in the year to 31 March 2010, BBC Worldwide once more produced excellent results The company’'s
financial performance accelerated across almost every single business and in almost every single territory
This was at a time when many of the world's economies were still very fragile - indeed many rematn so
today - and when the launch and take-up of new technologies and gadgets scarcely skipped a beat

This set of results 1s not a one-off We have been delivening increasing levels of profit since 2004/05 when
the total result achieved in the previous year was £37m (UK GAAP) This year, three of our seven
businesses - Home Entertainment, Channels and Sales & Distribution - each delivered more than that in
profit on thetr own

In the year, we also reinvested £151 1m back into the BBC, taking our total cash return from programme
investments and dividends in the years since 2004/05 to £837m Including payments to independent
production companies, writers and actors, in that same period we have invested well over £1bn into the
UK's thriving creative industnes

During the year, we continued to optimise performance from the established parts of our business, whiie at
the same time investing in the newer growth businesses Here are the highlights of that performance

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

» Channels: our international network of TV channels has grown sales and profits by 16 4% and 34 2%
respectively year on year Broadcasting 41 channels across five continents, of which 29 are BBC-
branded, demonstrates how successfully we have shifted our strategy from one of channel joint ventures
that brought Iittle brand recognition value to the BBC, to one where we have more direct engagement with
audiences and real control of the brand, as well as higher and more sustainable returns

« Content & Production” we continue to dnve excellent profits from TV formats such as Dancing with the
Stars (the international format of Stnctly Come Dancing) In addition, the investments we made in start-up
independent production companies n the last three years (in return for nghts) have started to bear fruit
Commissions for Being Enca and the BAFTA-winning Misfits and Wallander illustrate the qualty of
content being produced by these talented companies

» Digital Media. significant growth In our revenues from BBC com and continued rationalisation and
improvements to our global websites brought losses In this business down from £29 Om to £20 8m  Also,
this year we are no longer affected by the investment requirements of Project Kangaroo (a proposed TV
download joint venture prohibited by the Caompetition Commission in 2008/09)

» Global Brands' although only recently established, it 1s already clear this business has added significant
value The team takes a small number of properties and applies brand management disciplines to build
them into major international brands, deriving revenue from a wide variety of media activiies — from
magazines to live events Lonely Planet is one such brand Durning the year, despite the extraordinarily
difficult conditions for the travel industry, this travel information business moved strongly into profit
following a period of significant digital investment The business 1s managing the transition to digital
extremely well When we acquired our majority stake in Lonely Planet in 2007, 9% of its revenues came
frem non-print activity — now that figure 1s 22%

« Sales & Dustribution: in 2009/10 we have seen continuing strong growth from our Sales & Distribution
business which licenses all programmes  Net profit (that 15, excluding internal trading) 1s £57 9m, up
26 4% year on year With digital customers swelling its customer base and an undiminishing demand for
qualty content, | see no reason why this bustness should not continue to deliver lhigh returns for many
years to come
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Chief Executive’s Review (continued)

* Home Entertainment: our DVD operation, 2 entertain Limited {'2 entertain’), contnbuted an impressive
£38 2m to our profit this year This business used to be a 60 40 joint venture with Woolwerths Group ple,
but following Woolworths' administratron in January 2009, BBC Worldwide exercised its nght to acquire
Woolworths’ 40% stake

The administrators challenged these nghts, which were subsequently upheld by the High Court in August
2009 and the Court of Appeal In November 2009 In March 2010 we completed the acquisition of the 40%
stake for an agreed sum of £17 Om 2 entertain will now be able to develop both through physical
products and via online and mobile

+ Magazines: conditions for consumer magazines in the UK were weak in 2009/10 with significant falls in
advertising as a consequence of the overall economic recession Nevertheless BBC Magazines held its
sales steady at £168 3m (£170 6m 2008/09) and increased profits by 13 6% to £18 4m as a result of a
significant cost-reduction programme early in the year The key brands proved resilient on the newsstand
and the business has now built its subscriber base to over 940,000 — an excellent achievement in difficult
times But the magazines market 1s changing Circulation numbers and advertising patterns are all being
affected significantly by digital, and future success will depend in part on a willingness to invest in new
tittes and online Innovation As BBC Worldwide s restricted by constraints in both its borrowing capabihty
and editortal remit, as well as having other strategic prionties, we intend to explore possible partnership
opportunities to help us ensure the business i1s properly funded for the task ahead

OUR VALUES

A company's best foundation i1s the calibre and commitment of the people it employs We currently have
some 2700 staff, 1800 n the UK and S00 based in over 20 offices around the world, who have to juggle
market, format and brand objectives with inteligence and commercial flair | am constantly impressed with
their creativity and would hike to thank them for therr focus over what has been a very challenging year |
would partrcularty like to pay tnbute to Garth Ancier, President, BBC Worldwide Amencas, and David
Abraham, Chief Executive of UKTV (our joint venture with Virgin Media), who have moved on to new
opportunities Herb Scannell has joined us as Prestdent, BBC Worldwide America

Importantly, our people work within the framework of our company values and our commitment to protecting
the BBC brand Our values, outlined on page 7, infuse how we conduct business and how we treat our
colleagues - in short, how we get things done As such they reguire constant effort, and early in 2010 we
invested 1n a programme of training and development, centred on the values, that will continue 1in 2011

Every company, of course, needs to be grounded in a culture of probity and awareness of the impact its
operations have on people and the environment But | would venture the clam that BBC Worldwide, though
not a plc, needs to ewvidence particularly high standards of corporate responsibility We are owned by a
chernshed UK broadcasting institution of international renown, and we promote and steward the BBC brand
itself in markets from lceland to Indonesia, as well as many much-loved programme brands Ensuring we
have the right systems and pelicies — whether it's in the area of editonal compliance or customer service —
Is essential to us

We are currently embarking on an important new initiative called Futureworks This 1s an in-depth upgrade
of all our IT and back office processes, designed to ensure we meet the company's and our customers’
future needs More information 1s given about our corporate responsibidity and governance initiatives on
page 41 and 32 respectively

MARKET CONTEXT

Being a well spread portfolto business, BBC Worldwide 1s able to offset the impact of pressures in one
market by taking advantage of better conditions In others This means we must keep abreast of a wide
range of industry trends
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Chief Executive’s Review (continued)

Undoubtedly 2009 was a very hard year for the media industry as a whole Advertising income, In
particular, was under pressure, falling up to 25% In some markets That was compounded by the ongoing
structural changes caused by the shift to digital At BBC Worldwide, the fact that only about 15% of our
income 15 directly derived from advertising helped us weather the storm, unlike — for example — commercial
broadcasters operating in a single terntory, where the vast majonty of Income can come from this source
Another 30% comes from the sale of content to business-to-business customers for their own services,
whether broadcast, online or mobile What we found is that in hard times these customers gravitated to our
extensive catalogue The remaining 55% 1s from the direct sale of consumer products and services, and
this toc has held up well around the world

The market for qualty television content remains strong — not least because the amount of TV being
watched in mature markets, such as the US, continues to increase PwC estimate that the global television
market 1s worth about $200bn annually Cntically, Ofcom data suggests that at least 80% of this stems from
locally made content The international production capability that BBC Worldwide has built up over the past
two years allows us to target this substantial segment

The recession seems to have done little to slow down growth of global multichanne! pay-TV penetration,
which increased by 8% in 2009 to 786m homes (Screen Digest), mantaining the rate of previous years
This has two positive impacts on us Firstly, it allows us to reach more homes directly with our channels
And secondly, as more channels launch, it means increased demand for the programming that we license

BBC Worldwide's investment in digital services also continues to pay off We are ranked by comScore as
the second largest European media company by unique users, and we have also created innovative
content partnerships with leading-edge digital companies such as Apple, Google, Microsoft and Facebook

Perhaps the most exciting technological development currently unfolding 1s the rapid development of new
digital devices — for example the IPad and Android mobile phones BBC Worldwide 1s a pioneer in
developing new products for these Lonely Planet was a launch partner for the (Pad and its 1000 Ultimate
Expenences was the most popular app on the 1Pad app store in June 2010 Nokia launched its new 5800
mobile pre-installed with the entire second sernes of hit comedy Gavin & Stacey

These pay-TV and digital trends have opened up much stronger business-to-consumer opportunities than
in the past Of course, the commercial returns from operating your own consumer services (instead of
seling nghts to others) tend to be much better Control of your own services allows you to brand,
commission, schedule and promote the programmes and services you choose However, with so much
consumer choice, ensuring that products, customer service and audience relationships are all first class 1s
more important than ever Only the best will prosper

BRINGING THE UK TO THE WORLD

We are extremely proud of the role we play in supporting the UK's creative industries and exporting the
best UK intellectual property around the world Currently we account for around 10% of the sector's total
(DCMS Creative Industrnies Economic Estimates Statistical Bulletin 2009) and represent the BBC, over 300
independent producticn companies and literally thousands of rights holders

As | look at the excellent new programming coming through the pipeline — from the BBC-produced factual
series The Human Planet for BBC Two to Hartswood Films’ cnme series Sherlock for BBC One — my faith
in the quality of the UK content nses to an even higher level | believe the technological changes happening
in the global media industry can deliver important opportunities for our sector, and at BBC Worldwide we
look forward to playing a stgnificant part in developmng these in the year ahead and beyond
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Business review

HOW WE DO BUSINESS

Our values go hand in hand with the BBC brand This means we pricritise pursuing excellence in editoral
standards, protecting the BBC brand and reputation, compliance in all commercial activities with the BBC's
Four Commercial Crntena (4CC) as set out on page 40, putting our audiences and customers first, and a
commitment to a programme of continuous appraisal and improvement, not only in these areas but also in
corporate governance and business ethics

As part of our commitment to this goal, we

» demand and expect exacting editonal standards,

= care about the working conditions of those who make products for us and our licensees,

+ endeavour to reduce our environmental impact and carbon emissions,

 support the development and welfare of our people and seek to builld a diverse workforce, and
+ engage with the communities in which we work

We have highiighted some of our recent work 1n improving editorial standards and ethical sourcing here
Information about our other Corporate Responsibility initiatives can be found in the Governance section

ETHICAL SOURCING

Our values lead us to show respect for those who manufacture products for us and our licensees It 1s
highly \important that we ensure suppliers adhere to our ethical sourcing policy, which I1s designed to
improve conditions for workers in high nisk terntorres Factorres are independently checked and graded
each year

In ine with this policy, over the past year we have reviewed all factonies commissioned to produce BBC
Worldwide products around the world and now have a highly rated ethical sourcing programme Only
suppliers who engage fully with that programme, and meet clearly defined standards, are allowed to
produce BBC Worldwide branded products During the year we commussioned capacity-bullding projects
with factories in China producing covermounts for cur magazines to help the management improve worker
conditions Elsewhere we have agreed action plans with licensees in order to find sustainable ways for ther
factones to control working hours

EDITORIAL STANDARDS AND BRAND VALUES

At the heart of the company I1s a commutment to the integrity, reputation and values of the BBC brand BBC
Worldwide's commitment 1s underpinned by an extensive set of editorial guidelines and internal quality
controls which touch every aspect of our business

This framework of editornial controls 1s constantly eveolving to adapt to the needs of a changing business
There I1s an increasing emphasis on editonal 1ssues as the business has moved beyond pure distnbution of
content to developing direct to consumer proposittons such as BBC-branded channels that offer BBC
content Recognition of this shift led to the creation of BBC Worldwide’s current Editenal Framework This
includes a widely published set of Editorial Principles, a Worldwide Executive Committee level Editonal
Champion, Editorial Leaders for each business, and a dedicated Editona! Standards Adviser Cver 1,600
people have been trained in ‘Safeguarding Trust, and we have produced a new, single, comprehensive set
of Advertising and Sponsorship Guidelines

BBC Woerldwide's marketing team has developed a Brand Tracker to measure the presence, retevance and
appreciation of the key BBC brands and their link to the overall BBC masterbrand Major competitors’
brands, the BBC masterbrand, and BBC sub-brands are tracked annually across key terntorres and
measured by specific brand equity and brand links back to the BBC

In our Magazines business, Editorial Advisory Boards (‘EAB'), work alongside all BBC magazines (such as
Radio Times, Gardeners’ World, Good Food and Top Gear) and their dedicated websites, and play a key
role in ensuning that the magazine portfolio reflects the BBC's public purposes and editonal values The
EAB are overseen by an Annual Review Panel, consisting of external experts and senior representatives
from Magazines, BBC Vision and BBC Audio and Music

As the business evolves, BBC Worldwide 1s committed to a process of continuous appraisal, refinement
and improvement of the Company’s Editonial Framework to ensure our standards remain high
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Business review {continued)
CHANNELS
Channels provides a global showcase for the best of British TV via a portfolic of 41 international channels,

29 of which are BBC branded In the UK its pay-TV joint venture with Virgin Media, UKTV, provides a
secondary market for BBC programming

Sales (Em) Profit/(loss) before specific items (Em})

Year 2010 2009 Year 2010 2009
EMEA 1734 1595 EMEA 318 292
Americas 525 473  Amencas 60 43
Rest of World 367 188 Restof World 14 (43)
Channels 262.6 2256 Channels 392 29.2

Qverall, Channels delivered sales of £262 6m, an increase of 16 4% on 2008/08, and £39 2m in profits, an
impressive 34 2% up year on year

The year's focus was consolidation and growth of our owned & operated (O&0) thematic channels, rolled
out In 2006 and driving increased distnbution since

Year on year Q&0 revenue was up 29 7% dnven mainly by subscrnption income resulting from additional
carnage n Australia of CBeebies and BBC Knowledge and full-year revenues from prior-year channel
launches In Australia, Scandinavia, Africa and Latin Amenica While the global multi-channel TV advertising
mdustry declined 7 1% 1n 2009 (PwC), Channels grew its international advertising sales by 41 3% Profits
generated by this portfolio more than doubled

EMEA
In the UK, re-branding of the UKTV portfolio that began in 2007/08 was completed A newly re-branded
Good Food channel {previously UKTV Food} premiered in July to complement our magazine and website

In Europe, BBC Prime was re-branded as BBC Entertainment to bring the channel in ine with the Q&0
portfolio and programming hours were increased In Scandinavia, a deal with Sweden’'s Com Hem led to
the launch of BBC Knowledge and BBC HD The business saw significant growth in advertising sales — in
Africa by 97 3% and in Poland by 61 6%

A full year of equity parbcipation in Anima! Planet Europe, part of our joint venture with Discovery
Communications Inc (DC), also increased overall profit

Americas

BBC Amernca had its best-ever ratings, owing to the success of Torchwood and Doctor Who Distribution
grew to 67m homes, BBC America HD launched in July, and a dual feed was launched to deliver the same
primetime schedule on both US coasts The process of bringing affiliate sales in-house (currently managed
by DCI) began with the appointment of a new team BBC World News Amenca, our US-facing nightly
bulletin, had an outstanding year, winning two Peabody Awards, a News & Documentary Emmy and two
RTCA David Bloom Awards

In Canada, Channels has a jomnt venture with CanWest for BBC Canada and CBeebies
Latin Amencan distribution grew through our Televisa partnership for BBC Entertainment and CBeebies

Further carnage deals were secured in Central Amenca and a pan-region advertising sales team was
established in Mexico with sales of $1m (£0 8m} in therr first six months
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Business review (continued)

Asia Pacific

Our existing brands became avallable on major platforms in Australia through a distnbution deal with
AUSTAR in September This increased reach for BBC Knowledge and CBeebies The deal also saw the
launch of an HD simulcast of UKTV, our wholly owned entertainment channel UKTV was Australia’s third
top performing subscription channel and was once again New Zealand's leading general entertainment
channel

CBeebies’ first local production — Penelope K, by the way — was commissioned from Blink Films pty

In Asta, major cable and IPTV deals led to increased distnbution in South Korea, Hong Kong and Singapore
and revenue increased by 70 4%

Global Ad Sales

BBC Worldwide Ad Sales reports through and represents Channels and serves three other stakeholders
World News, BBC com and Lonely Planet Despite a challenging year in global advertising markets, overall
sales remained flat year on year representing actual share growth for all stakeholders Whilst BBC America
(up 22 1%) and BBC com (up 41 7%) enjoyed double digit year-on-year growth, BBC World News had a
difficult first half, reflecting disproportionate cuts 1n pan-regional advertising budgets, but successfully
recovered growth in the second half

Outlook

In 2010/11 we will launch new channels in the US and take BBC HD into more markets as well as exploring
new apportunities in Western Europe and Asia We will continue to invest in our Q&0 channels, grow our
global Ad Sales operation and develop our localisation strategy by investing in more co-productions and
orginal commissions
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CONTENT & PRODUCTION

Content & Produchon generates a growing pipeline of content by investing in BBC and indie-produced
programming, developing funding sclutions te help greenlight new shows and building relattonships with
talent It licenses and produces TV formats for other broadcasters and creates new programming via its
production network

Sales (Em) Profit/(loss) before specific items (£m)

Year 2010 2009  VYear 2010 2009
Format Business 942 838 FormatBusiness 229 220
Content Acquisition - - Content Acquisition (73) (62)
Live Entertainment 34 44 Live Entertainment 20 10
Content and Production 97.6 882 Content and Production 176 16,8

Overall sales were up 10 7% year on year to £87 6m helped by growth in the format business in the US,
India and EMEA Profits increased to £17 6m, a result of strong growth in the Live Entertainment business
and the ongoing success of Dancing with the Stars (Strictly Come Dancing in the UK) in the US

Format Business

We now have wholly owned production bases in the US (New York and LA}, India and France, joint
ventures and associates 1n Canada (Temple Street), Australia {Freehand), Argentina (GP Meda) and
Germany (Tower Productions), and production/distnbution arrangements in Russia (with MIR Reality) and
Brazil (Mixer) This strategy adds production fees and ancillary revenue to licensing income while providing
greater influence and control aver the quality of finished programmes

International success continues with proven formats such as Dancing with the Stars and Top Gear In the
US, the LA office produced its tenth season of Dancing with the Stars for ABC, premienng with the largest
audience In the show's history In New York, cable commuissions included an eighth season of What Not to
Wear (for TLC) India had a good year producing a new season of Dancing with the Stars (for Sony) and
Baby Borrowers (NDTV), as well as winning a commission for Celebnty Sleepover (NDTV) France
developed a local version of People's Quiz and a Louis Theroux adaptation, both for TF1 In Australia,
season nine of Dancing with the Stars was produced for Seven Network and a third series of Top Gear was
commissioned gaining a higher commercial profile as a result of its move from SBS to Nine Network

Despite American networks' preference for established formats, our US production offices also succeeded
in getting a number of scripted developments underway with ABC and HBQ

Content Acquisition

In 2009/10, Content Acquisition costs Increased by 17 2%, these costs support investment in BBC and non-
BBC nights across the whole company, as well as management of cur equity stakes 1n several UK indies
This year, BBC investments included Doctor Who and Top Gear in addition to new titles such as crime
drama senes Luther Science, Natural History and History titles remain strong sellers internationally and
titles such as Universal, Planet Dinosaur, Egypt and Atlantis are expected to perform well

The business continues to work closely with independent production houses to find funding solutions for
format and content acquisition Development deals were agreed with Nutopia, Neal Street and Ten Alps in
addition to investment in titles such as Pnmeval 4 and & (Impossible), Outcasts (Kudos), Earthflight (John
Downer) and Mo (ITV Studios) about the late Mo Mowlam, for which Julie Walters won a Bafta

In recent years, acquisition actvity has included taking minonty equity stakes in a small number of

production companies In 2008/10, these companies provided over 100 hours of programming, delivering
£17 0Om of distribution revenue from titles such as Wallander, Gavin & Stacey and Being Enca

10
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Live Entertainment

Profits from Live Entertainment doubled as a result of strong margins from this year's main show, Walking
with Dinosaurs  As our live shows are built around our major brands and children’s properties, the business
moved into Global Brands just after year end

Outlook

The format business will focus on growing output from its production bases and partnerships around the
world In the US there wili be a concerted drnive to greenlight scripted formats and, in the UK, we will
continue to identify strong investment opportunities, and help the BBC and the independent sector
supplement production budgets The business has also introduced a Talent and Brand Ventures operation
with the aim of creating deeper relationships with on-screen talent and ensuring the potential of therr
intellectual property 1s fully maximised

11
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DIGITAL MEDIA

Digital Media develops new opportunities to deliver our content to consumers via digital platforms including
mobzles It also has 50m+ users of BBC com, the international version of the BBC's website

Sales (Em} Profit/{loss) before specific items (£m)

Year 2010 2009 Year 2010 2009
bbc com 145 102 bbccom (130} (120)
Global Websites 33 33  Global Websites (53} (150)
BBC Motion Gallery 117 140 8BC Motion Gallery {25} (29)
Digital Media 300 275 Digital Media {20 8) {230)

Sales of £30 O0m n 2009/10 represent year-on-year growth of £2 5m or 9 0% The business reduced losses
from £{29 0)m last year to £(20 8)m 1n 2009/10

BBC.com

BBC com s the international version of the BBC’s renowned news site bbc co uk, and revenues come
almost exclusively from advertising which can be seen only outside the UK In 2009/10 it generated sales
of £14 5m, which represents growth of 41 7% on the prior year Losses for the year increased from
£(12 0)m in 2008/09 to £{13 0)m owing to additional co-investment with the BBC In the technology
infrastructure and investment in sales capability In most other areas, operating costs were contained or
reduced year—on-year

Traffic grew to 54m monthly users (Omniture Mar 2010) and the site has now established a broad range of
global advertisers across Europe, Asia and North America The recession impacted the first half of the year
but 1n the second half the business grew across all markets and gained greater traction in the US

Investment continued on the development of a new techrical platform designed to deliver a more flexible
site enabling enhanced localisation to drive ad sales This will be unvelled in 2010/11 Future plans include
a travel site within BBC com and investigating ways of introducing Player functionality for international
audiences

Global Websites

The sites topgear com, bbcgoodfood com, radiotimes com and gardenersworld com support therr
namesake BBC Worldwide brands in the web arena Revenues, mainly denved from advertising, have
been under pressure {UK online display advertising revenue shrank by 4 4% in 2009 — |AB) Despite this,
global websites increased sales by £0 5m to £3 8m in 2009/10, representing 15 4% growth year-on-year
Only the smallest property, gardenersworld com, experienced decline (8 4%) along with the market, while
bbecgoodfood com, topgear com and radiotimes com revenues grew by 113 5%, 254% and 16 0%
respectively This was achieved thanks to a huge growth in traffic, socta! media marketing and a good
performance from the ad sales team

Traffic to topgear com and bbcgoodfood com was up by 62 5% and 131 3% respectively (Google
Analytics) gardenersworld com won Website of the Year 2009 at the Garden Media Guild Awards Radio
Times and BBC Good Food developed successful IPhone apps, with the former becoming one of Apple’s
top paid for apps of 2009

Global Websites figures also include the costs of Kangaroo, a joint venture with 1TV and C4 blocked by the
Competitton Commussion {2008/09), and development of alternative video-on-demand strategies (2009/10)
The operation was re-orgamsed in 2009/10 with non-performing sites such as bbcgreen com closed and
the staff base rationalised

12
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BBC Motion Gallery

Motion Gallery licenses footage from the BBC archive for use in films, advertisements and TV programmes
With most of BBC Mohton Gallery's clients being in the broadcasting and advertising sectors it was
impacted by the economic downturn Sales of £11 7m were 16 6% down year on year The headline loss
for the year was £(2 5)m, but this included one-off costs related to implementing a new sales and
operational strategy in partnership with Thought Equity Motion (TEM) Under the deal, BBC Mohon Gallery
will benefit from TEM's advanced technology platform and the two operations will cross-represent sales
TEM will represent Motion Gallery sales in North America and Asia Pacific with Motion Gallery selling for
both In EMEA It 1s anticipated this will deliver faster growth and lower operating costs

Outlook

Prospects for the online advertising market are considerably improved for 2010/11 but the level of recovery
will vary market by market The year will see BBC com launch a range of new services, including localised
editions and apps for both mobile and internet TV platforms

13
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GLOBAL BRANDS
Global Brands dnives greater long-term value from our premium multi-format brands, including Top Gear

and Lonely Planet It also operates busimesses such as licensing that generate the majonty of revenues
from these hit brands

Sales {Em) Profit/(loss) before specific items (Em)
Year 2010 2009 Year 2010 2009
Lonely Planet 514 430 Lonely Planet 19 (32)
Licensing 195 185 Licensing 03 31
Global Brands 70.9 61.5 Intangibles amortisation {(19) {(21)
Memo reporting of key brands* 1473 1281  Brand management {77) (46)
Global Brands (memo)* 218.2 189.6 Global Brands (74) (6.8}
Memo reporting of key brands* 515 385
Global Brands {memo)* 44,1 317

* Including Top Gear, BBC Earth, Doctor Who

Global Brands reported sales of £218 2m, up 15 1% on the previous year, and profit of £44 1m, up 39 1%
These figures include commercial activity on Top Gear, Doctor Who and BBC Earth across all businesses
within BBC Worldwide This activity 1s reported 1n each relevant business area, and additionally memo
reported here in Global Brands As such, Global Brands’ standalone position consists of Lonely Planet,
Licensing, and the costs of managing and developing the brands

Lonely Planet

Lonely Planet had a year of very good growth, despite the continued depression of the travel market Sales
were up £8 4m to £51 4m, growth of 19 5%, while profit grew to £1 9m — an improvement of £5 1m on last
year

In its primary book markets of the UK, US, and Australia, the company grew market share This resulted
from a strong set of new titles, including a new Discover series offering the best of destinations n full
colour However, book sales remamn depressed with total volumes in these pnmary markets down some
25% compared with 2007 (the year of acquisition)

The digital business grew strongly, up 37 2% on last year and producing 22 1% of total revenue The
website lonelypltanet com ended the year with traffic up 17 0% compared to the same penod last year The
digital team has been strengthened with a number of new appointments

Licensing

Licensing 1s made up of merchandising, BBC Children's Books (our partnership with Penguin), and our joint
venture with Ragdoll to represent therr pre-school brands including In the Night Garden and Teletubbies
Revenue grew by 54% to £19 5m, but profits fell to £0 3m because of higher contributor costs for
merchandising, plus lower profits from Children’s publishing

Top Gear, Doctor Who, and BBC Earth

These three brands have grown strongly, with sales across the company rising by 15 0% to £147 3m and
profit by 33 8% to £51 5m Top Gear's strategy of dnving sales of the UK version of the show as well as
developing Jocal formats continues to prove successful, with a U3 version agreed with The History Channel
during the year At Christmas, the Where's Stig? book topped The Sunday Times non-fiction UK hardback
chart for two weeks
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Despite the lack of a full new seres in 2009/10, Doctor Who performed strongly thanks to exploitation of the
back catalogue, and the success of four TV specials in maintaining public interest The near-simultaneous
transmission of the new series with Matt Smith as the Doctor took place in Australia, Canada and the US in
Apnl 2010, just two weeks after the UK, creating significant buzz and helping to imit piracy

BBC Earth, our umbrella brand for natural history content, has been rolled out across our DVDs, books and
other products to ensure credit comes back to the BBC The team drives the success of hit titles such as
Life through brand partnerships and consumer marketing, and has established a weekly BBC Earth
branded block on BBC America

Brand management and development

The costs of managmng and developing the brands increased by £3 1m to £7 7m in 2009/10 This increase
was primarnly a result of staff costs that were previously pard by other businesses now being fully paid by
Global Brands, and investment in brand marketing

Outlook

Since April 2010, Global Brands has taken on responsibility for the Dancing with the Stars brand, and
running several other businesses which are heavily reliant on our key brands — Global Websites (our
branded websites), Live Entertainment, our adult books partnership with Random House and BBC Active
(our partnership with Pearson} The year ahead should be a big year for Docter Who as we am to
capitalise on the success of the new seres with a range of new products and live events The speed of
economic recovery will continue to influence Lonely Planet's performance, and we look forward to
delivenng the US version of Top Gear
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SALES & DISTRIBUTION
Sales & Distribution licenses our extensive catalogue of principally UK programming and ancillary rights to

customers around the world [t stages BBC Showcase — the world’s largest international television market
hosted by a single distnbutor

Sales (Em) Profit/(loss) before specific items (£Em)

Year 2010 2009 Year 2010 2009
EMEA 1348 1398 EMEA 426 407
Americas 640 663 Amencas 48 78
Asia Paafic 420 347 AsiaPacfic 168 129
Sales and distribution (Gross) 2408 240.8 Sales and distnbution (Gross) 642 614
Less internal trading of {260) (359 Lessinternal trading of (63) {156)
Sales and distribution {Net) 214.8 204.9 Sales and distnbution (Net) 579 458

Sales, before eliminating trading with other BBC Worldwide businesses, held steady year on year at
£240 8m and profit increased 4 6% to £64 2m This was a good performance given that many customers
froze or reduced therr content budgets In 2009/10 the team sold around 60,300 hours of programming
including 9,000 hours to digital platforms Profits increased mainly as a result of increased volumes, higher-
margin licensing deals and exchange-rate benefits caused by a weak sterling

BBC Showcase, our unigue annual sales farr held in Brighton, UK, maintained high attendance (nearly 500
customers) and new digital buyers such as ITunes and Nokia attended for the first time

The Content Syndication team, which sells largely to the online distribution market, became a key supplier
to 1Tunes during the year sigruing up Canada and Australia In the US, Torchwood Children of Earth, Top
Gear and Doctor Who all it No 1 1n Tunes Top TV Seasons charts Sales to other digital partners,
including Xbox, continue to grow

EMEA

In a challenging economic climate across the region, sales fell slightly to £134 8m (£139 8m 2008/09) The
strongest performances came from Scandinavia, Italy and our Sports Sales team Sales to UK customers
declined in tandem with the decrease in therr advertising revenues, and i Germany sales were affected by
fewer co-production opportunities Profit was up by 4 7% to £42 6m because the sales mux included higher
margin properties

Sales drivers included Top Gear, Torchwood and Pnimeval Significant deals in Scandinavia and Benelux
realised the value from Top Gear's exceptional performance In these markets We also emphasised the
back catalogue, placing properties such as Inspector Lynley and Teletubbies with broadcasters throughout
Europe

Americas

Economic factors, including exchange rates, affected both sales and profits in this region — down 3 5% and
38 5% respectively Public Broadcast Service (PBS) sales were strong in the year despite cuts to PBS
funding and durnng the year co-production deals were struck for the drama senes Sherlock, Aurelio Zen and
Pnmeval, amongst others, all of which will come to fruition in 2010/11

The Latin Amenca team, aided by another successful Showcase event in Rio de Janeiro, made major sales
to TBS Latin Amenica (including HD content for the first time) and TV Azteca — Mexico

In Canada sales were impacted by challenging market conditons However sales highlights include
Torchwood Children of Earth and Doctor Who to the sci-fi Channel Space
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Asia Pacific

Sales in Australia and New Zealand rose by 31 0% year on year with over 6600 hours of programming sold
(16% up on prior year) Among the top-selling titles by revenue were Top Gear, for which we negotiated a
new free-to-arr partner, Life and Waking the Dead Significant exchange rate gains benefited sales and
profits

Asia enjoyed an excellent year in 2009/10 thanks to the establishment of new relationships and a
sophisticated windowing strategy Sales, drniven by Life and Rocketmen (BBC Worldwide's first science film
release), increased 37 6% year on year to our best result ever in this region Video-on-demand business
continued to grow including deals with SingTel and Chunghwa

Outlook

Judging by discussions with buyers at Showcase and advertising forecasts, we belteve the market for UK
firished programmes should improve in 2010/11 Co-productions will be significant, particularly in EMEA
and the US, as we look to developing alternative funding We will continue to embed digital competencies
across all areas of the business to maximise the value of our content
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HOME ENTERTAINMENT
Home Entertainment creates consumer products that complement programming and extend brands It

includes 2 entertain, our DVD publishing business, and Audio & Music, which markets great spoken word
and music content around the world

Sales {£m) Profit/{loss) before specific items (£m)

Year 2010 2009 Year 2010 2009
2 entertain/DVD 1935 185 8 2 entertain/OVD 382 314

Audio and music 259 27 2 Audio and music 17 30

Audiocall* - 07 Audiocall*® - {0 8)
Books, Learning and Retail 106 116 Books, Learning and Retall 04 04

Home Entertainment 2300 225 3 Home Entertainment 40 3 342

* Audiocall was closed down in 2008/09

Home Entertainment returned profits of £40 3m (up 17 8% on 2008/09) on sales of £230 Om (up 2 1% year
on year) The 2009/10 figures include eight months of control of 2 entertain A 4 1% uphft in DVD sales was
offset by reduced revenue from other consumer products such as books (managed via partnerships with
Random House and Pearson) The same pattern emerges at profit level

2 entertain/DVD

OVD publishing remains a strong profit generator for BBC Worldwide — £38 2m in 2009/10 Qur acquisition
of the 40% stake In 2 entertain previously owned by Woaolworths Group plc was completed during the year,
creating substantial value for the company, the BBC and the licence fee payer (see page 23)

In addition to benefiting from the impact of full ownership of thts business, underlying trading has been
strong The business has outperformed the market in the UK, demonstrating its resihence in shielding
products from the downward pricing suffered by other catalogues

2 entertain’s UK market share by value increased from 7 9% to a peak of 8 5%, ranking the company at
number six in the UK The UK bestsellers were David Attenborough’s Life senes, Gavin & Stacey Seres
Three and Gavin & Stacey The Complete Collection, Only Fools and Horses The Complete Collechon and
Clarkson Due! The US market accounted for 29 0% of our video sales this year, with Planet Earth
continuing to sell well (over 5 1m units In total to date) The value of the US market {including the Blu-ray
format) was down 8 0% n 2009 and, although 2 entertain's US sales followed a similar trend, the business
grew profit year on year through strong management of costs In Australia, the BBC DVD label earned
Au$66 8m (£35 7m) at retall with Top Gear Great Adventures Helmet being the top seller by value

One reason for the strong performance of 2 entertain was the speed with which we moved to address the
wholesale and retail impacts of Woolworths Group’s collapse at the end of 2008 and through 2009 In
addition, excellent in-store point-of-sale and positioning, plus tactical use of talent for greater marketing
impact was highly effective Online sales channels such as Amazon also delivered increased volumes, with
BBC-branded products performing well

Audio and Music

The Audio and Music business operated in challenging markets although sales decline has been
significantly mibigated by careful cost control The Music team has built a strong catalogue of over 100
hours of TV content for international distribution, including the UK music festival Glastonbury and the
Rolling Stones documentary Exile on Main Street Following its launch at BBC Showcase in February 2010,
this documentary has been sold to 12 countnes including Israel, France and Australa A Robbie Williams
concert (part of the BBC's Electric Proms season 2009) was broadcast to over 250 cinemas across 23
countries, setting a new Guinness World Record for the most simultaneous cinematic screenings of a live
concert
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We are pursuing strategic options for our BBC Audiobooks business, particularly through a disposal
Though digital downloads of our titles are growing (29 0% of purchases by volume are now digital), the
business 1s strategically non-core, and we believe a faster transition from physical to digital distnbution can
be achieved

Outlook

The prionty for 2010/11 1 to deliver our new strategy for 2 entertain and take advantage of the efficiencies
made possible by full ownership Though sales of physical video products are trending downwards,
purchasing by collectors and those buying DVDs as gifts remains buoyant Dnving digital video sales 1s key
to growth and we are developing plans to exploit our content across all digital platforms To that end, the
download-to-own business has transferred into Home Entertainment from Sales & Distrnibution and works
alongside the DVD team to ensure synergies and windowing strategies align We also intend to invest in
more quality music TV content for international distribution
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MAGAZINES
Magazines extends viewers’ enjoyment of BBC programming in the UK through a portfolio of high-quality

consumer magazines and events Its international hcensing operation and joint ventures take this print
content to an even wider audience in over 50 countries

Sales (Em) Profit/{loss) before specific items {Em)

Year 2010 2009 Year 2010 2000
Radio Times, Lifestyle, Specialist 1169 1179  Radio Times, Lifestyle, Speaalist 165 163
Children's Magazines 284 327 Children's Magazines 13 20
Joint ventures and assocrates 230 200 Joint ventures and assoctates 06 {21)
Magazines 168 3 1706 Magazines 184 16.2

Children’s & Licensing transferred to Global Brands during the year

Consumer magazines have faced a difficult environment in the UK over the last 12 months advertising
revenue and newsstand circulations both fell for the market as a whole However magazine subscriptions
were mere resiient Against this background, Magazines’ sales fell only 1 3%

BBC Magazines put in place a range of cost-control measures in mid-2008, followed by a major
restructuring from May 2009 As part of the restructure, it was decided that it was no longer wiable to
operate Good Homes profitably and we sold the title These restructuring and cost-control measures
contributed to an increase in profit of 13 6%

Radio Times, Lifestyle, Specialist

Our four biggest ttles — Radio Times, Good Food, Gardeners' World and Top Gear — all maintained their
market-leading positions Radioc Times increased its share of the premium histings market and Top Gear
now sells more than the next two metoring magazmes combined Other specialist titles, including History,
Focus and olive, continued to grow circulations against the overall market trend Qur travel magazine
Lonely Planet posted encouraging initial ABC circulations and was recognised with four awards, including
Consumer Travel Publication of the Year in the Travel Press Awards and BSME New Consumer Editor of
the Year

Overall circulation for the adult portfolic rose shightly year on year {2 40m against 2 37m copies in the
previous year) — a testament to our strong brands and our high editonal and production values (All figures
ABC Jul-Dec 2009 ) Subscriptions, which have been a sirategic focus for the past five years, grew 9 6%
during the year to an all ttme high, now 940,000

The major magazines were operated in close co-operation with therr sister websites in Digital Media which
enjoyed a strong year {see page 12)

Cur portfolio of international licensed editions continues to grow with 46 licences in place across 11 titles
and 54 terntones by year end Lonely Planet, which was always conceved as a titte with significant
international potential, now has seven international editions, including India and France More are In the
pipeline

Children’s Magazines

Dunng the year, Magazines invested In the launch of its first partwork for children — Top Gear Turbo
Challenge This product has quickly become the biggest partwork property in the UK by volume and 1s
expected to generate a significant profit in 2010/11 BBC Magazines continues to refresh its pre-school
partfolio, and launched Waybuloo and CBeebies Special
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Joint Ventures and Associates

UK joint ventures and associate companies compnse Frontline (magazine distnbution) with Haymarket and
Bauer, Dovetail (subscnption fulfiment) with Dennis Publishing and BBC Haymarket Exhibittons (consumer
shows} with Haymarket Extubiions Globally we operate magazine publishing joint ventures in India with
Times of India (Worldwide Media) and in Australia with ACP Magazines, as well as the Top Gear Live
events business with Brand Events Taken together the joint venture and associate businesses moved into
profitability this year as past investments started to pay off The previous year's figures had also been
reduced by an impairment charge in relation to Worldwide Media in India

Outlook

We are expecting a further increase in profitability for Magazines 1n 2010/11 as investments in the current
year are realised and as the business sees a full-year benefit from the 2009 restructure Magazines has
exceptionally strong brands, delivers consistent value to advertisers and readers, and operates in market
sectors which we expect to remain relatively resilient, in spite of longer-term concerns about the health of
markets for printed products This continues to provide a strong foundation for the growth of the business
that we anticipate will come from continued increases In subscnptions, from the digital extensions of our
brands, and from the further development of our internaticnal strategy
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OVERVIEW

The last year has been our best yet In financial terms, despite an adverse economic envirenment In many
territonies and market segments Against this backdrop we have delivered recerd revenues and profits, and
increased operating margins This 1s testament to a portfolio of businesses that 1s diverse both in terms of
geography and format, and which has enabled us to manage the impact of recession on our operating and
financtal performance

Over the last 12 months we have worked hard to maximise our commercial returns, consalidate our
successes In new areas of business, after a penod of significant investment for growth, and keep costs
under control This focus has stood us in good stead, particularly in the face of extremely tough market
conditions and has enabled us to deliver both strong revenue and profit growth

A very strong operating performance, discussed below, along with improved capital efficiency and the
organic generation of additional liquidity, enabled us to deliver a healthy dividend to the BBC Dividends
and programming investment, which together form the majonty of our cash return to the BBC, remained
almost unchanged year on year at £151 1m (£152 6m 2008/09) We were also able to repay a significant
part of our loan from BBC Commercial Holdings Ltd

BASIS OF PREPARATION

For the year Just ended, and in ine with best practice, we have adopted International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS), as the basis for the preparation of our consolidated
financial resuilts, and have also provided full prior year comparatives

OPERATING PERFORMANCE

Sales

Sales of £1074 2m were up 7 0% despite intense recessionary pressures in several markets We delivered
particularly strong revenue growth in the Channels business, helped by a focus on expanding the global
distnbution of existng channels and new launches In the previous year, notably in Africa, Australia,
Scandinavia and Latin Amenica In Global Brands, Lonely Planet delivered a particularly healthy year, and
Content & Production saw robust performances from Danc¢ing with the Stars, Baby Borrowers, Great
Amencan Road Tnp and What Not To Wear With the exception of Magazines, which held revenue almost
flat in an exceptionally difficult UK advertising market, every one of our businesses delvered growth

Operating profit

Operating profit before specific tems grew significantly, up 36 5% at £145 2m This reflected an excellent
profit out-turn In Sales & Distribution, in part due to a focus on generating more higher margin sales from
the back catalogue as well as diligent cost controf, Channels, as our international portfolic moved firmly out
of the start-up phase, and in Home Entertainment where we took full control of 2 entertain in August 2009
We also achreved sharply reduced operating losses in Digital Media and the path to profitability 1s now
clearly visible In Content & Production, the strong performance in our formats business was parttatly offset
by the development costs of our scnpted business in Los Angeles

A close focus on operating costs and revenue growth ahead of cost inflation resulted in an improvement in
operating margins, as targeted in last year's review Operating margins grew from 10 6% to 13 5%, ahead
of the 12 8% (under UK GAAP) recorded in 2007/08

Specific items

Operating profit of £145 2m (£106 4m 2008/09) s stated before specific tems to provide a comparable
measure of year-on-year performance One of the key disclosures under specific items i1s the movermnent in
the farr valuation of our derivative financial instruments Having adopted IFRS, dervative fair value
movements have been recorded in the income statement As a result of the significant volatility in
exchange rates dunng the course of 2008/09 and 2009/10 there have been correspondingly large
fluctuations in the farr value of these financial instruments, resulting in a £19 8m gain recognised in 2009/10
(loss of £(27 3)m 2008/09)
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A further consequence of the transition to IFRS 1s that we are required to take an impatrment charge of
£17 5m against the value of our majenty shareholding in Lonely Planet This was entirely caused by the
appreciation of the Australian dollar, the functional currency for Lonely Planet, which was 25 9% stronger
against sterling at year-end than at the same point in 2009 This 1s a non-cash charge aganst statutory
profits, and 1s unrelated to Lonely Planet's trading performance, which was strongly ahead of prior year in
both revenue and operating profit in local currency, and as such i1s a technical impairment It has also
broadly been offset by the overall benefit to company profits in the year resulting from the translation of
overseas earnings into sterling, which reflects the advantages of cur geographically diverse business

Full details of all other specific items are detailed in the table in Further Financial Information (page 25)

Currency

Both revenue and operating profit benefited from the weakness of sterling, with average sterling exchange
rates down 6 6% agamnst the US dollar, 5 6% against the euro, and 13 5% against the Australian dollar The
consequent strength of our overseas earnings helped to mitigate the effect of the weak UK economy on the
results of the businesses i our home market

Joint ventures
UKTV, our UK channel joint venture owned 50 50 wath Virgin Media, performed well given the condition of
the television advertising market, with a profit contribution that was stable on prior year

We also received our first full-year dividend of £5 Om from Animal Planet Europe

In March 2010 we acquired the remaining 40% of the equity in the 2 entertain DVD-distribution business,
previously owned by Woolworths Group plc The purchase price of £17 Om represented far value as
agreed between BBC Worldwide and the administrators of Woolworths, following the insolvency of
Woolworths and the subsequent exercise by BBC Worldwide of its nght to acquire the outstanding shares
in 2 entertain This investment has protected core BBC intellectual property and preserved the 2 entertain
franchise for the licence-fee payer 2 entertain continued to perform very well throughout the year, despite
weak high-street conditrons In the UK

Investment

In 2007 we began a programme of iInvestment in certain initiatives that would support our growth strategy
Investment levels peaked in 2008/09, when we launched a total of 15 BBC-branded channels, but we
continued to invest actively during the last financial year, particularly in digital content and dehvery

Investment in new programming 1s always at the heart of our business and I1s the seed-corn for future years’
growth and profitabiity A total of £83 4m was invested in programmes 1n the year The traditional funding
model for programming has been severely challenged by recent economic circumstances In response, we
have developed a range of creative solutions with both the BBC and independents to ensure great ideas
were greenlit For example, we concluded a large investment In a package of upcoming BBC Natural
History and Science titles, with Discovery as our co-production partner, including Great Barrnier Reef and
Afnca, as well as a major investment In Wonders of the Universe, the follow up to this year's successful
Wonders of the Solar System We also worked with our domestic and international co-production partners
to secure locally available production incentives to help finance new, independently produced content, such
as Nativity, filmed in Morocco and post-produced in Canada for Red Planet

Taxation

Profit after interest and tax of £92 2m was sharply up on prior year of £22 5m A tax charge including share
of joint ventures and associates tax of £41 5m reflects an effective tax rate of 31 1% (51 5% in 2008/09)
This 1s above the statutory UK rate of corporation tax of 28% because of the mix of profits taxed under
overseas Jjunisdichons with higher effective rates of tax, and disallowable expenses, including the goodwill
impairment referred to above For further details see Further Financial Information
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Cashflow and dividends

Strong operating cash flows reflected our increased profitability, a changing business mix and a lower rate
of business and programming investment This allowed us to pay a total of £32 1m in dividends to the BBC
in the year, with a further £41 5m in June 2010 in respect of the year's performance, as well as repay some
£86 4m of borrowings from BBC Commercial Holdings Ltd

Debt structure and borrowings

At the end of March this year, we held a £168 Om (£168 Om 2008/09) unsecured loan faciity with our
intermediate parent company, BBC Commercial Holdings Ltd, plus an additional loan of £50 Om (£50 Om
2008/09) with the European Investment Bank At the end of the year, £134 1m of these facilities had been
drawn (£208 4m 2008/09) At 31 March 2010 we held £23 3m in cash or cash equivalents (E55 9m
2008/09} Full details of our borrowing faciities are contaned within the Further Financial Information
section on page 27

Qutlook

We are not alone In expecting the economic situation to remain uncertain, parhicularly in developed
markets We will therefore continue to manage our businesses for stable growth and returns, and seek to
improve operating margins through a focus on higher-margin business and continued tight control of costs
We will continue to invest, particularly in digital and international opportunities, to ensure that cur business
remains able to deliver healthy returns and strong cash flows back to our shareholder, the BBC
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Dunng the year, BBC Worldwide (the ‘Group’) has voluntanly chosen to adopt International Financial
Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union {'IFRS’), in the preparation and presentaticn of its
consolidated financial results This 1s cansistent with the reporting adopted by its shareholder, the BBC, and
allows greater comparability with competitors

BBC Worldwide has selected the most appropnate accounting policies for its business in accordance with
IFRS and documented them to help ensure consistent accounting practices across the Group These
policies have been reviewed and approved by the BBC Worldwide Audit Committee and the 2009/10
accounts comply in all maternial respects with these policies The accounting policies require management
to make certain matenal or complex estmates and judgements with respect to the carrying value of assets
and habihties at the year end and the disclosure of particular contingent habiities These estimates are
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they remain consistent with the best information available at the
time, including historical expenence and, where approprate, on the recommendation of independent
advisers Actual results may differ from these estimates

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE SPECIFIC ITEMS

The coperating results of the Group can be affected by matenal individual gains and losses, making the
understanding and comparability of annual results more complex The Group therefore provides additional
disclosure on the face of the iIncome statement to state operating profit before certain ‘specific items’ (set
cut in the table below}, which are disclosed separately, to improve the comparability of year-on-year results

Specific stems are not defined under IFRS and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by
other compantes A reconctliation of operating prefit before specific tems to profit before tax 1s provided as
follows

2010 2009
£m £m
Operating profit before specific items 1452 106 4
Specific items (52 (B2 3)
Analysed as
Changes n farr value of denvatine financral instruments 198 (27 3)
Impairment of goodwill’ (17 5) -
Gain/{loss) on termination of businesses 20 9 4)
Group's share of joint venture's specific item? - (7 5)
Interest and taxation on profits of joint ventures and asscciates (2 5) (18 1)
Operating profit 1400 44 1
Net financing costs (13 6) (14 5)
Profit before tax 126 4 2986

' This relates to the technical mparment of Lonely Planet See Chief Financial Officer’s review for further detai!

2 The Group's share in the prior year of a pension hability that crystalised in 2 entertain following the admunistration of Woolworths
Group plc (£7 5m charge 2008/09)

JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

Share of joint-venture sales decreased by 37 8% to £185 9m (£299 Om 2008/09), principally due to the
Group gaining control of 2 entertain in August 2009 (see below) However, joint ventures and associates
continue to form a significant part of the Group's operations with a £46 6m share of profit before specific
items (£65 2m 2008/09) Other than 2 entertain, the principal contributors to this perforrmance are the UKTV
Joint ventures with Virgin Media for the production, marketing and wholesale supply of subscription
channels In the UK, and with Discovery Communications Inc for the operatton of channels around the
world Both of these have continued to perform well despite the global advertising downturn

25




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010

Further Financial Information (continued)

ACQUISITIONS

On 6 August 2009 the Group gained control of 2 entertain and from this date consolidated its results and
financial position Prior to 6 August 2009 the Group equity accounted for 2 entertain in ne with its 60%
ownership and Joint control of the entity The assumption of control followed the Group's joint-venture
partner, Woolworths Group plc, entering admimistration and the Group exercising its call option over the
Joint-venture partner's shares The purchase was settled on 1 March 2010 when the Group acquired the
remaining 40% of 2 entertain shares for cash consideration of £17 Om

Two small equity stakes in independent production companies were also acquired In Argentina and
Germany for a total consideration of £0 7m to further broaden the Group’s portfolio of nghts

INVESTMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Total intangible assets, including goodwill, at 31 March 2010 were £254 3m (£216 5m 31 March 2009), of
which £106 2m (£87 9m 2008/09) related to programme nghts for distnbution £77 5m was invested In in-
house and independent programmes commissioned by the BBC {£84 2m 2008/09), while the remainder
was Invested in non-BBC commissioned programming The decrease in investment year on year reflects
varnations in programme production cycles

Programme amortisation charges for the year were £72 5m (£80 9m 2008/09) Programme rnights are
amortised over therr useful lives and therr carrying value 1s reviewed regularly to ensure that the
recoverable amount remains in excess of the assets’ balance sheet value Within intangibles, the net book
value of goodwill at 31 March 2010 was £102 8m (£87 Om 31 March 2009}, with the year-on-year increase
arising primanly from the acquisition of the remaining 40% of 2 entertain and foreign exchange, offset by
the impairment of Lonely Planet goodwill

Goodwill balances are not amortised under IFRS but are instead subject to annual reviews for impairment

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

fn the normal course of its activities, the Group I1s exposed to a vanety of financial nsks, including currency
nsk, interest rate risk, hquidity nsk and credit nsk BBC Worldwide takes a risk-averse approach to cash and
treasury management activittes and seeks to mimimise the Group's exposure to volatility in the financial
markets The Group uses dervative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures in accordance
with its hedging policy

The Group’s financial sk management operations are managed internally by BBC Worldwide Treasury,
with trade executron carried out by BBC Group Treasury All treasury activities are governed within
parameters defined formally in the policies agreed by the BBC Executive Board and BBC Worldwide Board
in addition, treasury activittes are routinely reported and are subject to review by management The Group's
financial instruments, other than those used for treasury nsk management purposes, principally comprise
cash and cash equivalents, a debt facility provided by its parent, external borrowings and various items
such as trade recewvables and payables that anse directly from its operations The Group finances its
operations from these financial nstruments The Group does not undertake speculative treasury
transactions

CURRENCY RISK

Over the past few years, BBC Worldwide has increasingly expanded internationally and as a result is
exposed to foreign exchange nsk ansing from vanous currency exposures, principally i relation to the US
dollar, the euro and the Australlan dollar The Group generates a surplus in most currencies 1in which it
operates Of its income, 60 5% excluding joint ventures (59 4% 2008/09), and 54 6% including joint
ventures (51 3% 2008/09), arose overseas

Foreign exchange nsk anses principally from recognised assets and liabilities and forecast future
commercial transactions that are denominated in a currency other than the transacting entity's functional
currency The Group has implemented a clear hedging policy to minmise volatiity in the financial results A
substantial proportion of foreign currency trading 1s hedged Forward currency contracts allow the Group to
settle transactions at known exchange rates, thereby eiminating much of this uncertainty

26




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010

Further Financial Information (continued)

Following the adoption of IFRS, this I1s the first year in which the Group has accounted for and presented
the farr values of its denvative financial instruments The significant volatiity in exchange rates during the
course of 2008/09 and 2009/10 resulted in corresponding fluctuations in the farr value of these financial
instruments At 31 March 2010, the Group's balance sheet included a net fair value lhability of £10 4m
(£31 2m 2008/08), resulting In a post taxation gain in the income statement of £13 8m (loss of £(22 5)m
2008/09)

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s main nsk exposure to interest rate fluctuations arises on external borrowings and loans from
its parent undertakings The Group enters into interest rate swaps, caps and collars to manage this
exposure based on projected borrowing requirements Fair value movements on the denvatives used to
manage Iinterest rate nsk are included within financing costs and iIncome with a £0 3m gain recognised in
2009/10 (£(4 8)m loss 2008/09)

LIQUIDITY RISK

BBC Worldwide manages its liquidity through a number of measures, including regular cash flow reporting,
forecasting, hedging against foreign exchange fluctuations and proactively managing working capital The
Group 1s active In monitoring its debt covenants which have been met at 31 March 2010

Debt structure and borrowings
As at 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009, BBC Worldwide had the following loan facilities

Total Drawn Total Drawn
Facility at 31 facility down facility down Expiry or review
March Interestrate 2010 2010 2009 2009 date
Unsecured loan Seweral, as indicated below £168 01 £84 1 £16801 £158 4 As indicated
facilites with BBC below
Commercial
Holdings Limited
{£m egquivalent)
comprising
- Au$ unsecured BBC Commercial Holdings' Au$1000 Au$1000 Au$1000 AuS1000 7 June 2012
loan (Au$m)? base costof funding (in Au$)
after interest rate swaps plus
amargin of 0 275%
- Sterling BBC Commercial Holdings' E107 6 £237 £1200 £1104 30 Apnl 2011
unsecured loan base costoffunding after {(Residual (Residual
(Em) interest rate caps plus a balance} balance)
margin of 0 275%/0 325%>
Loan with European Investment Bank's £500 £500 £500 £500 £200Dec2011
European own funding costplus a £30 0 May 2012
Investment Bank margmin of 0 09% on
{Em) unsecured loans
Secured loan with  ANZ's reference rate plus a - - Aug1gs Au$6 @ Facility cancelled
ANZ Bank (Au$m)* margin of 0 25% pa for at 31 March 2010

amounts up to facility imit

' Includes £50 Om (£50 Om 2008/09) borrowing facility available provided corresponding cash balance 1s maintaned

2 The sterling equivalent amount at 34 March 2010 for the facility, which was fully drawn down was £60 4m (fully drawn down facility
£48 Om 2008/0%)

Depending on the level of berrowings

The sterling equivalent amounts at 31 March 2009 were facilty of £8 9m of which drawn down was £3 3m

s W

Subsequent to year end, the sterling facility with BBC Commercial Holdings Limited expining 1n April 2011
has been renewed with an expiry date of 30 Apnl 2012 Further information regarding the new facility 1s
Included 1n note 27 of the financial statements In addition, the Group will consider whether there 1s a need
to refinance the EIB facility during the next financial year

The Group held £23 3m in cash or cash equivalents at 31 March 2010 (£55 9m 2008/09)
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Net debt
Net debt as at 31 March 2010 was £110 9m (£157 5m 31 March 2009) representing an inflow during the
year of £46 6m (£65 7m 2008/09)

Cashflow (Em) 2010 2009
Net debt at 1 Apnl {157.5) (91 8)
Cash generated from operations 207 9 145 1
Capital expenditure (12 2) (290 7)
Purchase of subsidiary (net of cash acquired} 200 {13 2)
Investment in joint ventures and associates 06 (16 1)
Investment in programmes (83 4) (94 0)
Dwidends received from jotnt ventures and associates 107 370
Dividends paid to shareholder (32 1) (68 8)
Dwvidends paid to minonty interest (0 8) (08}
Taxation & net interest paid (41 9) (330}
Exchange adjustment (non-cash) (14 1) 86
Cash held for sale (8 3) -
Other 02 08
Net debt at 31 March (110.9) {157 5)

Cash generated from operatens was up on the prior year reflecting the Group's strong coperating
performance and the acquistion of 2 entertain The Group’s net debt position has also benefitted frorm the
cash held by 2 entertain at the time of acquisiion which, net of the purchase consideration paid, provided
the Group with £20 Om of cash {£13 2m net ocutflow 2008/09) This 1s however offset by the lower dividends
receved from joint ventures and associates of £10 7m (£37 Om 2008/09), no dividends were received from
2 entertain while it was a joint venture 1n 2009/10 (£9 Om 2008/09)

The decrease in expenditure on capital assets to £12 2m (£29 7m 2008/09) and investment in joint
ventures and associates to an inflow of £0 6m (£16 1m outflow 2008/09) reflect the Group's move from
investment to consoldation phase, including the relocation to new premises and the terminaton of
Kangaroo In the prior year

Taxation increased due to the higher taxable profits of the Group, while a decrease in net interest charges
reflect lower market rates

Cash held for sale reflects balances held by the Group's Audiobooks business at 31 March 2010 This
follows the decision taken by management in September 2009 to dispose of the business

On the basis of its financial forecasts (including i respect of financial covenant complhance) and after
taking into account the Group’s available funding facilities, the Board has concluded that the going concern
basis of preparation of the financial statements continues to be appropnate

CREDIT RISK

The Group’s credit nsk management policy in relation to trade receivables involves regularly assessing the
financial reliabiity of customers, taking into account several factors such as therr financial position and
histoncal performance Despite the existence of some key customers in major geographies, there i1s no
concentration of credit nsk with respect to trade recewvables as the Group has a large number of customers,
geographically dispersed

Group treasury policies require that cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial instruments are held
primanly with banks of A+ rating or better
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TAXATION

The total tax charge for the year, including share of joint ventures and associates tax, 1s £41 5m (£23 9m
2008/09} This gives an effective rate of tax of 31 1% (51 5% 2008/08), higher than the statutory rate of
corporation tax in the UK of 28% due to the level of overseas profits in higher overseas tax rate jJunsdictions
and disallowable expenses, including impairment charges The release of tax provisions from prior years
has to a certain extent offset the impact of these tems The higher tax rate in the prior year reflects the high
level of disallowable expenses that were incurred, primarily impairments, and the higher levels of overseas
profits

The tax charge presented in the iIncome statement 1s £34 2m (£7 1m 2008/09), which 1s lower than the total
tax charge for the Group noted above as the Group’s share of joint venture and associates tax 1s presented
within its share of jaint venture and associates profit within operating profit

The future tax charge will continue to be affected by the mix of profits generated from the different tax
Junsdictions in which the Group operates (pnincipally the UK, US and Australia) and the statutory
corporation tax rates applicable in these terntories The future tax charge may also differ from the UK
statutory rate of corporation tax as a result of expenses disallowable for corporation tax deduction
(including Group and joint-venture goodwill amortisation and impairment) and as a result of income which 1s
not taxable (Including dividend receipts) Deferred taxation is provided for at the rates expected to prevail in
the penied 1n which the liability 1s settled or the asset realised Deferred tax assets are reviewed regularly for
recoverability

DIVIDENDS A

The dividend policy of the Group 13 set to achieve the optimum balance between annual cash returns to the
BBC, which are an essential part of the BBC's funding stream, and investing for growth to build value over
the long term Dividends of £32 1m were paid in the year (£68 8m 2008/09) Dividends of £41 5m were
declared on 16 June 2010 n respect of 2009/10 performance
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their report and the audited consohdated financial statements of BBC Worldwide
Limited {the *“Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings (together the “Group”) and the Group's interest in
associated undertakings and jomt ventures for the year ended 31 March 2010

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP

The trading activities of the Group focus on the acquisition, development, exploitation, licensing and sale of
intellectual property Rights are acquired from the BBC and from independent owners of intellectual
property and are exploited through a number of businesses, both wholly-cwned and partly-owned through
Joint ventures, across multiple formats These businesses are Channels, Content & Production, Digital
Media, Global Brands, Sales & Distnibution, Home Entertainment, and Magazines

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of business performance, including likely future developments, 1s given on pages 7 to 21 Further
information which fulfils the Business Review requirements by reference 1s set out in the Governance
Report on pages 32 to 41

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The management of the business and the execution of the Group's strategy are subject to a number of
nsks The key business nsks and uncertainties affecting the Group are discussed in the Governance Report
on pages 37 to 38

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The consolidated profit after taxatton and minonity interests for the year was £87 9 millon (2009 £216
million)

Dividends of £32 1 millon (2009 £68 8 million) were paid during the year 2009 dividends included £0 4
muilion which was declared during the financial year ended 31 March 2008 In addition, the directors have
declared a final dividend of £41 5 million (2002 £nil), resulting in a total dividend of £73 6 million (2009
£68 4 milhon) relating to the financral year The dividend proposed will be paid and deducted from equity in
the year ending 31 March 2011

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Dunng the financial year the Group purchased the remainder of the shares in 2|entertain Limited, and made
acquisitions of Tower Productions GmbH and GP Media S A Full details of the Group's acquisitions and
disposals are included in the Chief Financral Officer's Review and in note 18 to the financial statements

DIRECTORS
The Directors who served dunng the year are set out In the Governance Report on pages 32 to 41

PAYMENT TO CREDITORS

Operating companies are responsible for agreeing the terms and conditions under which business
transactions with their supphers are conducted It 1s Group policy that payments to suppliers are made In
accordance with these terms, provided that the supplier 1s also complying with all relevant terms and
condittons Based on the consolidated financial statements creditor days outstanding were 29 days (2009
25 days) at 31 March 2010 Rights creditors have been excluded for the purposes of this calculation, as
they relate to payments to artists and contributors rather than trade creditors

DONATIONS
The Group does not make political donations Duning the year the Group made a donation of £6,843 to
various chanties (2009 £1,382 to vanous charities)

EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION
All staff are invited to meetings which communicate the Group's performance and activities, these events
are called "The Bigger Picture"

The Group also operates an employee bonus scheme that enables eligible staff to share in the financial
performance of the Group

Management holds regular meetings with the recogrised trade unions, the Broadcasting Entertainment
Cinematography and Theatre Trade Union {BECTU) and the Natronal Union of Journalists (NUJ)
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DIVERSITY
The Group 15 committed to developing a diverse workforce with opporturuties for all, irrespective of race,
colour, creed, ethnic or national ongin, gender, marital status, sexualty, disability or age

Ethnic and gender targets have been set with the aim of ensunng that the Group workforce reflects the
UK's population Currently the Group employs 16 8% (2009 13 0%) of staff from rminonty ethnic groups and
56 6% (2009 43 0%) of the Group’s managers are female

DISABLED PEOPLE

People with disabilities are fully and farly considered for vacancies ansing within the Group and are given
equal opportunities In relation to training, career development and promotion |f an employee becomes
disabled while in the employment of the Group and as a result 1s unable to perform hisfher existing job,
every effort 1Is made to offer suitable alternative employment and re-training

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Staff in all areas have opportunities to develop their skills The Group crganises comprehensive In-house
and external training programmes covering job-specific skill enhancement, IT software tuiton and
management development courses

GOING CONCERN

After making enquines, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the business has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, and accordingly the going concern
basis continues to be adopted in the preparation of the accounts

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND INDEMNITIES

No Director had any interest in the share capital of the Group at 1 April 2009 or 31 March 2010 No nghts
to subscribe for shares in or debentures of the Company or any other Group company were granted to any
of the Directors or their immediate families, or exercised by them, during the financial year

Directors’ and Officers' insurance cover was in place throughout the financial year as appropnate
Additionally, an indemnity 15 in place for the Group's nominated Directors on the board of Australan
entites The nominated Directors are held harmiless in relation to legal claims against them in their capacity
as Directors and Officers, except in the event of fraud, dishonesty or wilful default The indemnity covers all
hiabity incurred by nominated Directors and Officers to the fullest extent permitted by Australian law and 1s
intended to offer protection to the nominated Directors and Officers in addition to the cover under the
Group's Directors’ & Officers’ insurance policy

STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are
each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group's audiors are unaware and each
Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Direclor to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's auditors are aware of that information

AUDITORS
In accordance with Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditors will be deemed to be reappointed
and KPMG LLP will therefore continue in office

By order tyhe Board,

Jane Ear

Company Secretary aegc;flst%'ed office
edia Centre

201 Wood Lane

London W12 7TQ

~

l ‘J June 2010
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Corporate Governance within BBC Worldwide 1s driven by our desire to promote and protect the values at
the heart of the BBC brand — both in the UK and internationally and details of our values are set out in the
How We Do Business section on page 7 Together with the fact that we are a company wholly owned by a
public body, this means that we have a unique and wide-ranging governance structure

In September 2009, the BBC Trust published the resuits of the Commercial Review of BBC Worldwide’s
activittes (www hbc co uk/bbetrust) Among the conclusions was a requirement that BBC Worldwide's
governance framework should be revised to provide greater transparency and compliance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code

In addition, we are also governed by the principles contained within the Royal Charter of July 2008, which is
the constitutional basis for the BBC

This section locks at both our corporate and commercial governance structures and implementation
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

How the BBC Worldwide Board Operates

The Chairman leads the Board, setting its agenda and ensuring that each Director 1s able to contribute
effectively to decision-making The Chairman has no involvement in the day-to-day business of the BBC
Worldwide Group of companies {the ‘Group’} The Chief Executive holds day-to-day management
responsibility for the Group's businesses, devising and implementing Group strategy, as agreed by the
Board

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executive has been set out in writing and
agreed by the Board

The Non-executive Directors play a key role in providing independent advice and supervising governance
Issues In addition, the Non-executive Directors have the opportunity to meet in the absence of the
Executive Directors, which they did on one occasion during the financial year The Board 1s satisfied that
each Non-executive Director s able to give sufficient tme commitment to BBC Worldwide

The Company Secretary comprehensively bnefs Directors on therr respeonsibilities on appointment to the
Board All Directors are equally accountable for the proper stewardship of BBC Worldwide's affairs The
Executive Directors are also appointed to the Boards of vanous joint venture and associated undertakings
as appropriate and parlicipate in the overview and management of those ventures, for which they do not
receive any fees or additional compensation

John Smith and Nell Chugani are Directors of UKTV, and a small number of its related comparies, in
respect of the joint venture between BBC Worldwide and Virgin Media Additionally, John Smith holds
Directorships within the Lonely Planet group of companies in which BBC Worldwide holds a 75% stake
During the year, Nell Chugan was a Director of 2 entertain Ltd prior to its acquisition by BBC Worldwide on
8 March 2010

The Board has delegated certain of its responsibilities to

« the Worldwide Executive Committee (which has further delegated specific investment responsibilities
to the Content Investment Committee and the Investment Review Group as set cut below)

*  the Audit Committee

« the Remuneration Committee

+  the Nominations Committee

Full terms of reference for each of these committees can be found on the BBC Worldwide website at
www bbcwerldwide com

Further information on the BBC's Executive Board and the BBC Trust 1s avallable in the BBC Annual Report
and Accounts which can be found on the BBC's website
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BBC Worldwide Board Composition

Members |
Robert Webb QC, Chairman, John Smith, Chief Executive Officer, Neit Chugani, Chief Financial Officer,
Sharon Baylay, Non-executive Director (BBC-nominated Director), Simen Clift, Independent Non-executive
Director, Nicholas Eldred, Non-executive Director (BBC-nominated Director), Thomas Geitner, Independent
Non-executive Director, Zann Patel, Non-executive Director (BBC-nominated Director), Tim Weller,
Independent Non-executive Director (appointed 26 Apnl 2010)

Responsibilities
The responsibiities of the Board are set out in the Matters Reserved for the Board and briefly comprise

setting the strategic direction of the business growth plan

devising the annual business plan

overseeing commercial performance and business activity

measunng performance through a range of financial tocls the annual budget, monthly management
accounts, quarterly re-forecasts and the growth plan

addressing under-performance

proposing the distribution pelicy to the shareholder

maintaining a sound system of internal controls and risk-management processes

ensuring compliance with the law and regulations

developing and maintaining a co-operative relationship with the shareholder

s s ® & 8

BBC Worldwide Board Effectiveness

Robert Webb QC was appointed as Chairman on 1 October 2009, following the resignation of Etienne de
Villers (Ncn-executive Chairman) on 30 September 2009 Robert Webb QC 15 also a Non-executive
Director of the BBC Executive Board

The independent Non-executive Directors who served during the year were Simon Clift and Thomas
Geitner Tim Weller was appointed as an independent Non-executive Director effective 26 Apnl 2010 and
will also be a member of the Audit Committee None of the independent Non-executive Directors has any
relationship with BBC Worldwide or its shareholder which would impede their Independence

The BBC-nominated Non-executive Directors who served during the year were Nicholas Eldred (BBC
Group General Counsel) and Zann Patel (BBC Chief Financial Officer) Sharon Baylay (Director of BBC
Marketing, Communications & Audiences) was appomted as a Non-executive Director on 1 February 2010
Jana Bennett (Director of BBC Vision) resigned on 30 September 2008

The Executive Directors who served during the year and who remained in office at 31 March 2010 were
Jahn Smith {Chief Executive Officer) and Nell Chugani (Chief Financial Officer)

In order to balance the composition of the Board in accordance with the pninciples of the Combined Code
(now renamed the UK Corperate Governance Code), the following Executives who had been in office at 1
April 2009 stood down as Directors of the Board on 31 Qctober 2009 Marcus Arthur, Darren Childs, Sarah
Cooper, Paul Dempsey, Wayne Garvie, Steve Macallister, David Moody and Peter Phippen
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The table below shows the number of scheduled Board and Committee meetings attended by each
Director, out of the number held dunng the trime hefshe served on the Board or Cornmittee during the year

Director Board Remuneration Nominations Audit
Committee Committee Committee

Sharon Baylay' 1(1) - - -

Neil Chugant 8 (8) - - -

Simon Clift 7(8) - - -

Nicholas Eldred 8(8) - 1(1) 4(4)
Thomas Geither 5(8) - - -

Zann Patel 7(8) 1) - 4{4)

John Smith 8{8) - 1(1) -

Robert Webb QC? 4{4) 1(1) 1(1) -

! Appointed to the Board on 1 February 2010
2Appomted to the Board on 1 October 2009

Attendance of former Directors who served during the year at Board meetings was as follows {none was a
member of a Committee),

Director Board
Marcus Arthur’ 4(4)
Jana Bennett? 2(4)
Darren Childs' 4(4)
Sarah Cooper’ 4(4)
Etienne de Villiers? 3 (4)
Paul Dempsey’ 4(4)
Wayne Garvie' 3(4)
Steve Macallister’ 4 (4)
David Moody' 4 (4)
Peter Phippen’ 4 (4)

' Resigned from the Board on 31 October 2009
2Resigned from the Board on 30 September 2009

Remuneration Committee

Members
Robert Webb QC (Chairman)
Zann Patel

Responsibilities
The responsibilities of the Remuneration Commuttee are set out in its terms of reference and include

Setting the remuneration package for the Executives

Overseeing the remuneration policy for the BBC Worldwide Group

Designing and approving incentive compensation arrangements

Agreeing variable pay targets

Reviewing performance against vanable pay targets set for the previous period

For further details please see the Directors' Remuneration Report on 42
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Nominations Committee

Members

Raobert Webb QC (Chairman)
Nicholas Eldred

John Smith

Responsibiities
The responsibilities of the Nominations Committee are set out in its terms of reference and include

»  Regularly reviewing the structure, size and compostion required of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on any appropriate changes

+  Planning the succession of Directors and other senior executives

+ Identifying and nominating, for the Board's approval, candidates to fill board vacancies, save that the
appointment of Chairman and CEO 15 conditional upon the specific approval of the Director General of
the BBC, and Non-executive appointments are subject to the approval of the BBC Executive
Nominations Committee

+  Making recommendations to the Board on membership of the Audit and Remuneration Committees

The Nominations Commitiee was established in January 2010 and met once in the financial year
Attendance 1s shown in the table of attendances on page 34

Duning the year, the Committee retained the services of The Zygos Partnership to tdentify new potental
Non-executive Directors, which resulted in the appointment of Tim Weller

Audit Committee

Members

Zann Patel (Chairman)

Nicholas Eldred

Tim Weller (appointed 26 April 2010)

Responsibilities
The responsibilities of the Audit Commuttee are set out in its terms of reference and include

= Monitoring the integrity of the financial statements including cntical accounting policies and practices

+  Reviewing the effectiveness of systems in place for identifying and mitigattng emerging risks facing the
business

+  Assessing the effectiveness of systems for internal control and reporting

. Reviewing procedures for detecting fraud and ensunng that adequate arrangements are in place by
which staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial
reporting, financial control or otherwise

= Monitoning the effectiveness of the internal audit function and BBC Worldwide's responsiveness to
BBC Business Assurance's findings and recommendations

. Reviewing the effectiveness and independence of the external auditors

The Board 1s satisfied that the Audit Committee has an appropnate range of financial expernence

We have implemented a policy to ensure that other services provided by the external auditors do not imparr
the auditors’ objectivity and the Committee monitors this on a regular basis The policy sets pre-approval
requirements for non-audit services and outlines the types of service for which the external auditors would
not be appropriate The policy 15 reviewed annually The external auditors are also appointed as auditors of
subsidiary, joint-venture and asscciated undertakings wherever possible
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The Audit Commuttee met four tmes duning the year, with both members attending each meeting The Chef
Executive, Chief Financial Officer, BBC Director of Risk and Assurance, the Chawrman, external auditors,
the Risk Advisory team and the Managing Directors of the operating businesses attend by invitation as
appropriate Both the BBC Director of Risk and Assurance and the external auditors have the opportunity to
meet with the Audit Commuttee n the absence of executive management at least once a year and may do
so at any other time they consider necessary The BBC Worldwide Audit Committee submits quarterly
reports to the BBC Executive Audit Committee The Commiftee 15 responsible for monitoring nsk
management Further details of our nsk management processes are set out on page 37

Worldwide Executive Committee (WEX)

Members

John Smith, Chief Executive Officer (Chairman), Neit Chugani, Chief Financial Officer, Marcus Arthur,
Managing Director, Global Brands, Darren Childs, Managing Director, Channels, Sarah Cooper, Chief
Operating Officer, Paul Dempsey, Managing Director, Home Entertainment, Jane Earl, Company Secretary,
Charlotte Elsten, Director of Communications, Michelle Emmerson, HR Director, Wayne Garvie, Managing
Director, Content & Production, Helen Kellie, Director of Marketing, Steve Macallister, Managing Director,
Sales & Distnbution, David Moody, Director of Strategy, Peter Phippen, Managing Director, Magazines,
Herb Scannell, President, BBC Worldwide Amenca (appointed 2 June 2010)

Responsibilities
The responsibilities of the Worldwide Executive Committee are set out in its terms of reference and include

+  Managing operational matters delegated to 1t by the Board, within clearly defined approval limits
*  Managing the operations of the company

+  Dewvising and implementing strategy agreed by the Board

- Identification and management of nsk, and providing assurance to the Board

WEX 1s supported by the Content Investment Committee (CIC}, whose responsibilities include the approval
of programme and product investments of between £0 5m and £2 Om, and the Investment Review Group
(IRG) which approves all routne and operational investments between £0 5m and £2 Om and all new
business venture proposals Both Committees are chared by Nell Chugani, Chief Financial Officer In
addition, each business has its own Board which 1s charred by the Managing Director of the relevant
business area Each Business Board has authornty for routine and operational expenditure of up to £0 5m

ACCOUNTABILITY AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The BBC Worldwide Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness Such a system Is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the nsk of
failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
matenal misstatement or loss

The Board of Directors considers that there 1s an appropnate ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing significant nsks faced by BBC Worldwide The Board exercises control through an
organisational structure with clearly defined levels of responsibility, authonty and reporting procedures
Documented policies and procedures exist to define clearly the level of delegated authonty for operationai
decision-making and to provide structured processes for identifying and managing nsk These policies are
applicable across the Group and ensure consistency worldwide

Key policies include Ethics, Standards and Conflicts of Interest, BBC Worldwide Group Accounting Policies,
Anti-fraud & Corruption Code of Conduct, Investment & Expenditure Approval Guidelines and the Protected
Disclosure Policy A comphlance programme 1s currently being rolled out to ensure that all trading
businesses comply with local laws and regulations

36




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010

Governance {continued)

Risk management

The Board has responsibility for the identification and management of nsks facing the business An
assessment of the exposure to nsk, and the extent to which these nisks are controlled, ncluding
implementation of actions to mitigate nsk, 1s updated and presented to the Audit Committee every three
months Each operating unit and major region monitors rnisks on an ongoing basis, providing therr
assessments to the Risk Management and Internal Control Committee (RMIC) quarterly In addition to the
members of the RMIC {the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Operating Officer and the HR Director), Risk
Adwvisory, the Company Secretary and the Drmrector of Business and Legal Affairs attend all meetings, and
the Managing Directors of the operating businesses are invited to attend on a rotating basis WEX reviews
the RMIC's report prior to it going to the Audit Committee Management assessments are reviewed by the
BBC’'s Business Assurance function, which reports on these matters to the BBC Executive Board and the
BBC Executive Audit Committee This Committee considers nsk management across the BBC Group as a
whole Within BBC Worldwide, the Risk Advisory team monitors nsks facing the business and provides
advice on developing the internal control enviranment

Risks and uncertainties Potential impacts Mitigation

EXTERNAL AND MARKET

Economic - conditions could Reduced trade and consumer demand for products Diersification of geographc markets and
detenorate further in some or alf of  and seruces including broadcast and format nghts,  revenue streams

our markets adwertising and consumer products

Tight control of costs and constant
monitonng of performance through financial
reporting

Flexible business planming including the
identificatien of possible contingency
measures to help manage impact of any
downturn in trading

Competmve we operate in a highly Reduction in access to high quality content, affecting Active programme of investment, mcludmg

competitive market and must sales catalegue and wider intellectual property product and seruce development in digital
continue to imest and adapt explotation opportunities, greater downward pressure technologies across a vanety of dewces
on pneing

Programme in place to strengthen supplier
Increased importance of digital nghts and ability to relationships
exploit inteltectual property Iin a vanety of formats
Building own production capability, both
wholly-owned and through partnerships with
selected independent production

companies
Technology - changing technologies Radical shift in consumption habits or disruptive Strategic focus on digiial serwces -
or means of content consumption technology making bustness models out-of-date integration of digital teams intc core
may replace core hinear TV busiess divsions
businesses
Partnenng with technology innovators
Targeted investment in new areas
Recruitment of a Chief Technology Officer
“Regulatory environment - changes Uncentainty for the Group adwersely afiecting our | Members of the BEC Executive Committee
in the regulatory framework and ability to operate or compete and the General Counsel of the BBC sitting
interpretation of regulations, or faillure on the BBC Worldwide Board
to obtain required approvals Becoming subject to future enquines or proceedings

from regulatory authonties Patential impact of regulatory constraints on
our activties kept under revew by Board

Exchange rates - wlatility may gne  Adverse impact on reperted financial results, hquidity  Risk-averse approach to management of

nse to financial exposure to and asset valuations foreign currency trading
fluctuatrons 1n major currencies and
interest rates Clear hedging policy implemented, ncluding

both financial instruments and naturat
hedges, to minimise votatiity in the financial
results

Substantial proportion of foreign cumrency
trading hedged
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Risks and uncertainties Potantial impacts Mtigation
PEOPLE

Economic, regulatory and political Reduction 1n owerall competitiveness including loss of Increased focus on management
constraints may affect our ability to  key skills, relationships and knowledge, and business dewelopment and training, with new
recruit, retain and motnate personnel  disruption programmes and appraisal system in place

Alignment of iIncentives to reward supenor

performance
REPUTATION
Rogue actities (including those of  Adwerse publicity or damage to our reputation, brands Comphance with the Four Commercial
supphers and serce prowders) that - or reputation and brands of the BBC Cntena (4CC). revewed annually by the
are not consistent wath the BBC's BBC, and with the BBC's editona!l policies,
values in respect of ethucal and prowding traiming to all relevant staff
standards, may jeopardise the value
of the brand Commen values with the BBC, which are
central to how we conduct our ethical
sourcing programme, requinng all icensees
and vendors to operate to a high ethical
standard
Active monitonng of supphers and vendors
by our management, including site usits
COMPLIANCE
Reguirement to comply with statutory Failure to comply with tax and statutory accounting  Responsibilty for tax compliance, including
obligations and regulatory requirements could affect the ability to continue to do  transfer pncing negotiations, taken by BBC
requirements 1n all countnes in which business within a junsdiction
we do business Tax and accounting compliance owerseen by
Non-compliance, resulting in fines, litigation or BBC Worldwde Audit Committee
prosecution
Comphance and other business nsks
rewewed by Risk Management and Internal
Controls Commuittee
STRATEGIC EXECUTION
Execution on business prnonties may Financial performance below anticipated lewels or not  Ownership of strategic nsk held by CEO,
not meet stated targets delnenng adequate returns on inwestment progress on strategic delvery regularly

revewed by executive management
Future expansion cutside core areas may increase  comrmittee and the Board |
company nsk profite |
Regular revew of strategy in the context of |
the market and prompt rewsion of plans to
reflect changing circumstances [

Dinersified business portfolio, with a number
of partnership agreements in place, imiting ‘
owerall nsk exposure

Controls monitoring

The BBC's Business Assurance department provides an internal audit functton in respect of BBC
Worldwide on behalf of the BBC The audit plan 1s based on a continuing assessment of key risks and
monitoning comphance of key systems and processes and i1s approved by the Audit Committee The results
of testing are reported at each meeting of the Audit Committee, which scrutinises the cperation of controls
throughout the year BBC Business Assurance’s authonty and independence are ensured by its joint
independent reporting relationship to the BBC's Executive Audit Committee and to the BBC's Director-
General The scope of BBC Bustness Assurance includes the examination and evaluation of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the systems of internal control and the quality of performance 1n carrying out assigned
responsibihities BBC Worldwide also calls on BBC Business Assurance and external accounting firms for
advice on internal controls and programme governance as needed
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Operating units

Key controls over business rnisks include performance review and exception reporting As referred to above,
the Content Investment Committee approves all programme and product investment while the Investment
Review Group approves all routine/operational investments

Treasury activities

The Treasury team manages the Group’s financial nsk management operations, with trade execution
carned out by BBC Group Treasury Additional details on Treasury actvities can be found in the Further
Financial Information section on page 26

Financial reporting

BBC Worldwide has a comprehensive budgeting system, with an annual budget and quarterly forecasts
prepared by management and approved by the Board Monthly financial information, including balance
sheets, cash flow statements, trading results and indebtedness, are reported to Directors, allowing them to
take action as appropnate

Futureworks

Futureworks 1s a two-year mnitiative focusing on how BBC Worldwide can simplify and improve its business
processes, systems and data to empower the company to achieve better results and greater profitability
The Futureworks programme has five work streams, each of which plays a pivotal role in achieving overall
objectives

+  Rights & Deal Management Having systems and data that support the company 1n managing rnights
data and helping it construct and execute profitable deals is wvital to its continued success and growth

+  Asset Management & Fulfilment The past few years have seen significant change in the way BBC
Worldwide manages and distnbutes its content Whilst video tapes/DVDs still play a significant role,
the need to be able to receive, store, adapt and distnbute digital, file-based content increases almost
daly The nsing prominence of brand-centric deals also requires 1t to be better at sharing content
assets across divisions and geographies

*  Royalty Cost & Data Management The money paid to the talent who feature in products I1s one of the
largest costs to the business Accurate and timely processing of these costs 1s vital both in terms of its
relationship with talent and in bullding an accurate picture of brand and preduct profitability

«  Fmance & Reporting BBC Worldwide 18 ernbarking on a fundamental transformation of its Finance
function This workstream 1s looking at opportumities to improve its finance processes, make It easier to
meet the company’s future business needs and to ensure that Finance 1s a proactive partner, not only
supporting :ts growth but also shaping its future

« information Hub This workstream will oversee the transformation of BBC Worldwide content and
product data to a common catalogue accessible by people and business systems

Fraud awareness

Although incidents of reported fraud are rare, BBC Worldwide takes its responsibilities to minimise the nisk
of fraud very senously BBC Worldwide operates an Anti-fraud & Corruption Code of Conduct and a Fraud
Control Policy which set out consistent standards across the Group, and responsibiities for ensuring
adequate controls are in place In additton, the Risk Advisory team corganises training for key areas in order
to embed measures to minimise fraud risk, particularly for those operating in high-risk-fraud terntories

BBC Worldwide has an ongoing process to review its anti-fraud management practices to ensure that they
remain appropnate to the scale and complexity of the business and the international legal and regulatory
environment BBC Worldwide 1s responsible for reporting any suspicions of fraudulent activity to the BBC's
Investigations Unit

Whistle-blowing

BBC Worldwide has a protected disclosure policy to help ensure that any suspicions of cniminal activity or
malpractice are fully reported Employees who wish to remain anonymous can report concerns directly to
the BBC Business Assurance team or vta a service that 1s administered by an independent external firm
The BBC Business Assurance team s notified of reports of fraud and malpractice and ensures that every
incident 1s investigated and action taken as appropnate Investigations and recommended remedial actions
are reported to the BBC Worldwide Audit Committee
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COMMERCIAL GOVERNANCE

4CC and Fair Trading
BBC Worldwide must demonstrate compliance with the BBC's Four Commercial Criteria (4CC}) All
commercial activities must

*  be commercially efficient

« fit and be consistent with the BBC's Public Purposes

+  not jeopardise the good reputation of the BBC or the value of the BBC brand
»  comply with BBC Farr Trading Policy & Guidelines and not distort the market

A range of approval processes and reporting procedures ensure that BBC Worldwide can demonstrate to
the BBC Trust that throughout 2009/10, its commercial activites have continued to comply with the 4CC
The BBC's far trading obligations are outhned in the BBC Trust's Statement of Policy on Far Trading
{(www bbc co uk/bbctrust/framewocrk/fair_trading html) and the BBC's Far Trading Guidelnes
(www bbc co uk/info/policies/commercial_gwdes) As part of BBC Worldwide's commitment to a
programme of continuous appraisal and improvement, BBC Worldwide has adopted a range of initiatives to
ensure ongoing compliance, Including a controls framewocrk and an extensive programme of 4CC training
and internal reporting New proposals continue to be measured agamnst the 4CC, both in their development
and implementation

Fair Trading Guidelines

During the year, compliance with the Farr Trading Guidelines was scrutinised by formal sub-committees of
the BBC Trust and Executive Board The management of the BBC’s far trading arrangements has been
accredited with the 1ISO 9001 2008 quality standard The most recent assessment by the Bntish Standards
Institute, conducted in December 2009, confirmed that the procedures are continuing to operate effectively

The BBC Trust commussions independent auditors, currently Deloitte, to undertake an annual Fair Trading
Audit Deloitte has confirmed that the BBC (including BBC Worldwmide) had established and applied a
system of internal controls that provided reasonable assurance that it had complied with the requirements
of Fair Trading rules for the year ended 31 March 2008 Further details of the audit and opinion can be
found in the BBC Annual Report and Accounts for 2009/10 (www bbc co uk/annualreport/trust)

Brand Protection

BBC Worldwide's brand-protection team continues to work with local investigators and enforcement
authonties, including customs, trading standards and police, around the world to investigate infrngements
and undertake seizures and prosecutions in order to help control the market for pirate audiovisual products,
counterfeit goods and other infrngements of the Group and its partners’ intellectual property rights, and
with an increasing emphasis on online infringements, particularly on auction and content-shanng sites BBC
Worldwide 15 a member of various industry and enforcement bodies, including the Ant-counterfeiting
Group, Television Against Piracy and Internet Enforcement Group 1n the UK, ABAC-BAAN in Belgum, and
SNB-REACT in the Netherlands The team alsc manages trade-mark protection of key BBC Worldwide
brands, including the registration of marks and conducting oppositions to conflicting marks worldwide

Data Protection

BBC Worldwide strnives to respect the privacy of its customers, audiences, employees and contributors As
part of the BBC's data-protection compliance framework, BBC Worldwide 1s committed to holding personal
data in accordance with the provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998 Where BBC Worldwide operates in
junsdictions outside the UK, it may alse be subject to the addibonal requirements of local laws Compliance
with data-protection legislation 1s treated with utmost importance and 1s an essential part of protecting the
BBC brand

BBC Worldwide has established controls and procedures over the secunty of data held on computer

systems Arrangements are in place for computer processing o continue, and data to be retained, in case
BBC Werldwide's own data-processing facility fails
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Relationship with Suppliers, Rights Holders and Producers

The BBC Worldwide Procurement team ensures that goods and services are obtained in a far and
transparent way with a clear emphasis on nsk management, quality, service, cost and innovation In
addition we partner with cntical and strategic suppliers to drive a continuous improvement agenda that
ensures security of supply whilst maintaining ‘TCOA’ (Total Cost of Ownership Approach} In sourcing
decisions BBC Worldwide 1s committed to dealing with all suppliers with clarty to ensure we deliver on our
agreed payment terms whilst ensuring that the supplier delivers therr performance commitment and qualty
parameters are met

BBC Worldwide's increasing success not only gives a global platform to the best of British talent, but also
delivers substantial financial returns to nghts holders and producers BBC Worldwide 15 committed to
accounting accurately and on time to rights holders and continues to invest time and money In iImproving
systems and processes, to enable it not only to meet the increase in volumes that success has produced,
but also to provide a high level of customer service The Talent Accounting Department at BBC Worldwide
Is responsible for accruing and paying royalties to contributers, independent producers and third-party profit
participants

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Environmental management

We reduce carbon emissions through our travel policy, which bans all domestic and near-European flights,
and restricts long-haul fights This has decreased business fiight mileage by around 10% in the past year
In addition, a rainwater harvesting system at head office has saved almost 4m litres of water, we sent zero
waste directly to landfill from the UK head office, and staff received traimning in environmental best practice

To supplement efforts in tackling carbon emissions, we are offsetting the remaining carbon footprints for our
premises and travel in 2009/10 by investing in Gold Standard carbon offset projects with The
CarbonNeutral Company In the past year our magazines, including Radio Times and Top Gear, plus 75%
of Lonely Planet guidebooks, have been printed on FSC-certified (Forest Stewardship Council) paper

We were delighted to be included in the Sunday Times Green List for the first time and were in the top five
for the ‘Bigger companies with low environmental impact’ category

Dwversity
We have developed recruitment practices that ensure we attract a more diverse pool of candidates There
has been a high focus on creating new programmes to support staff development in the last year
Launched near year-end these include Aspire, which will help identfy future business leaders, and a range
of new performance management tools and training Our induction pregramme has been completely
refreshed

Community projects

We provide opportunities for our employees to get involved in community projects and charitable activities
Cur volunteer scheme at the Jack Tizard School for pupils with severe and profound learning difficulties, 1s
now In its second year Staff have participated in team challenges and we regularly run internal fundraising
dnives for BBC charites such as Children in Need and Sport Relief Staff can also contribute to personal
chanties by donating via our payroll giving scheme We have also developed a business-focused Enterprise
Day with the London Borcugh of Hammersmith and Fulham for local secondary school and college
students
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This report sets out the BBC Worldwide remuneration policy and details the remuneration recewvable by the
members of the current Board of Directors in respect of 2009/10 BBC Worldwide has no statutory
requirement to prepare a Directors’ Remuneratton Report  Nevertheless, on a voluntary basis, the
requirements of the UK Companies Act and Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 have been taken tnto account in preparing this report
The BBC Worldwide Remuneration Committee also used as a benchmark the requirements of the Listing
Rules

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

BBC Worldwide 1s a commercial organisation that 1s owned by a public broadcaster The reward strategy
for BBC Worldwide needs to operate within these parameters

The remit of BBC Worldwide 1s to deliver a strong return to the BBC to supplement the licence fee for the
benefit of the BBC's UK audience In so doing, BBC Worldwide must maintain the brand values of the
BBC BBC Worldwide s also mandated to suppoert the BBC in fulfiling its public purpose of bringing the UK
to the world

BBC Worldwide's financial and operating performance has been strong in recent years, with the year just
ended no exception This has resulted in financial benefit to the BBC and its licence fee payers

The BBC Worldwide Remuneration Committee considers it 1s 1in the best interests of both the Company and
its shareholder to secure future financial success, in part, through a remuneration framework that
appropnately rewards and retains key executives

In designing this framework, the Committee takes account of a number of factors These include

= BBC Worldwide's status as a commercial entity, with no access to public or guaranteed funding of any
description,

¢ The requirement for BBC Worldwide to grow its profitability in order to deliver substantial cash returns
to its owner, which help supplement the icence fee,

« The fact that BBC Worldwide operates in a talent-based industry where competition 1s both global and
fierce This is particularly so in markets such as the US, where BBC Worldwide currently derives over
half its non-UK revenue,

+ The ability of BBC Worldwide's commercial competitors to offer employee rewards and incentives not
available to BBC Worldwide, including equity based compensation

In this context, remuneration policy for BBC Worldwide must strike a balance between offering some
market competitiveness, while recognising that it 1s neither approprate nor desirable for a subsidiary of the
BBC to lead the market on executive pay

This report sets out our policy and how this 1s apphed in practice | hope that you find this to be a helpfu!
summary of our approach

Robert Webb QC
Remuneration Committee Chairman
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The BBC Worldwide Remuneration Committee was established on 21 January 2010 to determine the
remuneration policy for BBC Worldwide following a review of the Group's corporate governance structure
It compnises Robert Webb (Chairman) and Zarin Patel, both of whom are Non-Executive Directors During
the year under review, Committee members had no personal financial interest in matters to be decided, no
potential conflicts of interest ansing from their respective roles within or outside the BBC, and no day-to-day
involvement in running the business

The BBC Executive Remuneration Committee has responsibility for setting the remuneration package of
BBC Worldwide's Chief Executive Officer, including the review and agreement of base pay, bonus awards,
and benefits (including pension arrangements) This arrangement continues although John Smith stepped
down from the BBC Executive Board on 30 September 2008 His remuneration as CEO of BBC Worldwide
Is disclosed in the BBC Annual Report and Accounts 2009/10 up to 30 September 2009 The report herein
includes his remuneration as CEO of BBC Woerldwide for the full financial year

For the purposes of this report, the term "Committee” refers to the body responsible for determining the
remuneration policy for BBC Worldwide Summary terms of reference can be found in the Governance
section on page 34

Advisers

No Executive Director determines his own remuneration The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer, the Director of Human Resources, the Company Secretary and the BBC's Director of People and
Director of Reward provided assistance to the Committee dunng the financial year and attended by
invitation  In addition, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and Deloitte LLP provided independent advice in
respect of remuneration strategy and market benchmarking

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The BBC Worldwide Board was restructured during the year to align it more closely with the 2008
Combined Code, further details of these changes are set out in the Governance Report

Remuneration policy

The Company's policy 1s to provide remuneration and other benefits to attract, retain and motivate
Executive Directors of the expenence and calibre required, having regard to commercial organtsations with
which BBC Worldwide competes for talent on a global level, whilst maintaining cost effectiveness VWhile
BBC Worldwide must be competitive it accepts that it should not lead the market on executive pay in the
media sector

High performance 1s increasingly incentivised through a mix of short and long term vanable awards,
designed to reward stretch performance, maximise value to the BBC and retain key staff The design of
these incentive schemes seek to balance the public purposes of the BBC with a high performance culture,
by incentivising individuals to optimise profits In the course of 2009/10, the Committee increased the
emphasis placed on variable pay, which may now account for up to 41% of total Executive Director
compensation
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Remuneration policy (continued)

The charts below illustrates the balance between fixed and vanable remuneration (excluding pension) for
Executive Directors The charts illustrate the mix at both target and maximum performance, over the short
and fenger term, based on contractual entitiements at 1 Apnl 2010

Target remuneration Maximum remuneration
Average of Executive Directors Average of Executive Directors
LTIP
Annual 8 LTp

13%

bonus

Other a%

benefits
%

Annual bonus

Base salary
28%

57%

Base satary
81%

Other
benefits
2%

Notes to chart

+  Target performance assumes target annual bonus and threshold vesting under LTIP
Maximum performance assumes maximum annual bonus and maximum vesting under LTIP
LTIP excludes reinvestment opportunity
Other benefits exclude pensions

Base salary

In determining base pay the Committee takes intc account the base pay of the other organisations with
which BBC Worldwide competes for talent, the affordability of executive rewards, individual responsibilities
and the performance of the executive

Base salaries are referenced to the median of the market A Board restructure in the year prompted a
benchmarking review of executive salanes, which revealed some shortfall versus median Agamnst a
backdrop of top-quartile performance, base salarnies were subsequently adjusted to bring them into ine with
policy

The Committee reviews salaries annually Any change in base salary is usually effective from 1 July

Annual bonus scheme

A bonus of up to 55% of base pay for which the Chief Executive Officer 1s elgible 1s determined by the
performance of BBC Worldwide against profit targets The Chief Financial Officer i1s eligible for a bonus of
up to 40% of base pay, 75% of which 1s determined by the performance of BBC Worldwide against profit
targets whilst 25% 1s performance driven and assessed against his individual objectives

Based on strong performance of BBC Worldwide during the year, including profit growth of 36 5%, bonus
awards will be paid out In full An additional payment was made durning the year to the CEO n respect of the
individual performance element of his 2008/09 bonus

In previous years up to 2009/10, Executive Directors could voluntanly invest up to 75% of thesr annual
bonus into the LTIP which 1s then eligible for a matching award based on the performance of the Company
Further details are provided in the LTIP section below

From 2009/10, Directors can commit up to 50% of their annual bonus for three years as part of a new
Deferred Bonus Plan The committed amount will be eligible for a 25% matching award at the end of three
years subject to a return on capital employed (ROCE) threshold having been met For the first award under
this new plan, the ROCE hurdle has been set at an annual average of 40% over three years
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Long Term Incentive Plan
The Executive Directors participate in a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) which 1s a cash incentive plan
designed to align remuneration with the strategy of the Company

The maximum payout under the LTIP 1s 25% of base pay for the Chief Executive Officer and 20% of base
pay for the Chief Financial Officer, plus a potential 100% match of any annual bonus deferred from previous
years Awards, including the matching element, made under the scheme are subject to two performance
measures Profit Growth (75% weighting) and Return on Sales Growth (25% weighting), measured over a
three year period and relative to a comparator group of at least 15 other international media companies
The companies are ranked according to ther performance The comparator group 1s selected for their mix
of business, industry and geographical representation These measures were chosen as they are the most
applicable to a group with activities as diverse as BBC Worldwide's, represent the key performance
indicators for the business, and support the objectives of BBC Worldwide

The constituent companies of the comparator group are set out below

Aegis Group Mediaset

Axel Sprninger Mondador

Bntish Sky Broadcasting Group News Corp

Cablevision Systems Corp Mé&-Metropole Television
Comcast A Nippon Television Network Corp
Dentsu Inc Pro Sieben Sat1

Disney (Walt) Company Pearson

Eastman Kodak Publicis Groupe

Fup Television Network RCS Mediagroup

Havas Advertising SBS Broadcasting
Informa TF14

Interpublic Group Vivendi Universal

TV WPP

JC Decaux Yell Group.

BBC Worldwide must be ranked at least at the median of the comparator group for the target award to vest
Maximum vesting 1s achieved for a ranking at the upper quarlile or above There 15 a straight-ine vesting
scale between each vesting point The vesting schedule 1s shown below

Performance ranking for BBC Worldwide LTIP payment

Upper quartile or above 20%" of base salary, and 100% match of deferred
bonus

Median® 10% of base salary, and 50% match of deferred
bonus

3)

Below median Nothing vests

(1) 25% for the Chief Exacutive Officer
{2)  Straight lne pro-ration apples betwean each of the vesting points above
(3)  50% of the amount of any deferred annual bonus 1s also forferted of performance 15 below the lowar quarlle

Defined Benefit Schemes
Executive members of the Board are eligible to participate in the BBC Pension Scheme, which provides for
pension benefits on a defined benefit basis

For an employee joining the Pension Scheme before 1 November 2006, the accrual rate 1s 1/60th of the
final pensionable salary for each year of service with pensionable salary being base pay, but not including
any bonuses or other payments For employees in this group the normal pensionable age 15 60
Contribution rates for these employees increased from 1 April 2010 to 7 §% (6 75% at 1 Apnl 2009) with a
corresponding decrease in employer contributitons For an employee who joined on or after 1 November
2006 the accrual rate 1s 167% of ther pensionable pay for each year of service, adjusted in line with
inflation up to retrement Participating employees contribute 4 0% of their pensionable salary to the
Pension Scheme For employees in this group the normal pensionable age is 65
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Defined Benefit Schemes (continued)

John Smith has a normal pensionable age of 60 but may continue in employment to age 65 The normal
retirement age for Nell Chugani 1s B5 as he joined the Pension Scheme after 1 November 2006 As he
Joined the Pension Scheme after 31 May 1988 Neil Chugani's earnings are subject to a maximum annual
lirmit (£123,600 per annum for 2009/10) and he 15 therefore entitled to a cash supplement of 20% of base
pay above the annual hmit No maximum annual imit 1s applied to John Smith, who joined the BBC before
31 May 1989 The Pension Scheme provides for early retirement on medical grounds and life assurance of
four times pensionable pay up to a prescribed limit

Any participating employee who reaches or exceeds the statutory Lifetime Allowance (£1 75 milkon for
2009/10) may opt out of the Pension Scheme and instead receive a cash suppiement

Qther benefits
In addition to pension, the other main contractual benefits are a car allowance and private health insurance

Employment contracts

Employment contracts of Executive Directors have a notice period of 2 maximum of twelve months, and are
subject to earlier termination for cause No payments are made to Directors on termination other than as
contractually required On termination of their contract, Executive Directors are entitled to one-month pay
for each year of continuing service, subject to a 24-month cap

Date of appointment

to BBC Worldwide Notice penod from Notice penod from

Board Company Director

John Smith 18 March 2005 12 months 12 months
Neit Chuggnl 3 December 2007 12 months 12 months

Outside interests

Where there 1s no potential for conflict of interest, and with the prior agreement of the Chairman, Executive
Drectors of the Board may now hold one paid external directorship Remuneration which anses from
directorships may be retained by the Executive Director This policy 1s to encourage the take-up of external
Non-executive appointments as part of the Executive Directors’ development as well as bnnging broader
business skills to BBC Worldwide

During the year, John Smith served as Non-executive Director of Burberry {(appointed 1 December 2009)
Fees paid for this directorship are shown in the table below It 1s recognised that BBC Worldwide's own
Non-executive Directors are lkely to have other directorships and the restriction regarding paid external
directorships applying to Executive Directors do not apply to them

External directorship fees

Company Payment recewved (£000s)

John Smith Burberry Pic 18

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The BBC Non-Executive Directors, Nicholas Eldred, Zann Patel, Sharon Baylay and Jana Bennett (who
resigned on 30 September 2009), do not receive remuneration from BBC Worldwide for the services
provided to BBC Worldwide The other Non-executive Directors receive a fee, determined by the BBC
Trust, reflecting the complexity of the role and the time required to execute the role effectively The fee
levels are set with reference to rates paid by other UK corporations, but at a level such that the Nen-
Executive Directors would not be financially dependent on BBC Worldwide The fee levels are reviewed
annually on 1 September, the next review being effective from 1 September 2010 An increase of 2% came
into effect during the year Each Non-executive Director who 1s entitled to remuneration receives a base fee
{currently £35,700pa)
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Etienne de Villiers served as Chairrman of the Board for the six months to his resignatron on 30 September
2009 This followed publication of a new governance framework by the BBC Trust earlier that month, which
included the recommendation that the Charman of BBC Worldwide should also be a Non-executive
Director of the BBC He also served as Chairman of BBC Worldwide's intermediate parent Company, BBC
Commercial Holdings Limited, during that same penod For the six months ended 30 September 2009, he
received a total fee of £62,500 (annual fee of £125,000) plus £12,500 for private office expenses (annual
allowance of £25,000) in respect of services to BBC Worldwide and BBC Commercial Holdings In addition
he received £150,000 con leaving office, due under the terms of his service contract, and was avallable for
consultancy to BBC Worldwide during the changeover to the new governance arrangements He also
received fees from BBC Worldwide's parent Company n relation to membership of the BBC Commercial
Holdings Remuneration Commitiee

Robert Webb was appointed as Chairman of the Board on 1 October 2009 and receives a fee of £90,000
for this role and that of Charrman of BBC Commercial Holdings This 1s tn addition to fees receved from
the BBC n respect of his Non-Executive position on the BBC Executive Board Further details are
available in the BBC Annual Report and Accounts

Sharon Baylay and Tim Weller, who were appainted as Non-Executive Directors on 1 February and 26 Apnl
2010 respectively, each hold a two-year fixed term contract Simon Chft and Thomas Geitner, who were
appointed as Non-Executive Directors on 1 November 2006 and 1 February 2007 respectively, inthally held
three year fixed contracts These contracts were extended by 12 months following a review of the
composition of the Board and the appointment of Robert Webb as Chairman

Non-Executive Directors must maintain a register of all external interests that might be seen to affect ther
abiity to perform ther independent duties  This register includes declarations of all positions of
employment, directorships and voluntary positions as well as interests of close family members if relevant
and 1s approved by the BBC Worldwide Board at least annually

The table below sets out the current fees of Non-Executive Directors to whom a fee 1s payable

Fees from 1 April 2010

Robert Webb £90,000
Thomas Geitner £35,700
Simon Clift £35,700
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DETAILED INFORMATION

Remuneration earmed in the year ended 31 March 2010

£'000 Fee/ Compensation Pension Total Total

base  Annual Taxable for loss of allowance rem'n rem'n
pay  bonus LTIP  benefits office @ 2009/10 2008/09

Executive Directors

John Smuth'7 & © 420 141 248 14 - - 823 560

Neil Chugani™ ™ 291 125 63 g - 33 521 467

Total Executive 711 266 31 23 - a3 1,344 1,027

Directors

Non-Executive

Directors

Sharon Bay@ym - - - - - - - -

Jana Bennett @ 1% - - - - - - - -

Simon CIift 35 - - - - - 35 35

Nicholas Eldred™ - - - - - - - -

Thomas Geitner 35 - - - - - 35 35

Zarin Pate[® - - - - - - - -

Etienne de Villiers™ "' 75 - - - 150 - 225 150

Robert Webb ™ ') 45 - - - - - 45 -

Total Non-Executive 190 - - - 150 - 340 220

Directors

Total Executive Board 901 266 311 23 150 33 1,684 1,247

(1)  Inaddition to fxs annual bonus the Chief E stive Officer cc

d £141 000 n to the new Deferred Bonus Plan which will vest in March 2013

{2)  The LTIP payment shown includes £80 000 of annual bonus which was investad into the pian in March 2007 and matched in view of the Company s performance
over the 2007-2010 perod A detailed vesting schedule for that penod 1s presented below

— ————————— —
Borus Imvested CTIP tward vested Imvestad bonus matching award wasted Tolal vestad
[ e o Teoe
™ 3 2] rad

(3)  The Chref Financial Officer Joined the Company in late 2007 He was awarded an LTIP payment based on the same performance measures as the LTIP 2007-2010

scheme

(4)  Cash supplement in respect of the pension scheme at 20% of base pay abava the annual kmit as a& result of the maximum annual hmit on eamings, as set out on

page 46

{5) The BBC introduced a salary sacnfice amangement on 1 June 2008 for Qld and New Baenefits members who jo:nad the Pansion Schame before 1 November 2006

This arrangement 18 also applicable to all Career Average Benefit members Those Directors indicated in the table above participated in the arrangemaent

From that

date the terms and condiuens of employment were changed for those employees opting for the salary sacnfice arrangament and as a result employee pension
contnbutions made via the salary sacnfice have besn treated as employer contributions with a comesponding reduction in salary Base salanes for Executive
Directors have not been adjusted to reflect the mpact of the satary sacnfice The total salary sacnfice by Executive Directors was £33 000 (200809 £25 000}
{&) Tha BBC Non-Executive Drrecters Nicholas Eldred Zarnn Patel Jana Bennett arnd Sharon Baylay do nol receive remuneration from BBC Worldwade for the services

provided to BBC Worldwide

{7)  Compensalion under the terms of a 12 month service contract  Resigned 3D September 2009 following the publication of a new governance framework for BBC
Worldwide by the BBC Trust as set out in the Govarnance Report and was available for consultancy to BBC Worldwida during the changeover penod

(8) Appainted 1 Qclober 2009
{(9) Appointed 1 February 2010
(10) Resignad 30 September 2009

{11} The remuneration paid to Etienne de Villiers and Robert Webb mcludes fees for their role as Chairman of BBC Commercial Holdings Limited as well as Chairman of
BBC Worldwide Limited A nominal recharge s pard by BBC Commercial Heldings Limited to BBC Worldwide Limited

LTIP potentral vesting in 2011 and 2012

The potential vesting in 2011 and 2012 for Executive Directors I1s set out below

Potential Potential Potential
LTI® Potential LTIP nvested bonus invested bonus
End of Bonus vesting vesting matching award  matching award Total potential Total potential
performance invested *  {attarget)*  (at maximurm)? (at target} * (at maximum) * (attarget) *  (at maximum) 2
Participant penod £000s £ooCs £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
a b < d e a+b+d atcte
ot SmH March 2011 88 44 88 44 88 178 764
TIoRmSMAHR - March 2012 69 44 110 35 69 148 748
" Neil Chugani March 2011 - 3 63 - - 31 B3
TNell Chugami  March 2012 - k4| B3 T - o3| B3

{1}  For performance below lower quartile 50% of borus 1s forferted
{2} Potential LTIP vesung 1s based on current eam:ngs and rounded to the nearest £1 000
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Report on Directors’ Remuneration (continued)

Pension entitiements

Annual values Transfer values'"'
Executive Age as Total accrued Increase/ Transfer value Transfer value Increase/
Directors at 31 pension at 31 (decrease) in of accrued of accrued {decrease)
March March 2010  accrued pension pension at 31 pensian at 31 in transfer value
2010 over year March 2010 March 2009 less directors’
contributions
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
John Smith 52 183 (26) 3,250 3.673 (423)
Netl Chugani 41 4 2 26 11 15

{1)The transfer value of accrued pension benefits represent the estmated cost to the Pension Scheme of providing tha pension benefits accrued to date  The value 15 affected by
many factors including age pensionable salary pensienable sarvice and invastment market conditions at the date of calculation (in accordance with Actuanal Guidance Note GN
11) Itis not a sum paid or due to the individual and therefore cannot be meaningfully added to remuneration  The effect of the investment market canditions on the transfer value
vanes accarding to the member's age ~ for older members the calcutation reflects the yields on index-inked gilts, whilst for younger members the dvidend weld on the FTSE All-
Share Index 15 the more significant determinant
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the annual report and the
financial statements

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each
financial year Under that law they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent Company
financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice)

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of their profit or
loss for that penod In preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial statements, the Directors
are required to

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
make judgments and estimates that are reascnable and prudent,
for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared n accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

+ for the parent Company financiai statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards
have been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the finangial
statements, and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1S Inappropriate to presume
that the Group and parent Company will continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the parent Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006 They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to
them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other rregularities

The Directors are respensible for the mantenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information

included on the Company's website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions
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Independent Auditors’ report to the members of BBC Worldwide Limited

We have audited the financial statements of BBC Worldwide Limited for the year ended 31 March 2010 set
out on pages 53 to 128 The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the
Group financial statements I1s applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the EU The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent
Company financial statements 1s applcable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditors' report and for no other purpose To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

As explained more fully In the Directors' Responsibilities Statement set out on page 50, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the finangial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view QOur responsibibty 1s to audit the financial statements In accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's (APB's} Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements 1s provided on the APB's web-site at
www frc org uk/apb/scope/UKNP

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion

« the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent
Company's affairs as at 31 March 2010 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended,

« the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the EU,

e the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opimon the information given in the Directers' Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you If, in our opinion

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us, or

the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns,
or

certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made, or

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

St

Paul Korolkiewicz (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants

KPMG LLP

8 Salisbury Square
London

EC4Y 8BB

{¢; June 2010
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Consolidated income statement

For the yearended 31 March 2010 2009
Note £m £m
Revenue including Group's share of joint ventures’ revenue 1 1,074 2 1,0036
Less Share of joint ventures' revenue (185 9) (299 0)
Revenue 888 3 7046
Total operating costs 3 (788 4) (695 1)
Share of profit of joint ventures and associated undertakings 401 346
Operating profit 140.0 441
Analysed as
Operating profit before specific tems 1 1452 106 4
Changes in farr valuation of denvatve financial instruments 4 198 (27 3)
Impament of goodwill 4 (17 5) -
Gain/(les s) on terminatron of businesses 4 20 (94)
Share of joint venture's specific item 4 - (75)
Interest and taxation on profits of joint ventures and associates 4 (9 5) (18 1)
Finance income 7 04 11
Finance costs 7 (14 Q) (158)
Profit before taxation 126 4 296
Taxation 8 (34 2 (7 1)
Profit for the year 92.2 225
Attnbutable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 879 216
Minonty interests 43 09
Profit for the year 922 225
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2010 2009
Note £m £m
Profit for the year 92.2 225
Other comprehensive income
Recognition and transfer of cash fiow hedges 1.0 -
Tax on cash fiow hedges taken directly to equity 03 -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 4.3 240
Recognition of share of joint venture llabilites 11b - {19 4)
Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 5.0 46
Total comprehensive income for the year 97.2 271
Attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 918 264
Minonty interests 54 07
97 2 271
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Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 March 2010 2009 2008
Note £m £m £m
Non-current assets
Programme nghts for distnbution 9a 106 2 879 738
Goodwll gb 102.8 870 766
Cther intangible assets 9c 45.3 416 307
Propeity, plant and equipment 10 %9 289 1985
Interests in jont ventures, associates and avalable-for-sale investment 11,12,13 555 807 719
Deferred tax assets 8c 163 2890 160
Denvative financial assets 24d 03 04 02
Trade and other recevables 15 67 34 56
3600 357 9 2943
Current assets
Programme nghts and other inventones 14 726 519 418
Trade and other recevables 15 2197 208 3 1768
Dernvative financial assets 24d 26 09 11
Cash and cash equivalents 233 559 507
Assets classffied as held for sale 21 300 - -
3482 3170 2704
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 16 3600 297 2 2644
Current tax iiabiities 84 108 73
Denvative financial habiiities 24d 51 140 09
Prowisions 17 0.9 09 23
Interast beanng loans and bomowings 24e - 47 18
Liabiities classified as held for sale 21 124 - -
3868 327 8 2767
Net current iabilibes {38 6) (106) (6 3)
Non-current liabilihes
Interest beanng loans and bormowings 24e 1342 2087 1407
Denvative financial liabilties 24d 82 1856 03
Deferred tax habiities 8 26 96 162
Cther payables 16 58 23 18
Provisions 17 149 212 -
1657 260 3 1590
Net assets 1557 870 1290
Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company
Share capital 19 02 02 02
Refained eamings 20 1389 826 1487
Translation reserve 20 368 255 -
Hedging reserve 20 05 - -
Other reserves 20 (36 3) (32 3) (31 0
1401 76 0 1179
Minonty nterests 20 156 110 111
Total equity 1557 870 1290

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 1¢ June 2010 and were signed on its

behaif by
ith N Chugant

Chief Executive Chief Financial Offic
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Consolidated cash flow statement

For the year ended 31 March 2010 2009
Note £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 126.4 296
Adjustments for
Depreciation and impairment of property, plantand equipment 10 10 2 83
Amorhsation and impairment ofintangible assets 9 997 906
Impairment of investments 11 -
Impairrment of avartable-for-sale investment 13 - 27
Fair valuation impact of financial instruments 244 (18 8) 265
Netfinance costs 7 136 14 5
Share of profits of joint ventures and associates (40 1) (34 6)
Movementin working capital and prowisions
Decreasel/(increase) in trade and other receivables 208 (18 5)
Increase In programme rights and other inventories (67) -
Increase in trade and other payables 26 27 2
Decrease in provisions (0 9) {(12)
Cash generated from operations 2079 1451
Dwdends received from jointventures and associates 11,12 107 370
Tax paid {32 8) {23 2)
Net cash generated from operating activities 1858 158 9
Cash flows from investing activities
Interestreceived - 11
Acquisition of
- Programme nghts for distnbution 9a (83 4) (94 0)
- Otherintangible assets 9c¢ (57) {12 8)
- Property, plantand equipment 10 (6 5) (16 9)
- Subsidiary undertakings, net of cash acquired 18 200 {13 2)
- Associates and jointventures 11,12 06 (16 1)
Netcash used in inveshing activities (75 0) (151 9)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid {9 1) (10 9)
Net{repayment)/proceeds of borrowings (89 7) 757
Capital elementof finance lease payments 10 {(15) {(12)
Equity divdends paid 26a (321) (68 8)
Dmdends paid to minenty interests (08) {0 8)
Netcash used n financing actwties (133 2) (6 0)
Net (decrease)fincrease in cash and cash equivalents (22 4) 10
Cash and cash equivalents atthe beginning of the year 559 507
Cash classified as held for sale 21 (8 3) -
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (19) 42
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end of the year 233 559
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Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Shae Retaned Tramshtion Hedgryg — Cther Minonty  Tota

capital eamings reserve  reserve reserve Tolal interests  equity

£m £m £m £m £m___£m gm___ £m

At 1 Apnl 2008 0.2 1487 - - 30 #79 11 1290
Prcfit for the year - 2156 - - - 26 09 225
Exchange dfferences on translation of fareign operations - - 242 - - A2 {02) 240
Recagnition of share of jont venture liabihifes - {19 4) - - - (194) - {194)
Total comprehensive income for the year - 22 242 - - B4 07 271
Adjustment on acquisition of LK. TV - 05 - - - 05 - Q5
Drvdends pad - (688) - - - (68B) (08) (&86)
Transfer of forexgn exchange movement on put oplian - - 13 - {13) - - -
At 31 March 2009 02 826 255 - (323 %O 10 870
Prdit for the year - 879 - - - 89 43 922
Recognition and ransfer of cashflow hedges - - - 07 - 07 03 10
Tax onitems taken directly to equity - - - (0.2) - (02) {01) (03
Exchange dfferences on translation of foragn operaions - - 34 - - 34 c9 43
Total comprehensive income for the year - 879 14 05 - 98 54 972
Adjustment on acqustion of 2lentertan - 05 - - - 05 - 05
Drvdends pad - (32 1) - - - (327 {08) (29
Adjustment in respect of put gption (ncte 18¢) - - - - 39 39 - a8
Transfer of fareign exchange movement on put ophon - - 79 - (79) - - -
At 31 March 2010 02 1389 X% 8 05 (363) 1401 156 1557

Please refer to note 20 for further information on reserves
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1 Principal accounting policies

a. Basis of preparation

BBC Worldwide Limited (the “Company”™) is a company domiciled in the United Kingdom The consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2010 compnse the Company and its
subsidiary undertakings (together the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associated undertakings and
Joint ventures

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared In accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (*IFRS™) This 1s the first
year In which IFRS has been used as a preparation basis for the Group’s financial statements Note 29
describes how the Directors have applied the first-ime adoption provisions set out in /FRS 1, First-time
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

The Company has elected to prepare its financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP These are
presented on pages 116 to 128

These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, and on an historical cost basis, except
for denvative financial instruments, put option liabilites and available for sale assets which are stated at farr
value, and non-current assets held for sale which are stated at the lower of the previous carrying value and
fair value less costs to sell, as described in the accounting policies below

With the exception of items impacted by IFRS 1, the policies set out below have been applied censistently
throughout the current and preceding years to items considered matenal to the financial statements

(I Additional non-statutory financral performance measures

The Group believes that “Revenue including Group’s share of Joint Ventures' revenue” and “Operating
profit before specific items” are additional non-statutory measures of financial performance that provide
additional guidance to help understand the core performance of the business on a comparable basis year-
on-year

The Group’'s Income statement separately identifies significant items (termed “specific tems”) which in the
Directors’ jJudgement are highlighted by virtue of their size or incidence to enable a full understanding of the
Group's financial performance

Specific items are not defined under IFRS and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by
cther companies Items which have been tighlighted for consideration include the changes in fair valuation
of denvative financial instruments, the impairment of gocdwill, the gain or loss on termination of businesses,
interest and taxation on profits of joint ventures and associates, and the Group’s share of a prior year
pension lability that crystalised in 2jentertain Limited (“2[entertain”) following the administration of
Woolworths Group plc The Drrectors intend to follow such a presentation on a consistent basis in the
future Specific items for the current and prior years are disclosed in note 4

(1i) Funding and liquidity
The Board remains satisfied with the Group's funding and hquidity positton  The disclosures on page 31 in
the Directors’ Report in respect of going concern form part of the audited accounts

As at year end, the main sources of debt funding are unsecured loan and mnvestment facilities with BBC
Commercial Holdings Limited expiring tn April 2011 and June 2012, and an unsecured loan with the
European Investment Bank, due to part-terminate in November 2011 and the remainder in May 2012
Further information in respect of these facilities 1s included n note 24e

Subseguent to year end, the sterling faciity with BBC Commercial Holdings Limited expiring in Apnil 2011
has been renewed with an expiry date of 30th April 2012 Further information regarding the new facility is
included tn note 27

On the basis of its forecasts, both base case and adjusted, and having regard to avallable financing
faciities, the Board has concluded that the going concern basis of preparation continues to be approprate
Further information In respect of iquidity nsk ts included in note 24a
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued}

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Accounting pronouncements

At the beginning of the current period, the Group adopted the following accounting pronouncements that
are relevant to its operations, none of which had a significant impact on its results or financial position

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

IAS 1 Revised (2007) Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 23 Revised (2007) Borrowing costs

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures

Amendments to |AS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation and |IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
Amendments to IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Denvatives and |AS 39 Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement

Improvements to IFRSs (2008}

b. Basis of consolidation

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates to bnng the accounting policies used into line with those of the Group All intra-group
transactions, balances, income and expenses are elminated on consoldation Unrealised gains from
transactions with joint ventures and associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s Interest in the
entity Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that
there 1s no evidence of iImpairment

(i) Subsidianes and minority interests

Subsidianes are entities controlled by the Group Control 1s achieved where the Group has the power,
directly or indirectly, to govern the financral and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain henefits from
its activities In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting nghts that are
currently exercisable The results of subsidiaries are included in the financial statements from the date that
control commences to the date that control ceases

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated substdiaries are identified separately, and constst of the
ameount of those interests at the date of the onginal business cambination and the minonty’s share of
changes in equity since the date of the combinaton Equity put options held by minonty interest holders
are recognised as financial liabilities at the present value of the fair value of amounts payable on ther
exercise The Group continues to recognise minonty interests in respect of these equity Investments where
the nsks and rewards of ownership are deemed to have been retained by the minonty interest holders

(ii) Associates and joint ventures

An associate 1s an entity in relation to which the Group 15 1n a position to exercise significant influence but
not control, over its financial and operating pelicies A joint venture 1s an entity over which the Group
exercises Joint control, established through a contractual arrangement The Group's investments in
assoclates and joint ventures are recognised using the equity method of accounting

Where the Group’'s share of losses exceeds the carrythg amount of the joint venture or associate, the
carrying amount 1s reduced to ril and recognition of further losses Is discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture or
associate

¢. Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidianies 15 accounted for using the purchase method The cost of the acquisition 1s
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabihties incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments 1ssued by the Group In exchange for control of the acquired entity, plus
any costs directly attnbutable to the business combinatton The acquired entity’s identifiable assets,
habilties and contingent labiities that meet the conditions for recognition under /FRS 3 (2004) Business
Combinations are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date The interest of minority shareholders
in the acquired entity 1s inthially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net farr value of the assets,
habilittes and contingent llabilittes recognised
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

c. Business combinations (continued)

When control 1s obtained in successive share purchases (a "step acquisition"), each significant transaction
is accounted for separately and the identffiable assets, habilihes and contingent habiities acquired are
stated at far value when control I1s obtained

When there 1s a transfer or an exchange between companies under common control, assets and habihties
so transferred are accounted for at histoncal cost

d. Investments in associates and joint ventures (equity accounted investees)
Investments 1n associates and joint ventures are nitially recogrused at cost The carrying amount (s
Increased or decreased In subsequent penods to recognise the share of total comprehensive iIncome

The Group consolidates results from investments in associates and joint ventures using results as of 31
March with the exception of the following investments the results of the joint ventures and associates within
the Discovery agreements, excluding the Animal Planet Europe Partnership, Children’'s Character Bocoks,
Woodlands Books Limited and BBC Haymarket Exhibitions Limited, which have been included using
information from unaudited accounts drawn up to 31 December

e. Revenue
The Group’'s main sources of revenue are recognised as follows

. Licence fees from international television programme sales — recognised at the later of the start of
the licence period or the delivery of the programme nights
. Licence and production fees from content and production — recognised on delivery of the related

programme or on provision of service

Distnbution and other sales commission income - recognised cn provision or delivery of service
Advertising revenue — on transmisston of the advertisement

Subscription fees — recognised over the penod of the subscription

Income from publishing sales and the sale of promotional merchandise - recognised at time of
delivery or on provision of service

Turnover excludes value added tax and trade discounts and 1s recognised at the far value of consideration
receivable Sales of promotional merchandise and publishing are stated after deduction of the sales value
of actual and estimated returned goods

f. Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the applicable functional currency of each entity of the
Group at a monthly average exchange rate Monetary assets and habilihes denominated Iin foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling on that date Foreign exchange differences
which anse on translation are recognised in the income statement

The Group's presentational currency 1s stering The income statements and cash flows of overseas
subsidianes are translated into sterling at the weighted average rates for the year Exchange differences
arnsing from the retranslation of the opening net assets of overseas subsidiaries are taken directly to other
comprehensive income, together with the differences ansing when income statements are translated at
average rates compared with rates rubng at the year end On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that operation 1s recognised in the income statement as
part of the gain or loss on sale, subject to the exemption taken under IFRS 1 to reset the foreign currency
translation reserve to zero at the transition date (see note 29) Other exchange differences are taken to the
income statement

g. Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recogrised intially at cost, and subsequently reduced by any provision for
bad or doubtful debts

h. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits of less than three moenths duration from
the date of placement
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

i. Financial instruments

The Group's financial instruments (other than denvative financial mstruments, put option lrabikties and
avallable for sale assets) are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate, less any impairment
losses

(1 Derivative financial instruments

The Group transacts in a number of currencies, prnmarily including sterlng, Euros, US dollars and
Australian dollars The Group therefore enters into derivative financial instruments to manage the Group’s
exposure to fluctuations In currency options and foreign exchange rates (foreign currency forward
contracts) The Group also enters into derivative financial instruments to manage exposure to changes in
interest rates (interest rate swaps, caps and collars) The Group does not enter into speculative derivative
contracts

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at far value and are subsequently remeasured to
fair value at the balance sheet date with movements recorded In the income statement, except where
hedge accounting 1s applied (see below)

The fair value of interest rate denvative financial instruments 1s the estimated amount that the Group would
receive or pay to terminate the swap, cap or collar at the balance sheet date, taking into account current
interest rates and the current creditworthiness of counterparties

The farr value of foreign currency forward contracts 1s determined by using forward exchange market rates
at the balance sheet date

(it} Hedge accounting

Where a financial instrument 1s designated and 1s effective as a net investment hedge of a foreign cperation
or a cash ftow hedge of purchases or sales in a foreign currency, any exchange differences ansing on the
retranslation of the financial instrument wili be recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive
income Any ineffective portion, or any change in fair valuation on a financial instrument not designated as
an effective hedging instrument, 1s recognised immediately in the income statement If the hedge
ineffectiveness moves outside the range of 80-125 percent, all amounts related to that hedge, not Imited to
the ineffective portion, are recycled to the income statement

(ni) Embedded Derivatives

Dervatives which are embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as
separate denvatives when therr nsks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host
contracts, and the host contracts are not carned at far value Embedded denvatives are carned on the
balance sheet at far value from incepton of the host contract Unrealised changes in far value are
recognised as gains/losses within the income statement during the penod in which they anse

j- Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value, and subsequently at amortised cost

k. Intangible fixed assets

i Programme rnights for distribution

Programme nghts for distnbution represent rights acquired with the primary intention to sell them or
products denived from the nights as part of the Group's long-term operations They are initally recognised at
acquisition cost or production cost, when the Group controls the respective assets and the nsks and
rewards attached to them The carrying amount 1s stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and after
writing off the costs of programmes that are considered irrecoverable

(i1) Business combnations and goodwill

Goodwill ansing on acquisition I1s recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, which represents
the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group's interest in the net far value of the
identifiable assets, habiliies and contingent liablities assumed Goodwill 1s stated at its recoverable
amount, being cost less any accumulated impairment losses, and 1s allocated to cash-generating units
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k. Intangible fixed assets (continued)

(1) Internally-generated intangible assets. Development expenditure

An internally-generated intangible asset anising from the Group's development, including software and web
site development, 15 recogmsed when the asset 15 technically and commercially feasible, sufficient
resources exist to complete the development and it 1s probable that the asset will generate future economic
benefits Any expenditure on research actvities, or development actwvities that do not meet the
aforementioned cntenia, 1s recognised as an expense n the period in which it 1s incurred

{1v) Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business acquisition are capitalised at far value at the date of
acquisition The fair value of such intangible assets I1s valued by reference to external market values or
income based metheds Income based methods estimate the future economic benefits to be derived from
ownership of the asset by dentifying, quantifying and separating cash flows attributable to the asset and
capitalising therr present value Purchased intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost
After initial recognition, all intangible fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses

(v} Amortisation

With the exception of goodwill, which 1s not amortised, amortisation 1s charged on assets with finite lives on
a systematic basis over the asset's useful life and disclosed within total operating costs in the income
statement

The useful ives and amortisation methods are as follows

Programme nights for distribution See below  1-10 years
Lenely Planet masthead Straight Iine 20 years
UK TV carnier agreements Straight Iine 17 years
Software Straight line 5 years
Other Straight ine 3-8 years

Amortisation of programme nghts fer distnibution 1s charged to the income statement te match the average
revenue profile of the programme genre over its estimated average marketable Iife

Useful hves are examined every year and adjusiments are made, where applicable, on a prospective basis

I. Impairment of assets

Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for mpairment Non-financial assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable An impairment loss 1s recognised in the income statement for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and
value in use For the purposes of assessing iImpairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows and for which goodwill 1s monitored for management purposes

Impairment losses recogrised in respect of cash generating units are ailocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of goodwill allocated to those units, and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the
unit cn a pro-rata basis

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss 1s reversed If there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount An imparment loss 1s reversed only to the extent
that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no imparrment loss had been recognised Impairment losses In
respect of goodwill are not reversed
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m. Property, plant and equipment (‘PPE’)
All owned PPE s stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses
(see note 11}, other than those items that are classified as held for sale (see note 15)

Freehold land 1s not depreciated Depreciation i1s charged on other PPE so as to wnte off the cost of assets
to therr residual value, over therr expected useful lives using the straight-line method When an item of PPE
comprises major components having different useful economic lives, the components are accounted for as
separate tems of PPE Depreciation commences from the date when the asset 1s available for use

The useful ives for depreciation purposes for the principal categornies of assets are

Short leasehold buildings Unexpired lease term
Plant and machinery 3 to 8 years
Fixtures and fithings 3to 7 years

Assets held under finances leases are treated as PPE (see note 1n), and depreciated over the shorter of
the lease term or their useful economic hfe

The Group capitalises borrowing costs with respect to amounts ncurred dunng the construction of
qualfying property, plant and equipment

n. Leased assets

Assets held under finance leases, whereby the Group assumes substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership, are capitalised and depreciation 15 charged accordingly The capital elements of future
obligations are recorded as liabiities lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reductions of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the habilty

All other leases are classified as operating leases The lease expense ansing from operating leases 18
charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, with any incentives to
enter Into operating leases being recorded on a straight line basis over the lease term, recognised as a
reduction of the rental expense

o. Programme rights and other inventories

Programme nghts m this context refer to the programme nghts acquired for the pnmary purpose of
broadcasting within the Group's short-term operations The carrying amount 15 stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation, and after wnting off the costs of programme nghts that are considered
irrecoverable The Group's estimate of the benefits received from these nghts s determined to be most
appropriately aligned with a straight-ine amortisation profile for the majonty of the programme inventory
held The cost 1s recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the period
of the licence or three years (the expected operating cycle for an item of this nature) In certain instances
amortisation 1s recognised on a reducing balance basis, where it more appropriately aligns the amortisation
profile with the expected consumption of economic benefits

Other inventories compnsing books, DVDs, audiobooks, paper, raw matenals and work in progress are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value

p. Provisions

A provision s recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation anising from past events and i1t is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation Prowisions, other than those for deferred tax, that are payable over a number of years
are discounted to net present value at the balance sheet date using a discount rate appropriate to the
particular provision concerned
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q. Employee benefits
The Group offers both defined benefit and defined contnbution schemes to its employees

(i} Defined benefit

The defined benefit scheme s operated by the Group's ultmate parent, the Brtish Broadcasting
Corporation (the “BBC") The defined benefit scheme provides benefits based on final or career average
pensionable pay The assets of the BBC's main pension scheme, the BBC Pension Scheme, to which the
majonty of employees belong, are held separately from those of the BBC Group The BBC Pension
Scheme 1s a Group wide scheme and as such the participating employers all make contributions to the
scheme at the same rates and are unable to dentify therr shares of the net defined benefit cost The
contribution rates are set by the pension scheme trustees based on valuations which take a longer-term
view of the assets reguired to fund the scheme’'s habiities Valuations of the scheme are performed by
Towers Watson, consulting actuanes, with formal valuations undertaken at least every three years
Therefore as required by IAS 19, Employee Benefits, the Group accounts for the contnbutions payable to
the scheme for the year

{n) Defined contribution
The Group participates in a number of defined contribution schemes n relation to its UK and overseas
operations Contnbutions to the schemes are charged to the income statement when payable

Other short term and long-term employee benefits, including holiday pay, Long Term Incentive Plan, and
long service leave, are recognised as an expense over the periods in which they accrue

r. Taxation
The Group’s hability for current tax 1s based on taxable profit for the year, and 1s calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

The amount of deferred tax provided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and habilities, using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted at
the balance sheet date Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in the income statement, except where it relates
to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax i1s also included within equity

Deferred tax 1s recogmised using the balance sheet hability method, providing for tempoerary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and habilities in the balance sheet and the corresponding tax
bases used In the computation of taxable profit Temporary differences ansing from goodwill and the mital
recognition of assets or habilities that affect neither accounting profit nor taxable profit are not provided for

Deferred tax labilities are recogmised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidianes and assocates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group 15 able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temperary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it 1s no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered Deferred tax I1s calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the penod
when the hability 15 settled or the asset s realised Deferred tax assets and habtlities are not discounted

s. Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups comprising assets and llabiities) are classified as held for sale if
ther carrying amount will be recovered pnncipally through sale rather than continuing use, they are
avallable for mmediate sale and sale i1s highly probable

On initial classification as held for sale, non-current assets or disposal groups are measured at the lower of

therr previous carrying amount and far value less costs to sell No amortisation or depreciation I1s charged
on non-current assets {Including those in disposal groups) classified as held for sale

63




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

t. Dividends on shares presented within shareholders’ funds

Dividends are recognised through equity in the period in which they are declared Dividends which are
unpaid at the balance sheet date are only recognised as a liability at that date to the extent that they are
appropriately authonised and payment 1s no longer at the discretion of the Group Unpaid dividends that do
not meet these critena are disclosed Iin the notes to the consolidated financial statements

u. Segmental reporting

An operating segment 1s a component of the Group that engages In business activities from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses All operating segments’ results are reviewed regularly by the Group's
chief operating decision maker (*CODM"), defined as the BBC Worldwide Board {the “Board”), to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, for which discrete
financial information 1s available

v. Critical accounting estimates and key judgements

The preparation of financial statements \n conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain cntical
accounting assumptions, and requires management to exercise its judgement and to make estimates in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies The areas involving a higher degree of jJudgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed below

{0 Revenue recognition

The tming of revenue recognition requires judgement, as does the amount to be recognised This may
ivolve estimating the fair value of consideration before it 1s received In making these judgements, the
Group considers the detalled crtenia for the recognition of revenue set out in |IAS 18 Revenue and, in
particular, whether the Group had transferred the significant nsks and rewards of the goods/services to the
customer

(it} Trade and other receivables recoverability
Judgement 1s also required in evaluating the ikehhood of collection of customer debt In certain cases, this
involves estimates of the level of provision to be made for customers’ debts with uncertain recovery

(ni) Carrying value of goodwill

The determination of whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated The value in use calculation requires the entity to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arse from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the nsks specific to the asset and the tme value of money, In
order to calculate present value Please refer to note 9 for further details on the imparment loss calculation
for the current year

(rv) Determination of fair values

Certain financial instruments are carned on the balance sheet at far value, with changes in farr value
reflected in the income statement Fair values are estimated by reference in part to published price
quotations and in part by using valuation techniques

(v) Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and habilites require management judgement in determining the amounts to be
recognised In particular, judgement is used when assessing the extent to which deferred tax assets should
be recognised with consideration given to the timing and level of future taxable income

(v1) Programme rights

The assessment of the appropnate profile over which to recogrise the amortisation of programme rnights
{for distnbution or for broadcast) involves a certain degree of judgement Amortisation 1s charged to the
Income statement to match the average revenue profile of the programme genre over its estimated average
marketable Iife
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w. Accounting Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards

that are not yet effective
At the date of authonsation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which
have not been applied in these financial statements were 1n 1ssue but not yet effective

IFRS 1 (amended)/IAS 27 (amended) Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

IFRS 3 {revised 2008) Business Combinations

IAS 27 {revised 2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

IAS 28 (revised 2008) Investments in Assocrates

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets From Customers

IFRIC 19 Extingwishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

Improvements to IFRSs (Apnl 2009)

The Group does not expect that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will
have a matenal impact on the financial statements of the Group except for the treatment of acquisition of
subsidianes and associates when IFRS 3 (revised 2008), IAS 27 (revised 2008) and IAS 28 (revised 2008)
come Into effect for business combinations for which the acquisition date 1s on or after the beginning of the
next financial year (1 Apnl 2010)

2  Segmental analysis
The Board, the Group’s CODM, considers the business primanly from a product/service line perspective

Management has determined the reportable segments based upon reports reviewed by the Board  All
segments reported meet the quantitative thresholds required by IFRS 8 The reportable segments are

Channels Operates UK and international television channels, broadcasting programmes
made by both the BBC and other independent providers

Content and Production Develops and sells programme formats and their asscciated live events, and
manages the Group’s nights acquisitions

Digital Media Operates the BBC com and other BBC brand websites, and manages the
BBC's cn demand archive clip licensing business BBC Motion Galfery

Global Brands Provides central management of the Group's international brands, principally
Lenely Planet and Licensing

Sales and Distribution Manages the sale and syndication of the Group's content across television,
video on demand and international DVD

Home Entertainment Creates and distnbutes consumer products, including BVDs, music, books and
audicbooks

Magazines Publishes the Radio Times and other Speciahst and Lifestyle magazines

based upcen BBC content

Sales between segments are carried out at arm's length The revenue from external parties reported to the
Board 1s measured 1n a manner consistent with the income statement The Board also assesses the
perfarmance of the reportable segments based upon a measure of results consistent with operating profit
before specific tems, as defined in note 1 This measurement basis excludes the effect of specific items,
as set out in note 4, which are separately disclosed by virtue of therr size or incidence to reflect more
accurately how the business 1s managed and measured on a day to day basis Net financing costs are not
allocated to segments as they are dniven by the central treasury function of the Group

Information regarding repertable segments assets and habiities 1s not reported to the Board
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2a Turnover analysed by reportable segment

The segment information for the reportable segments provided to the Board for the years ended 31 March
2010 and 31 March 2009 15 as follows

'

Group reverue Intersegment Group revenue from Share of joent Total

reverue externzl customers ventures
2010 £m £m £m £m £m
Wirldwde Channes 157 6 - 1576 1050 2626
Cortent & Produchion ™3 - 943 a3 976
Dgital Media 00 - 30.0 - 300
Gdbal Brands 67 - 657 52 709
Sales & Distributon 210 (26.0) 1950 198 2148
Home Entertainment 7 (13) 2004 296 2300
Magazines 145 3 - 1453 230 1683
Total 915 6 (27 3) 8843 1859 10742
Group reverwue Intersegment Group revenue from Share of joint Total

revenue external customers ventures
2009 £m fm £m £m £m
Wirkhamde Channgs 128 - 1228 1028 2256
Content & Production ®5 - 86.5 17 882
Dgttal Media 275 - 275 - 275
Gadbal Brands 82 - 582 33 615
Sales & Dstributon 2252 (35.9) 1893 196 2049
Home Entertamnment 3 (05) 698 1555 2253
Magazines 1505 —_ 150.5 201 170.6
Total 7410 {36.4) 7046 299.0 1,0036

2b Operating profit before specific items

Group operating profit Share of operating profit/{loss) Total

before speafic items of joint ventures and

assocrates, before specific

items
2010 fm £m £m
Worldwide Channels 16 376 392
Content & Production 176 - 176
Digtal Media (20 8) - (20 8)
Global Brands (6 8) 08) (74)
Sales & Distribution 54 9 30 579
Home Entertainment 343 60 403
Magazines 178 06 184
Total 98 6 46.6 1452
Group operating profit Share of operating profit/(loss) Total

before specific items of joint ventures and

assoclates, before specific

items
2009 fm £m £m
Worldwide Channels {(16) 308 292
Content & Production 175 Q7 16.8
Digtal Media (258) 32) (29 0)
Global Brands {85) 17 (6 8)
Sales & Distributon 394 64 458
Home Entertamment 19 323 342
Magazines 183 2 1) 162
Total 41 2 65.2 106.4
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The foliowing depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges are recorded in the above reportable

segments’ results

Depreciaton Amortisation

£m £m fm fm

2010 2009 2010 2009

Werldwde Channels 22 10 11 04
Content & Produchon 08 03 07 03
Digital Media 13 12 24 08
Gobal Brands 13 16 84 89
Sales & Distributon 16 07 559 614
Home Entertainment 14 06 121 139
Magaznes 16 0g 16 23
Total 10.2 63 82.2 880

A reconciiation of the reportable segments’ operating profit before specific items to profit before tax is

provided as follows

2010 2009

£m fm

Operating profit before spedfic items 145.2 1064
Specific items (see note 4) 52) (62 3)
Net financing costs (see note 7) {13 6) (14 5)
Profit before tax 126.4 296

The Group's revenue by destination (excluding its share of joint venture revenues) from customers in the
UK 1s £351 1 milhon {2009 £286 4 million) and from customers in other countnes 1s £537 2 millon (2009

£418 2 milhon)

The Group's non-current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets, located in the UK
are £167 5 milhon (2009 £167 4 millon) and located outside of the UK are £175 9 million (2009 £162 1

mithon)

3  Operating costs

An analysis of the operating costs (including specific items) incurred by the Group 15 presented below

2010 200¢

£m £m

Cost of sales 499 9 3928

Dustribution costs 234 0 2210

Administration costs 545 815
Analysed as

Changes In far valuation of denvative financial nstruments (18 8) 265

Cther administration costs 733 550

788 4 6951
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Group operating costs (including specific tems) nclude the following

2010 2009
£m £m
Amortisation of intangible assets
-programme nghts for distnbution 725 809
- other ntangible assets 29 24
-internally generated software assets 68 47
Depreciabon on property, plant and equipment 10 2 63
Programme nghts and other inventones
-included in cost of sales 1078 821
- of which write downs 12 40
Rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements 14 6 176
Sub-lease rentals received on operating leases - -
Research and development expenditure 30 16
Net foreign exchange gains {23) (18)
Farr valuaton (gains)losses on denvative financial mstruments (19 8) 273
{Gam)/loss on termination ofbusinesses {20) 94
Share of joint venture's specific tem - 75
(Decrease)ncrease in allowance for doubtful debts {14) 58
Impairment of avallable for sale assets - 27
Impairment of goodwill 17 5§ -
Impairments of investments 17 23
Loss on intangble software assets 10 -
4 Specific items
2010 2009
Note £m £m
Specific tems
Changes in fair valuation of denvatve financal nstruments 4a 98 (27 3)
Impaiment of goodwill 4b (17 5) -
Gan/({loss) on termination of businesses 4c 20 ©4)
Group's share of joint venture's specific tem 4d - {7 5)
Interest and taxation on profits of joint ventures and associates de (8 5} {18 1)
(52) 623)

4a Changes in fair valuation of derivative financial instruments

The impact of far value changes of derivative financial instruments 1s a gain of £19 8 million {20092 loss of
£27 3 milllon) on operatng profit This 1s not expected to be recurnng in future years and reflects the
economic volatihty of the current and prior years These denvative financial instruments compnise forwards
and currency options, including embedded derivatives which have been identified and separated from their
host contract for valuation

4b  Impairment of goodwill

The Group's Australian Travel Guide business has an Australian dollar functional currency During the year
the significant strengthening of the Australlan dollar against the main currencies in which the business
operates (US dollar, sterling, and Euro) has caused an impairment of £17 5 millon of the goodwill attributed
to the business Further detail 1s provided in note Sb
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4c Gain/(loss) on termination of businesses

In the year ended 31 March 2008, an independent joint venture (UK VOD LLP’) was created by BBC
Worldwide, ITV and Channel 4 to develop a new UK on-demand service known to the industry as
Kangarco On 4 February 2009, the Competiton Commission reported that it believed the proposed
venture would create a lessening of competition in the emerging video on demand mdustry in the UK, and
blocked the joint venture from centinuing As a result the Group terminated its investment and during the
year ended 31 March 2009, exceptional costs relating to this termination tatalling £9 1 million were charged
to the iIncome statement within the Digital Media business segment This included the Group’s share of the
joint venture’s assets impairment In July 2009, UK VOD LLP sold all of Project Kangaroo's assets to
Argiva, resulting n a gain to the Group of £2 0 milkon

Other losses on termination of businesses in the year ended 31 March 2009 primanly relate to the Group's
divestment of its interactive learning activities

4d  Group's share of joint venture's specific item

Following the administration of Woolworths Group plc in the year ended 31 March 2008, a liability
crystallised in the Group’'s then joint venture 2|entertain in respect of the Woolworths Group pension
scheme The Group’s share of joint venture results included a £7 5 million charge in respect of this pension
ability, being 60% of the expense recorded by 2|entertain

de Interest and taxation on profits of joint ventures and associates

The Group views its investments as being a fundamental part of its ongosing operations IFRS requires the
Group to report its share of profit of joint ventures and associates on an after-tax, after-interest basis The
interest and taxation on profits of joint ventures and asscciates 1s therefore added back as a specific item in

order to present an operating profit measure which more appropnately represents the way in which the
business I1s reviewed and assessed internally

5 Employees and remuneration

5a Employee benefits

2010 2009

£m £m

Salanes and wages 1502 1327
Social security costs 9.8 81
Cther pension costs 153 126
1753 153 4

In addition to the above, redundancy costs and compensation for loss of office payments totaling £6 7
million {2009 £2 3 million} were mcurred in the year

The average number of persons employed (full-ime equivalent) in the year i1s set out below

2010 2009

Average Average

Worldwide Channels 491 379
Content & Production 135 109
Digital Media 247 241
Global Brands 517 580
Sales & Disfribution 257 268
Home Entertainment 346 291
Magazines 605 712
Total 2,598 2,580
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Within the averages above, 204 (2009 198) part-ime employees have been Included at therr full-tme
equivalent of 134 (2009 131) In addition to the above, the Group employed an average full-ime equivalent
of 54 (2009 49} persons on a casual basis Their payroll costs are included above

5b BBC Pension Scheme

Group pension plans

Many BBC Worldwide employees are members of the BBC Group's pension schemes These compnse the
BBC Pension Scheme (a defined benefit scheme), a small unfunded plan {the unfunded scheme, whtch I1s
closed to new members) and the Group Personal Pension Scheme (a defined contnibution scheme)

The BBC Pension Scheme provides salary related benefits on a defined benefit basis funded from assets
held in separate trustee-administered funds, there are three sections to the BBC Pension Scheme, Old
Benefits and New Benefits both provide benefits based on final salary (subject to differing inflation caps)
and the Career Average Benefits section, which 1s the section open to new entrants The pension scheme
trustees manage the plan in the short, medium and long term They make funding decisions based on
valuations which take a longer-term view of the assets required to fund the scheme’s habilities

BBC Worldwide, followng the provisions within IAS 19 Employee Benefits for accounting in respect of BBC
Group schemes, accounts for the scheme as If it were a defined contribution scheme This 1s because it 1s
unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and habilities of the scheme on a consistent and
reasonable basis The pension cost for this scheme therefore represents contnbutions payable by the
Group to the scheme and the costs amounted to £12 8 million 1in the year (2009 £106 milion) No
contnibutions were prepaid or accrued at 31 March 2010 (2009 L£ril, 2008 £nil)

The actuanal valuation was updated for IAS 19 purposes to 31 March 2010 by Towers Watson, consulting
actuanes This valuation identified a deficit of £1,640 9 milion mn the scheme at 31 March 2010 (2009
deficit £138 6 miliron, 2008 surplus £528 4 million) Additional disclosure about the scheme and its financial
position under IAS 19 1s presented below

Pension asset/{liability) included in the BBC balance sheet

Pension asset Pension hability
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m £m £m £m
BBC Pension Scheme - - 5284 (1,640 9) (138 6) -
Unfunded Scheme - - - (6 2) (47} (5 1)
Total - - 5284 (1,647 1) (143 3) (5 1)
BBC Pension Scheme
Scheme financial position
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
IAS 19 valuation Em £m £m £m £m
Scheme assets” 8,154 8 6,454 0 80420 8,117 9 7.8434
Scheme habilities (9,7957) (6,5926) (7,5136) (7.7888) (7.6759)
(Deficif)/surplus (1,640 9) (138 6) 528 4 329 3 1675

Key movements in the year are shown below
Changes in the present value of plan hrabilities

The table below illustrates the movement on the plan labilities during the year The most significant
vanables which affect this are the additional year of pension benefits earned (and employee
contributions made), interest charged on existing habilihes, any gains or losses relating to participants
leaving the pension scheme, changes in assumptions made and benefits paid out during the year
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2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m

Opening present value of plan habilities 6,592.6 7,513 6 7,7886
Current service cost 128 2 618 1648
Past service cost {301 5) 242 215
Gains on curtallments - (100) -
Interest on pension plan lhabilities 4634 808 4 4136
Expenence (gains)/losses arising on plan liabilities {33 2) (171 3) 1491
Changes in assumptions underying plan liabities 32661 (1,1381) (786 0)
Contributions by plan partcipants 72 142 531
Benefits paid {327 1) (3102) (291 1)
Closing present value of plan liabilities 9,7957 6,592 6 7,5138

Changes in the fair value of plan assets

The table below illustrates the movement on the plan assets dunng the year The most significant
vanables which affect this are the additional year of contributions made, changes in the value of the
pension plan assets (including the mmvestment return) and benefits paid during the year

A salary sacrifice arrangement was introduced on 1 June 2008 for Old and New Benefit members and
1 November 2006 for Career Average Benefit members The contnbutions paid via the salary sacrifice
arrangement have been treated as employer contributions

2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m

Cpening fair value of plan assets 64540 8,042 0 81179
Expected rate of retum on plan assets 443 4 626 0 56827
Actuanal losses on plan assets 13630 (2,0940) {584 &)
Contributions by employer 2143 176 0 1840
Contributions by plan participants 7.2 142 531
Benefits paid {327 1) (3102) {291 1}
Closing present vaiue of plan assets 81548 6,454 0 8,0420

Plan assels

The allocation of assets by the Trustees 1s governed by a need to manage nsk against the desire for
high returns and any lhquidity needs A high percentage of assets are held in equittes which the
Trustees expect will produce higher returns in the long term The target allocation, based on market
values, for equities 1s 50% (UK equities 25% and overseas equities 25%), bonds 30%, property 10%
and alternatives 10%

2010 2009 2008
Type of asset £m % £m % £m Yo
Equities 4,572.6 561% 33130 51 3% 46240 57 5%
Bonds 1,8254 224% 15980 24 8% 1,6930 211%
Property 7873 96% 7960 12 3% 1,0010 12 4%
Alternatives” 7190 8 8% 5080 7 9% 4550 57%
Cash 2505 31% 2390 37% 2690 33%
Total assets 8,1548 64540 80420
Actual retum on pension plan assets*™ 1,806 0 (1,468 Q) (22 Q)
* Alternatives include private equity, debt and currency
> This constritutes realised gains from the receipt of investment income (e g dvidends and rent),

transachions where assets are sold and unrealised far value changes
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5b BBC Pension Scheme (continued)
Funding the Scheme

As a result of the 2007 actuanal valuation by Watson Wyatt, it has been agreed between the BBC and
the penston scheme trustees that employer contributions would increase to 19 4% from 1 July 2008
Employee contributions for Cld and New Benefit members rose from 6 0% to 6 8% from 1 April 2009
and will nse to 7 5% from 1 Aprnl 2010 and employer contnbutions decreased from 19 4% to 18 6%
from 1 April 2009 and will decrease to 17 9% from 1 Apnl 2010 Employee contnbutions for Career
Average Benefit members are setat 4 0%

An interim valuation was performed as at 1 April 2009 The next formal actuanal valuation 1s expected
to be performed as at 1 Apnl 2010

Projection

01 2010 2008 2008 2007
Contnbution rates % % % % %
Empioyer 179 186 188184 188 75
Employee (Old ard New Berefits) 75 68 60 60 5560
Employee (Career Average Benefits) 40 40 40 40 40™
Underlying cost of scheme to BBC as % of pensionable salanes” 179 186 188194 188 193188
* Excludes the cost effectively paid for by the employee and the salary sacrfice element
™ The Career Average Benefit scheme started on 1 November 2006

On the basis assumed above, the BBC Group expects to make contnbutions to the scheme totalling
£179 4 million in 2011

Principal actuanal assumptions
The calculation of the scheme habilites and pension charges, for IAS 19 purposes, requires a number

of assumptions, both financial and demographic, to be made The pnncipal assumptions used by the
actuaries, at the balance sheet date were

2010 2009 2008
Principal financial assumptions Yo % %
Rate of increase in salanes 37 4 4 56
Rate of increase in pension payments
Old Benefits 37 30 K1)
New Benefits 35 27 34
Career Average Benefits 24 24 25
Inflation assumption 37 28 36
Discount rate 55 72 69

* This 1s the assurmption from 1 Apnl 2011 The assumption to 31 March 2011 1s 3 9% per annum

The average life expectancy assumptions, for members after retirement at 60 years of age, are as
follows

2010 2009 2008
Principal demographic assumptions Number of years Number of years Number of years
Retinng today
Male 270 269 266
Female 297 296 291
Retnng in 20 years
Male 290 289 281
Female 318 317 307

The longevity assumptions have been selected to reflect the charactenstics and experience of the
membership of the scheme This has been done by adjusting standard mortality tables (PMACO7MC+0 5
and PFACO7MC+1) which reflect recent research into mortality expenence in the UK
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5b BBC Pension Scheme (continued)

The demographic assumptions have been updated from those used for the actuaral valuation of the
scheme as at 1 April 2007 to reflect the likely assumptions which will be used for the actuanal valuation of
the scheme as at 1 Apnl 2010

5¢ BBC Worldwide Limited Group personal pension scheme and other schemes
The Group also operates its own defined contribution pension schemes, including those operated In the
USA and Australa The assets of these schemes are held separately from those of the Group in

independently administered funds The pension cost represents contributions payable by the Group to the
funds and this amounted to £2 6 million in the year (2009 £2 0 million)

5d Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration of the Directors during the year was as follows

2010 2009

£000 £000

Emoluments 2,784 3742
Compensation for loss of office 128 993
Long-term incentive plan 363 505
3,275 5,240

A salary sacnfice arrangement was introduced on 1 June 2008 for Old and New Benefits members who
1oned the BBC Pension Scheme before 1 November 2006 This arrangement ts also applicable to all
Career Average Benefit members From that date, the terms and conditions of employment were changed
for those employees opting for the salary sacnfice arrangement and as a result employee pension
contributions made wvia the salary sacrifice have been treated as employer contributions, with a
corresponding reduction in salary The total salary sacrifice by Directors for the peried since 1 June 2008
was £73,000 (2009 £93,000)

The number of Directors to whom retirement benefits have accrued throughout the year under the following
schemes 1s as follows

2010 2009

No of No of

Directors Directors

Defined benefitschemes 10 13
Money purchase schemes 2 5

The Group made no contributions (2009 £nil) to money purchase schemes for its Directors during the year

The remuneration of the highest paid Director during the year was as follows

2010 2009
£000 £000

Emoluments 575 480
Long-term incentive plan 248 80
823 560

The Group contrnibuted £nil {2009 £ntl) to money purchase schemes on behalf of the highest paid Director
duning the year The highest paid Director had accrued pension benefits of £183,000 (2008 £209,000) per
annum as at 31 March 2010 under the Group’s defined benefit scheme [n addition to the annual bonus
amount included In the emoluments number above, an equal amount has been invested by the highest paid
director in the Long Term Incentive Plan for BBC Worldwide which may vest in March 2013 (2009 March
2012)

73




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010

6  Audit fees
2010 2009
Em £m
Fees for the audit of the Group 05 04

Fees for the audit of the Group comprnise amounts paid for the Company and the Group's subsidiaries in the
UK and overseas Fees paid to the Group's auditors, KPMG LLP, and its associates for services other than
the statutory audit of the Group are not disclosed 1n these financial statements This 1s on the basis that
such non-audit fees are disclosed in the consolidated accounts of the Group’s ultimate parent, the BBC
Please refer to page 121 for disclosures relating to the fees for the audit of the Company

7 Finance costs / income

Financial costs and financial iIncome recognised in the year compnse

2010 2009
£m £m
Interest payable on loan from parent undertaking (6 0} (73)
Interest payable on bank loans (0 5) (30)
Interest payable on finance leases {01) (01)
Fair value losses on interest rate swaps - (48)
Interest payable on cash managemert swaps (2 0) -
Farr value movement of financial habiities 4 9) -
Cther interest payable (0 5} (04)
Financial expense (14 0) {15 6)
2010 2009
£m £m
Farr value gans on interest rate swaps 03 .
Other interest receivable 01 11
Financial income 04 11
8 Taxation
8a Taxation recognised in the income statement
2010 2009
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax 208 125
Foreign tax 133 87
Adjustments in respect of prior years (4.4) 33
Total current tax 297 24 5
Deferred tax
Oniginaton and reversal of tming differences 44 (13 5)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 01 (39
Total deferred tax 45 (17 4)
Tax on profits on ordinary activities (note 8b) 342 71

UK corporation tax i1s calculated at 28% (2009 28%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year Taxation
for other countries Is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective junsdictions
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8b Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The total tax charge for the year 1s higher (2009 higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK

of 28% (2009 28%) The differences are explained as follows

2010 2009
£m £m
Profit on ordinary activities before fax 126 3 296
Share of tax of joint ventures and associates 73 16 8
Group profit excluding tax 1336 46 4
Total tax at 28% (2009 28%) 374 130
Effects of
Disallowed expenditure 60 67
Tax differential on wholly owned overseas earnings (01) 28
Adjustments n respect of previous years (43) 0 6)
Difference in efiective tax rate of joint ventures and associates 25 20
Total tax charge forthe year 415 23.9
Share of tax of joint ventures and associates (7.3) (16 8)
Tax expense in Income Statement {note 8a) 342 71

The decrease in tax differential on wholly owned overseas earnings 1s primanly due to accessing brought

forward losses that were not previously recognised as an asset

The higher effective tax rate (total tax charge for the year as a percentage of Group profit excluding tax) for
the prior year arose from the disallowance of investment impairment charges (principally Kangaroo, note 4

and available-for-sale investment, note 13} and the mix of profits arising in higher rate tax jurisdictions

8c Analysis of deferred tax balance

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recegnised by the Group, and the movement

thereon, during the current and pnor year

Fixed asset p Financial Other* Total
t-ernpo rary rovisons Instruments [+]

differences
£m £m fm £m £m
At 1 Apnil 2008 {126) 118 03 03 {02)
{Charged)/credited to income statement 48 (2 6} 88 64 17 4
Acquisition of subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates (14) - - 12 (02)
Exchange differences - 35 - (2 1) 14
At 31 March 2009 (92) 127 91 58 184
{Charged)/credited to Income statement 38 (3 4 (53) 07 (4.2)
Charged to equity - - (0 3) - (03)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, Jointventures, associates 03 23 - - 26
Exchange differences - (13 - (15 (2.8)
At 31 March 2010 (51) 10 3 35 50 137

* 'Other’ consisis pnmarily of deferred tax assets on provision for unrealised profits of £3 3 million (2009
£2 5 million), deferred tax assets on exchange differences of £1 5 milhon (2009 £2 1 millron)

2010 2009 2008

fm £m fm

Deferred tax assets 16.3 280 160
Deferred tax liabiiities (26) {9 6) {16 2}
Net deferred tax assets/(habities) 137 18 4 02)
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8c Analysis of deferred tax balance (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profit 1s probable The Group has unrecognised deferred tax
assets arising on capital losses totalling £24 4 million (2009 £24 9 million) and on operating losses totalling
£nil (2009 £2 9 millon) These assets are not recognised on the basis that there Is insufficient certainty that
capital or operating gains will anse against which the Group can utilise these losses

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed
earnings of subsidianes for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was £3 1 mulion (2009
£1 9 milion) No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group 1s In the
position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it 1s probable that such
differences will not reverse In the foreseeable future

Temporary differences ansing in connection with the Group’s Interest in the undistributed earnings of
associates and joint ventures for the year are insignificant (2009 insignificant)

8d Deferred tax recognised in other comprehensive income

Deferred tax relating to cash flow hedges amounting to £0 3 million (2008 £nil) has been included In other
comprehensive Income and charged to equity

9 Intangible fixed assets

9a Programme rights for distribution

The movement in programme nghts for distnbution 1s analysed as follows

2010 2009
£m £m

Cost
At 1 April 210 4 153 9
Additions 917 94 0
Elmination in respect of programme nghts fully amortised (49 0) (56 1}
Programme nghts classified as held for sale (note 21) {2 5) -
Exchange adjustment (3 8) 18 6
At 31 March 246 8 210 4
Amortisation
At 1 April 1225 80 1
Charge for the year 725 809
Elimination n respect of programme nghts fully amortised (49 O (56 1)
Programme nghts classified as held for sale (note 21) 23 -
Exchange adjustment (3 1) 17 6
At 31 March 140 6 122 5
Net book value
At 31 March 106 2 87 9
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9b  Goodwill

The movement in goodwill 1s analysed as follows

2010 2009
£m £m

Cost
At 1 April 870 766
Additions 253 76
Impairment {17 5) -
Goodwill classified as held for sale (note 21) (56) -
Exchange adjustment 136 28
At 31 March 1028 870

Goodwill additions 1n the current year reflect the acquisition of 2|entertain (see note 18a) Included within
additions of £25 3 million 15 goodwill transferred from investment in joint ventures which arose on the
onginal acqusition of the Group's 60% interest in 2|entertain  This goodwill has been allocated to the group
of assets or cash-generating units {CGUs) within the DVD Distribution business that are expected to benefit
frem the business combination

Goodwill impairment in the current year relates to the Australhan Travel Guide business

The exchange adjustment in the current year relates to the Australian Travel Guide and Australian
Channels businesses

Goodwill addittons 1n the prior year reflect the acquisition of UK TV (see note 18b) This goodwill has been
allocated to the group of assets or cash-generating units (CGUs) within the Austrahan Channels business
that are expected to benefit from the business combinatien

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill, allocated by cash generating unit, 1s analysed as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

Australian Travel Guide business 84 2 687
DVD Distnbution business 253 -
Austraian Channels business 83 75
Audiobooks business - 56
UK Magazines business 50 50
Other - 02
At 31March 102 8 870

The recoverable amount of each CGU 1s based on value In use calculations The present value of future
cash flows has been calculated by applying pre-tax discount rates to pre-tax cash flows

The Group tests goodwill for impairment in the accounting penod in which a business combination takes
place, thereafter annually, or, more frequently, If there are indications that goecdwill might be impaired  No
impairment of goodwill was recognised in the prior year or at the date of transiticn to IFRS

Australian Travel Guide business

The goodwill In this CGU arose as a result of the acquisition of Lonely Planet on 1 Qctober 2007 An
impairment charge of £17 & milhon in this CGU has been recognised during the course of 2010, resulting In
the carrying value of goodwill in this CGU being written down to its recoverabie amount The imparment
charge reflects the strength of the Australian dollar relative to the US dollar and sterling at the date of the
impairment testing
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8b  Goodwill {(continued)

The estimated cash flows of the current business plan used in determining the recoverable amount of the
CGU are consistent with those used at 31 March 2009 as they remain management's expectation for the
performance of the CGU The CGU continues to achieve its short term targets and to expand in the key UK
and US markets However, upon converting the estimated non-Australian cash flows to Austrahan dollar for
the purposes of the impairment testing at the relatively weak spot exchange rates at the date of the
impairment testing, the recoverable amount has fallen below the carrying value and an impairment has
been necessary If the exchange rates at 28 February 2010, when the testing was performed, had
remaingd consistent with those at 31 March 2009, the recoverable value would have exceeded the carrying
value and no impairment charge would have been recorded

The recoverable amount calculation uses cash flow projections based on the current business plan
approved by management covering a 10 year penocd and a discount rate of 12 8% (2009 12 6%) The
calculation required a 10 year projection period to fully assess the impact of a gradual transition to digital
content delivery which 15 expected to grow the busmess substantially beyond the near term  In addiion to
providing digital content, the business intends to utlise online capabilittes to provide a wider service
offering Beyond this 10 year period a terminal value was calculated using a growth rate of 3% This
growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the market in which Lonely Planet
operates

The main assumptions on which the forecast cash flows were based are growth of the travel market and
the Group's share of key markets, being the US, UK and Australia

In determining a value to assign to growth of the travel market in the short term the Group consulted the
Consumer Confidence Index (“CCI"), which usually has a 5-7 month time lag impact on the business In
the longer term, a value was determmed in line with Gross Domestic Product (*“GDP”) and economic growth
forecasts

Past experience was used to assign a value to the Group's share of key markets

DVD distribution business

The goodwtll In this CGU arose as a result of the acquisition m the year of 2|enterain as noted above Cash
flow projections used (n the recoverable amount calculation are based on the current business plan
approved by management covenng a 5 year pernod and are extrapolated using an expected growth rate of
1% A discount rate of 19 9% has been applied to the cash flows In forming the assumptions used In
calculating the recoverable amount, the Group has used expectations of long term trends for the DVD
distribution industry

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the DVD
distnbution business’ recoverable amount 1s based would not cause carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount

Australian Channelg business

The goodwill in this CGU arose as a result of the acquisition of UK TV on 1 July 2008 Cash flow
projections used in the recoverable amount calculation are based on financial budgets approved by
management covering an 8 year penod (2009 3 year period) and a discount rate of 13 7% (2009 15 2%)
UK TV's cash flows beyond the 8 year period (2009 3 year perniod) are extrapolated using an expected
growth rate of 2% (2009 20 0% n the first year, 15% n the second year, 10% n the fourth year, 5 0% in
the fifth year and 2% for each year thereafter) These growth rates assume a modest growth of subscribers
per external sources (Informa) and contractual rates remaining in place The cash flow projections are
consistent with the business acquisition pians The change in projection period and growth rate since the
prior year end follows a full financial year of ownership and revised business plans being approved by
management during the year

The main assumption on which the forecast cash flows were based I1s license fee rates In forming its
assumptions about license fee rates, the Group has used a combination of long term trends and recent
contracted terms

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which UK TV's
recoverable amount 1s based would not cause UK TV’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount
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9b  Goodwill (continued)

Audiobooks business
At the 31 March 2010 the Audiobooks business s held for sale and the goodwill has been transferred to
disposal group assets (see note 21)

At the prior year end the goodwill in the Audiobooks business was tested for imparrment The recoverable
amount calcutation used cash flow projections based on the business plan approved by management
covering a 6 year period and a discount rate of 15 6% The calculation required a 10 year projection penod
to fully assess the impact of a format change within the industry and a gradual transition to digital content
delivery which 1s expected to impact the business substantially beyond the near term  Audiobooks’ cash
flows beyond the 6 year period were extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate This growth rate did not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the market in which Audiobooks operates

The main assumptions on which the forecast cash flows were based were US market growth and
penetration and the rate at which physical revenues switch to a digital revenue stream

Values chosen for expected US market growth and penetration were validated by external consultancy
work

The rate at which physical revenues are expected to become digital revenue streams was determined in
line with past experience, adjusted for management's expectations for the future

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the
Audiobooks business recoverable amount 1s based would not cause carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount

UK Magazines business

The goodwill In this CGU arose as a result of the transfer of the BBC-branded titles from Ongin Publishing
Lunited to Bristol Magazines Limited in 3 May 2006 Cash flow projections used in the recoverable amount
calculation are based on the current business plan approved by management covering a 3 year period
{2009 3 year penod) and a discount rate of 18 5% (2009 21 5%) UK Magazines' cash flows beyond the 3
year period are extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate (2009 2% growth rate) The calculation
required a 10 year projection penod to fully assess revised advertising forecasts and circulation trends in
the magazines sector Further cash flows beyond this 10 year penod have neot been extrapolated

The main assumption on which the forecast cash flows were based 1s advertising revenue growth An
estimation of advertising revenue growth was ascertained based on past expenence adjusted for current
economic conditions

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the UK

Magazines business' recoverable amount 1s based would not cause carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount
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9c Other intangible fixed assets
2010 Camer
Masthead agreements Software Other* Total
£m fm £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnil 2009 244 67 273 30 614
Addtions - - 49 08 57
Disposals - - 37 - 37)
Transfer to disposa group classified as held for R R _
sale (note 21) ©7n ©7
Exchange adjustment 6.3 18 15 10 106
At 31 March 2010 307 85 293 4.8 733
Amortisation
At 1 April 2009 18 03 169 08 198
Charge for the year 14 04 71 08 97
Dsposals - - 27 - (27)
Transfer to disposa group dassified as held for } _ _
sdle (note 21) e ©6)
Exchange adjustment 07 02 06 03 18
At 31 March 2010 39 09 23 19 280
Net book value
At 31 March 2010 26.8 76 80 29 45 3
2009 Camer
Masthead agreements Software Other” Totd
m fm £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apri 2008 235 - 171 28 434
Addtions on acquisition - 68 - 06 74
Additions - - 128 - 128
Transfer to conpleted assets - - 04 (C4) -
Disposals - - 29 - 29)
Exchange adjustment 09 {01) 01 - 07
At 31 March 2008 244 67 273 30 614
Amortisation
At 1 Apri 2008 06 - 118 02 127
Charge for the year 12 03 50 06 71
mpament chage - - 29 - 29
Disposals - - 29 - {2 9)
At 31 March 2009 18 03 169 as 198
Net bock value
At 31 March 2009 226 64 104 22 416

*Other assets comprise assets under development, advertising relationships and non-compete agreements

Of total software additions recognised dunng the penod, £4 7 milhon {2009 £12 6 millon) related to

internally developed software

buring the year, the Group reviewed the appropriateness of the remaining useful economic lives for its
other intangible assets and no matenal changes were deemed necessary
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9c Other intangible fixed assets (continued)

The additions to carrier agreements, trade name and advertising relationships in the prior year reflect the
acquisition of UK TV (see note 18b) Carner agreements reflect the Group's contractual relatonships with
channel camers Foxtel, Austar and Sky TV The maximum remaining amortisation period of the carrier
agreements I1s 15 years and 3 months at 31 March 2010

The impairment charge of £2 9 million recorded against software in the prior year primarnly related to the
termination of the Kangaroo joint venture The impairment Ioss relating to the Kangaroo joint venture was
included in the loss on termination of businesses n the income statement while the remaining tmpatrment
loss was Included Iin total operating costs

10 Property, plant and equipment

2010 Freehold Short leasehold Pant & Fondures&  Assets under Total
buildngs buldmgs machinery fitbngs  construction

Group £fm fm £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 1 Apnl 2009 02 111 342 103 06 564

Assets acquired In business combination - - 07 - - 07

Additions - 19 29 17 - 65

Disposals - on (7 3} (05) - 79

Transferred to dispesal group dassified

2 held for sale (note 21) - ©7 (0 5) (08) - (20

Exchange adjustment - o 28 08 a5 40

At 31 March 2010 02 121 328 115 1 577

Depreciabon

At 1 Apri 2009 - 39 186 50 - 275

Charge for the year - 12 69 21 - 102

Disposals - ©1) 7 2) (05) - (7 8}

Transferred to disposal group classified ;

as held for sale (note 21) ©4) ©4) 07 (15)

Exchange adjustment - 1) 15 10 - 24

At 31 March 2010 - 45 194 69 - 30.8

Net book value

At 31 March 2010 02 76 13.4 46 11 26.9
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10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2009 Freehold Short leasehold Plant& Fidures & Assets under Total
buildings buidings machinery fitbongs  construction
Group £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnil 2008 02 31 276 62 20 391
Assets acquired 1n business combmation - - 01 - - a1
Addtions - 71 64 33 01 169
Transfer to completed assets - - 11 04 1% -
Disposals - - @31 - - 31
Exchange adjustment - 08 21 04 - 34
At 31 March 2009 02 111 342 10 3 06 564
Depreciabon
At 1 April 2008 - 21 140 35 - 196
Charge for the year - 11 40 12 - 63
Impaiment charge - - 20 - - 20
Disposals - - [0 - - (30
Exchange adjustment - 07 16 03 - 26
At 31 March 2009 - 39 186 50 - 275
Net book value
At 31 March 2009 02 72 15.6 53 06 289
At 31 March 2008 02 10 136 27 20 195

Of the £2 0 millon impawrment charge recorded agamnst plant and machiery dunng the year ended 31
March 2008, £1 0 milion related to the termination of the Kangaroo joint venture (see note 4) This
mmpairment loss was recorded in the Digital Media segment The remaining £1 0 millien related to the write-
down of a programme scheduling system due to obsolescence, this was reflected in the Channels segment
Both assets were wnitten down n full as they were deemed to have negligible value in use or recoverable
amount

At 31 March 2010, the Group has entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of propenty,
plant and equipment amounting te £nil (2009 £0 3 million, 2008 £13 1 milhon)

Tangible fixed assets include the following assets held under finance leases

2010 2000 2008
Plant& Foctures Total Plant& Fixtures & Tol Plant & Fxures & Tdtal

machinery &fittings machinery fittings machinery fitngs
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m m £m
Cost 19 - 19 30 03 33 21 05 26
Acaumulated deprecation (18) - {18) {14) (03) (17) {Q5) 01 (0 6}
Net bock value 01 - 01 16 - 16 16 04 20

Assets held under finance lease and hire purchase arrangements are held in the Australian Travel Guide
business All lease obligations are denominated in Australian dollars Interest rates are fixed at the contract
date All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent
rental payments The farr value of the Group’s lease obligation 1s approximately equal to ther carrying
amount
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10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The minmum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows

Minmum lease payments Present value of lease payments

2010 2008 2008 2010 2008 2008
£m £m £m £m fm fm
Amounts payable under finance leases
Within one year - 14 11 - 14 10
In the second to fifth years inclusive 0.1 04 13 01 03 12
0.1 18 24 01 17 22
less future finance charges - 0 1) (02)
Present vaue of lease obligaions 0.1 17 22
11 Interests in joint ventures
11a Movements in the year
2010 2009
Note £m £m
At 1 April 48 9 65 3
Additions 14a(1) - 68
Share of profit after taxation 268 36
Provision for unrealsed profit - (3 5)
Dwmdends G (33 4)
Exchange adjustment (© 4) 20
Adjustment to reflect effective obhgation 02 16
Reversal of imparrment/mpament) 11a(n) 20 e 1
Decrease in loans 13) -
Reclassification of recoverable loss funding to debtors 07 -
Transfers 11a(m) (39 5) -
Share of joint venture net habilties 11b - {18 4)
At 31 March 30 9 48 9

The above net book value at 31 March 1s presented within

Interests in joint ventures 439 639
Provisions {note 17) {13 0) {20 Q)

30.9 48 9
(iy Additions

Additions In the year ended 31 March 2009 pnimarily related to the investment in UK VOD LLP and the Park
Publishing Partnership

(i) Reversal of impairment/(impairment)

In the year ended 31 March 2009, a £1 9 milion charge was incurred reflecting the write down of Worldwide
Media Limited, a Magazines business, to its recoverable amount The imparrment charge arose as a result
of the downturn in the short-term outlook for the advertising market and the use of cautious medium term
assumptions as a result Recoverable value was based on value in use and was calculated using a
discount rate of 17 0% The impairment loss was included n total operating costs in the income statement

The recoverable amount of this business was based on value in use calculations using cash flow
projections reflecting the entity’'s business plans and growth rates consistent with the long term average
growth rates for the industry

The remairung impairment of £4 2 mithon incurred in the year ended 31 March 2009 related to the Group's
share of UK VOD LLP net assets impairment, with a corresponding impairment reversal of £2 0 million n
the year ended 31 March 2010 when UK VOD LLP sold all of Project Kangaroo's assets to Arqiva (see note
4 for further detail)
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11a Movements in the year (continued)

(1) Transfers
2|entertain Limited became a subsidiary undertaking dunng the year ended 31 March 2010, refer to note
18a for further detail

11b Virgin Media Television and Discovery Communications joint ventures

BBC Worldwide has major partinership deals with Virgin Media Television Limited (‘VMTV'), the content
division of Virgin Media Limited, for the production and marketing of subscription channels in the UK, and
with Discovery Communications Inc (Discovery) for the incorporation and operation of new channels around
the world and provision of new co-production funding for programmes These joint ventures operate under
a number of statutory entities listed in note 28

Certain joint ventures and associates with VMTV and Discovery are loss making and have net abiities In
these cases, the Group has no shareholder or other obligation to fund losses incurred by these entities or to
make good their net habiittes For these equity accounted investments the Group only accounts for its
share of any operating profits or equity once an individual venture attains a positive equity position No
share of fosses (s Included In the financial statements until this point

The group headed by UK Gold Holdings Limited (“UKGH") has been cumulatively profitable each year since
its formation in 1997 but has net habilites The net liabilities are not a result of trading losses but have
ansen entirely from acquisition goodwill written off to reserves in 1997 under UK GAAP Such business
combinations prior to 1 April 2007 have not been restated on transition to IFRS  Prior to 1 April 2008 the
Group had not recognhised a share of UKGH net labilities but instead recorded dividends received These
dividends had approximated to the Group’s share of operating profits From 1 Aprnl 2008 the Group
commenced equity accounting because dividends received were forecast to reduce and no longer
represent a fair reflection of the Group's share of operating profits This resulted n a reserves adjustment of
£19 4 milhon The Directors consider that continuing to fully equity account for the Group's investment in
UKGH s consistent with the Group's long term, constructive commitment to this venture as a result of 1ts
programme content and licensing contractual arrangements In the current year the Group has recognised
£7 0 milhon as its share of prefit for UKGH, carrying forward an amount of £13 0 milhion (2009 £20 muillion)
within provisions (note 17) as the Group's share of net labiities The Group's share of net habilities 1s
anticipated to continue to reduce in future years (net of the Group's share of dividends paid)

11c  Other joint ventures

2|entertain Limited

As at 31 March 2009 the results and financial position of 2lentertain were included using financial
information for the 14 months to 31 March 2009 The change was effected to align 2|entertain’s results with
those of the Group This reflected the Group’s contractual commitment at 31 March 2009 to secure
ownership of the remaining stake in 2|entertain following the insolvency of Woolworths Media Limited

In the year ended 31 March 2010, 2lentertain became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group Please refer
to note 18a for further information on this acquisition

UKVODLLP

UK VOD LLP was created in the year ended 31 March 2008 by BBC Worldwide, ITV and Channel 4 to
develop a new UK on-demand service known to the industry as Kangaroo As detalled in note 4, this
operation was terminated during the prior year, and a charge of £4 2 millon was recorded in the Group's
share of joint ventures’ results, reflecting the Group’s share of the partnership’s net assets iImpairment In
July 2009, UK VOD LLP sold alt of Project Kangarco's assets to Arqiva, and a share of the resultant gatn
was therefore recognised in the Group's share of joint ventures' results

Worldwide Media Limited

in December 2004, BBC Worldwide completed the acquisition of a 50% equity interest in Worldwide Media
Limited, 2 magazine publishing joint venture based in India From December 2009, a put option 1s
exercisable by the Group’s joint venture partner If exercised, this option would require the Group to
increase Its shareholding from 50% to 74%, through the purchase of 24% of its joint venture partner’s
shareholding The consideration payable by the Group under this option 1s dependent on the profitability of
the joint venture

84




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010

11¢  Other joint ventures (continued)

At 31 March 2009, the Group had guaranteed bank loans outstanding in Worldwide Media Limited totalling
Rupees 155 million (£2 1 million) {2008 Rupees 155 million, £2 0 milion) These loans were fully repaid in
the year and no such guarantee s outstanding at 31 March 2010

Freehand International Pty Limited
A put option 1s also held by the Group's joint venture partners in Freehand International Pty Limited which
may require the Group to increase its shareholding from 37 5% up to 100% between 2012 and 2013

Ragdoll Developments Limited

In April 2006, BBC Worldwide entered into an agreement with Ragdoll Limited to form two joint venture
companies, Ragdoll Worldwide Holdings Limited and Ragdoll Developments Limited, which were both 50%
owned by BBC Worldwide The purpose of the joint ventures was to exploit and manage existing Children’s
intellectual properties and to invest in the development of new intellectual property nghts

At 31 March 2010, these joint ventures were restructured such that Ragdcll Developments Limited wholly
owns Ragdoll Worldwide Holdings Limited Ragdoll Developments Limited remains 50% owned by each of
BBC Worldwide and Ragdoll Limited

The Group has exercised an option to cease providing funding to Ragdoll Developments Limited from 31
March 2010 At 31 March 2009, the Group had a commitment to provide further loan funding of £1 3 million
to Ragdoll Developments Limited The loan funding was interest bearing at a variable rate of LIBOR plus a
margin of 1%

11d Further disclosures in respect of joint ventures

Representing the Group's share of each joint venture

2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m

Non-cument assets 217 259 176
Cument assets 987 162 1 178 3
Cument liabilities (387} (93 0) (110.2)
Non-current habilities (80 4) (88 6) (84 3)
Net assets 13 64 14
Adjustment to reflect effective obligation 249 228 25
Group's share of joint ventures' net assets 262 29 2 43 9
Revenues 1859 2990 2746
Expenses (159 5) (269 1} {(2326)
Adjustment to reflect effective obligation 02 16 38
Group'’s share of joint ventures' profit for the year 266 315 458
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12 Interests in associated undertakings

12a Movements in the year

2010 2009

Note £m £m

At 1 April 118 39
Additions 12a(n o7 10 2
Share of profit after taxation 69 (6 3)
Adjustment to provision for unrealised profit 04 (0 5)
Dvidends (5 6) (3 6)
Exchange adjustment - (0 2)
Adjustment to reflect effective obligation 52 00
Impairment 12a(1) {0 6} (0 4)
Transfer to Held for Sale (note 21) {7 2) -
Ehmination of post acquisition reserves - {13)
At 31 March 116 118

{1) Additions
Additions during the year relate to the acquisition of minonty shareholdings in GP Media S A and Tower
Productions GmbH (see note 18a)

Additions during the year ended 31 March 2009 related to the acguisition of minonty shareholdings in
Clerkenwell Films Limited, Hardy Pictures Limited, Plain Vanilla Productions LLP, Big Talk Productions
Limited, Baby Cow Productions Limited, Sprout Pictures (TV) Limited and Temple Street Productions inc
(see note 18b) In addition, during the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group acquired the remaining 80%
of the issued share capital of UK TV Pty Limited (*UK TV"} The Group previously held a 20% interest in
UK TV (see note 18b)

(if) Impairment
During the current year Plain Vanilla Productions LLP ceased trading As a result the Group's investment
in Plain Vanilla Productions LLP was fully written off

12b Discovery Communications

BBC Worldwide has major partnership deals with Discovery Communications for the incorporation and
operation of new channels around the world and provision of new co-production funding for programmes
These allances operate under a number of statutory entities hsted below, all of which are associated
undertakings

Name of entity

Animal Planet (Latin America) LLC
People & Arts (Latin Amenca} LLC

JV Network LLC

Animal Planet (Asia) LLC

The Animal Planet Europe Partnership
Antmal Planet Japan LLP

Animal Planet Japan KK

Animal Planet Canada Company ULC

Under the terms of the agreements with Discovery, the Group has no obligation to fund losses incurred by
the entities or to make good their net habiities As a result, the Group does not share 1n losses of the
relevant entittes and accordingly no share of losses 1s included in the financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2010 (2009 £nil) The Group 1s enfitled to its share of any profits or net assets once the
ventures’ cumulative profits exceed cumulative losses since incorporation, with the exception of JV Network
LLC JV Network LLC was formed for the purpose of providing debt funding from Discovery to the other
Discovery joint ventures and BBC Worldwide 1s not entitled to any profits ansmg within this entity
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12b Discovery Communications (continued)

During the pnor year, the Animal Planet Europe Partnership achieved a net assets position and the Group
has recognised a £5 0 million share of operating profit for the period ended 31 March 2009 Due to the
matenality of the entity's results, its profit and net assets have since been recorded and disclosed in all
penods reported to 31 March The remaining Discovery entittes continue to be presented based on results
for the year to 31 December This has no impact on the Group results as these entities have not yet
reached a net assets position and are therefore not equity accounted

12¢ Other associated undertakings

The Group also has partnership deals with Canwest Global Communications (“Canwest”) Under the terms
of the agreements with Canwest, the Group has no obligation to fund losses incurred by the entities or to
make good their net habiiies As a result, the Group does not share in losses of the relevant entities and
accordingly no share of losses 15 included in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010
(2009 £nil) The Group i1s entitied to its share of any profits or net assets once the ventures' cumulative
profits exceed cumulative losses since incorporation,

In addition to the arrangements with Discovery and Canwest, BBC Worldwide has other associated
undertakings that are equity accounted These are listed in note 28

While the Group holds only 15% of the voting power of Hardy Pictures Limited and 15% of both Educational
Publishers LLP and Woodlands Books Limited, it has been concluded that the Group has significant

influence over the businesses This 1s because the Group has Board representation and participates in
policy-making decisions

12d Further disclosures in respect of associated undertakings

Representing a 100% share of each associated undertaking

2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m
Aggregated amounts relating to associates
Total assets 1540 168 9 188 1
Total habiliies (519 2) (545 9) {396 5)
Net liahilties (365 2) (377 0) (208 4)
Group's share of associates' net habihties (19) (18) (02)
Revenues 1869 1311 1322
Profit/{loss) for the year 142 (18 2) (8 B)
Group's share of associates' profit for the year 125 30 13
13 Available-for-sale investment
2010 2009
£m £m
Cost
At 1 April 40 472
Exchange adjustment - (02)
At 31 March 40 40
Provisicn
At 1 April (4 0) (15)
Charge for the year - (27)
Exchange adjustment - 02
At 31 March 40 (40)

Netbook value
At31 March - -
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13 Available-for-sale investment (continued)

The available-for-sale investment relates to the Group's 20% unquoted mnvestment in the ordinary share
capital of Radio Mid-Day (West) India PVT Limited, a company registered in India  The principal activity of
the company Is to obtain and operate FM radio licences n India During the prior year, the Directors
reassessed the carrying value of the Group’s investment based on its future business plan and recorded an
additional provision of £2 7 million to reduce the carrying value of the investment to £l This assessment
reflected difficult challenging local and global market conditions Recoverable amount calculations were
based on value in use and using a discount rate of 16 1% The year ended 31 March 2010 has seen no
change n this assessment The prior year impamrment loss was reflected in the Sales and Distnibution
divisien

This investment 1s classified as availlable-for-sale as the Group has no significant influence over the

company This Is because the Group does not have Board representation and has imited influence due to
Indian regulations applicable to foreign investors

14 Programme rights and other inventories

2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m

Programme nghts for broadcasting 394 329 214
Raw matenals and consumables 14 23 15
Work in progress 75 61 59
Finished goods and goods for resale 243 106 130
726 519 418

Within finished goods and goods for resale i1s inventory of £4 9 million (2008 £6 7 milllon, 2008 £58
million), relating to the Australian Travel Guide business, which 1s expected to be sold more than 12 months
after the balance sheet date in accordance with the entity’s normal operating cycle

15 Trade and other receivables

2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m
Current
Trade receivables 130 0 1109 107 4
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiary undertak ings 63 140 38
Amounts owed by associates and joint ventures (note 28) 27 0 407 329
Other recevables 173 77 78
Prepayments and accrued income - other 379 262 201
Prepayments and accrued income - BBC 12 88 48

2197 208 3 176 8

Nor-current
Amounts owed by associates and joint ventures (note 26) 57 28 43
Cther recewables 10 06 13

67 34 56
Total trade and other receivables 226 4 2117 182 4

The net carrying amount of trade and cother recevables 1s approximately equal to their far value Included
In prepayments and accrued income {other) are £16 5 milton of advance royalties which have ansen as a
result of the 2tentertain acquisition

Included n the Group’s trade and other receivables at 31 March 2010, are balances of £16 2 million {2009
£32 6 milion, 2008 £24 7 milien) which are past due at the reporting date but not impaired because the
Group expects to recover these balances in full and has historicat analysis to support the recovery profile
The aged analysis of these balances s as follows
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15 Trade and other receivables {continued)

Trade recevables past due but notimpared 2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m

Upto 3 months 140 274 225
3to 6 months 19 25 07
Over 6 months 03 27 15
16 2 326 247

In determining the recoverahility of a trade receivable the Group considers any change n the credit quality
of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date The Group has
provided fully for all receivables over 120 days because historical expenence i1s such that receivables that
are past due beyond 120 days are generally not recoverable Trade recewables between 30 days and 120
days are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts, determined by reference to past default
expenence of the counterparty and an analysis of the counterparty’s financial situaton The concentration
of credit nsk 1s imited due to the customer base being large and unrelated (see note 24a)

Credit risk 1s managed locally through the entities in the geographies where the Group operates At 31
March 2010, 77% of the Group’s trade receivables are with customers within Europe (2009 75%, 2008
76%) This 1s expected to reduce over time in ine with the Group's focus on further overseas expansion

There are no significant impairment provisions relatng to an individual debtor Amounts charged to the
imparrment provision are written off when there 1s no expectation of recovery Subsequent recovenes of
amounts previously written off are credited to the Income Statement The impairment provision stands at
£6 3 millron at 31 March 2010 (2009 £7 7 million, 2008 £1 9 mullion)

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts 1s set out below

2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m
Balance &t the beginning of the peried 77 19 15
Addition due to agquisition of subsidiary 11 - -
Impaiment losses recogrused 21 65 13
Amounts wntten off as uncollectible (0 8) 05) (VR3]
Impairment losses reversed (3 8) - -
Exchange differences on revaluation - 02) 04
Balance at the end ofthe pencd 63 77 19
16 Trade and other payables

2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m
Current
Trade creditors 66 6 550 613
Rights creditors 83 4 385 351
Amounts owed to the BBC 256 416 319
Amounts owed to intermediate parent undertaking - 01 -
Amounts owed to fellow subsidiary undertakings 33 94 22
Amounts owed to associates and jont ventures (note 26) 23 70 25
Other creditors including cther taxes and social secunty 586 578 497
Accruals and deferred ncome 120 2 878 817

3600 297 2 264 4

Nor-current
Cther creditors including cther taxes and social secunty 35 - -
Accruals and deferred ncome 23 23 18

58 23 18
Total trade and other payables 365 8 2995 266 2
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16 Trade and other payables

Rights creditors compnse royalty payments owing to contrnibutors to television programmes, DVDs and
other media Other creditors include a £37 8 milion (2009 £32 3 mullion, 2008 £31 0 million) hability in
relation to a put option over 25% of the 1ssued share capital of Lonely Planet (see note 18¢) The increase
in the put option hability since the previous year-end date 15 due to exchange rate movements, as the
rability 1s denominated in Australian dollars, and the unwinding of the discount with the passage of ime

The carrying amount of trade and other payables 1s approximately equal to therr fair value

17 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Property Share of jomnt Other Total
provisions venture net  provisions
Lhabilities

£m £m £m £m

At 1 April 2008 08 - 15 23
Provided during the year 12 - 0% 21
Share of UKGH nethabilities (see note 11b) - 200 - 200
Released in the year - - (14) (14)
Utilrsed in the year {08) - (01) (09)
At 31 March 2009 12 200 09 221
Provided during the year 01 - 08 10
Share of UKGH profits (see note 11b) - 7 0} - (7 0}
Acquisitions 086 - - 06
Released in the year - - (09) (09)
At 31 March 2010 19 130 09 158

Other provisions primanly comprise litigation provisions

Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows

2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m

Cument 09 09 23
Non-current 149 212 -

The Group has a number of contingent kabiities arising fram htigation as a result of activities undertaken in
its ordinary course of business BBC Worldwide makes specific provision for the best estimate of any
damages and costs which might be awarded Prowviston I1s only made to the extent that the Drrectors
consider it probable that there will be an outflow of economic benefits and the amount can be reliably
estimated

Further deferred contingent consideration may be payable 1n connection with acquisitions made by the
Group No provision has been made where the ikehhood and magnitude of additional payments cannot be
assessed with reasonable certainty

The Group and scme of its fellow BBC Commercial Holdings subsidianies have given guarantees in relation
to the BBC Commercial Holdings Limited revolving credit facihty agreement At 31 March 2010, total
amounts drawn down by the BBC Comrercial Holdings Group under this facility were £211 7 million (2009
£243 5 million, 2008 £170 6 millon)
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18 Acquisitions
18a Current year acquisitions

2jentertain

On 6 August 2009 the Group gained control of 2|entertain and from this date consolidated its results and
financia! position  Prior to 6 August 2009 the Group equity accounted for 2jentertain in ltne with its 60%
ownership and joint control of the entity The purchase followed the Group’s joint venture partner entenng
administration and the Group exercising its call option over the joint venture partner's shares The
purchase was completed on 1 March 2010 when the Group acquired the remaining 40% of 2[entertain

shares

The adjustments required to the book values of the assets and liabilites of 2|entertain in order to present
the net assets at fair value under the accounting policies of the Group were a reduction of £13 8 million

These are set out below

Book value Fair value adjustments Fair value
£m £m £m

Non-current assets
Programme investments 13 8 (13 8) -
Property, plant and equipment 07 - 07
Current assets
Inventories 137 - 137
Trade and other receivables 18 7 - 187
Advances 167 . 157
Other current assets 81 - 81
Denvative financial instruments 05 - 05
Cash and cash equivalents 405 - 405
Total assets 1M17 (13.8) 979
Current liabilties
Trade payables (6 9) - (69)
Royalty creditors (39 6) - (39 6)
Accruals and deferred ncome (24 9) - {24 9)
Total habilites (71 4) - (71 4)
Net assets acquired 40 3 (138) 265
Less investmentin joint venture already {159)
owned
Goodwill 99
Purchase consideration and costs of
acquisition 205
Satisfied by
Cash consideration 170
Costs of acquisition 35
Total 205

Following the Group’s joint venture partner entering administration, the hcence agreement covering
2jentertain’s nght to distnbute BBC programme investments terminated This termination, and the Group's
call option, were challenged by the administrators of the Group's joint venture partner and were
subsequently upheld by the High Court and Court of Appeal As a result the programme investments were
considered to have a £nil market value and were written down accordingly The Court also ruled that the
consideration paid by the Group for the remaining 40% stake should be a fair value reflecting the
termination of this licence agreement On this basis, the Group subsequently agreed with the

administrators the pnce paid of £17 0 million
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18a Current year acquisitions (continued)

A consistent approach 1s undertaken at each acquisition to identify the fair value of the separable assets
and liabiities acquired The residual goodwill on acquisiton for 2|entertain principally represents the value
of the assembled workforce and the transfer of their knowledge of the operation This does not form a
separable asset under IFRS 3 but is nonetheless expected to contnbute to the future results of the Group

2lentertain contributed £30 2 million to operating profit for the period between the date of acquisition and 31
March 2010

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 Apnil 2009, management estimates that Group revenue (excluding the
Group's share of joint ventures’ revenue) would be £49 0 milion higher at £937 3 million Its contribution to
Group profit attributable to equity holders for the year ended 31 March 2010 would have been £10 0 million,
giving nse to Group profit before tax of £1304 millon This information takes account of the profit
recognised while the investment was a joint venture of the Group and should not be viewed as indicative of
the results of operations that would have cccurred If the acquisition had actually been completed on 1 April
2009

Content & Production acquisitions — Minority shareholdings

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group's Content & Productien business acquired minorty
shareholdings in GP Media S A (registered in Argentina) and Tower Productions GmbH (registered n
Germany)

The Group's 35% shareholding in GP Media S A and 49% shareholding in Tower Productions GmbH were
acquired on 14 QOctober 2009 and 23 March 2010 respectively for a total consideration of £0 7 millon No
fair value adjustments were required Goodwill of £0 7 milllon arose on acquisition representing the skills of
the entities’ workforce

In accordance with JAS 28 Investment in Assocrates both of the acquired minority shareholdings have been
assessed as associated undertakings

18b Prior year acquisitions

UK.TV

On 1 July 2008 the Group acquired the remaining 80% of UK TV, registered in Australia, for a total cash
consideration of AU$312 milion {(£15 1 million) UK TV operates a television channe! showing British
television content in Australia and New Zealand This transaction has been accounted for by the purchase
method of accounting The Group previously held a 20% interest in UK TV upon which no goodwill was
recognised

The business was acquired to provide a platform for the launch of BBC-branded channels in Austratia and
to participate fully in a channel largely broadcasting BBC content
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18b Prior year acquisitions (continued)

The tota! adjustments required to the book values of the assets and habihties of UK TV in order to present
the net assets of those companies at far value and under the accounting policies of the Group were £3 4
milhon These are set out below

Fair value and accounting

Book value policy alignments Fair value
1) {2)
£m £m £m

Non-current assets
Intangible assets - 59 59
Property, plant and equipment 01 - 01
Current assets
Stock/inventones 45 (16} 29
Trade and other recewvables 15 - 15
Cash and cash equivalents 15 - 15
Other current assets 01 - 01
Total assets 77 4.3 12.0
Current habiities
Trade and other payables (2 5) 10 (15)
Cument tax liabihties {0 1} - (01)
Non-current habilites
Deferred tax habtlities {10} (19) (29)
Total habiities (3 6) (09) (4 5)
Net assets acquired 41 34 75
Goodwill 76
Purchase consideration and costs of acquisition 151

1 The book values of the assets and liabilities have been taken from the management accounts of UK TV at 1 July 2008 (the date
of acquisition) at the actual exchange rates used to settle the consideration on that date

2 The pnncipal farr value adjustments relate to the recognition of £5 9 million of intangible assets i respect of UK TV's carmer
agreements, advertising relationships and trade name An associated deferred tax liabiity of £1 9 million has also been
recognised Programme commitments of £1 6 milion have been disclosed separately This has resulted n a reclassification
between stock and other payables

The goodwill arising on acquisition s attributable to the value of the uncommitted workforce

UK TV contributed £11 2 million to revenue and £2 7 million to profit before tax for the period between the
date of acquisition and 31 March 2009

if the acquisition had occurred on 1 Apnl 2008, management estimates that its contnbution to Group
revenues for the year ended 31 March 2009 would have been £14 1 million Its contribution to Group profit
attributable to equity holders for the year ended 31 March 2009 would have been £35 millon This
information takes into account profits recogmised while the investment was an associate of the Group and
the amortisation of acquired intangible assets together with related income tax effects and should not be
viewed as indicative of the results of operations that would have occurred if the acquisitions had actually
been completed on 1 Apnl 2008 In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the far
value adiustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition
occurred on 1 Aprnil 2008

The Group previously held a 20% interest in UK TV In line with IFRS 3 an adjustment of £0 6 million has
been recorded in retained earnings to reflect the increase in stake
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18b Prior year acquisitions (continued)

Content & Production acquisitions — Minority shareholdings

During the prior year, the Group’s Content & Production business acquired minerity shareholdings in the
entittes listed below (all registered in the United Kingdom unless otherwise stated) In accordance with /AS
28 Investment in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures, all of the acquired minonty
shareholdings have been assessed as asscciated undertakings with the exception of Freehand
International Pty Limited, which has been assessed as a joint venture

Profit/(loss)
after tax in last
Shareholding Financal financial year -
acquired Date acquired year-end 2008
Clerkenwelt Fiims Limited 25% 4 Apnl 2008 March 06
Hardy Fictures Limited 15% 23 May 2008 March 012
Big Takk Productions Limited 25% 28 August 2008 Jure NA 1
Plan Vanlla Productions LLP 25% 31 October 2008 Apnl NA 1
Baby Cow Productions Linted 25% 27 November 2008 March 08
3
Temple Street Productions Inc (regstered in Canada) 25% 18 December 2008 August N/A
Sprout Pictures (TV) Limited 25% 30 January 2009 March 01
Freehand Internattona Pty Limited (regstered in
Austraha)” 13% 4 March 2009 June (01)

* 25% previously owned

1 No histoncal resuits as entities are start-ups
2 2007 year-end

3 No information available

The minority stakes were acquired to diversify BBC Worldwide's supply chain and provide content for the
Group's distribution channels

The total adjustments required to the book values of the assets and liabihties of the companies listed above
in order to present the Group's share of net assets of those companies at fair value and under the IFRS
accounting policies of the Group were £0 1 millon The Group's share of the fair value of assets acquired
was £3 6 million, and the Group's share of the far value of habihties acquired was £3 2 millon £10 4 million
of goodwilt was recognised, on a censideration including costs of £10 4 millien

The goodwill recognised on acquisition 1s attnbutable to the anticipated profitabiity of content to be
produced

Of the total cash consideration stated above, £0 9 million 1s payable n future years £05 million 1s
contingent consideration relating to the acquisition of Baby Cow Productions Limited

The Content & Production acquisitions had a negligible impact on profit after tax for the penod between the
date of acquisition and 31 March 2009

The Group previously held a 25% interest in Freehand International Pty Limited The carrying value of this
interest at 4 March 2009 was £0 7 million {including goodwill of £0 6 millien) This was equivalent to farr
value at 4 March 2009 Goodwill of £0 1 milion arose on acquisiion of the additional 12 5% interest,
bringing the total carrying value of goodwill to £0 7 million
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18¢c 2008 acquisition

On 1 October 2007 the Group acquired 75% of the 1ssued share capital of Lonely Planet Publications Pty
Limited and Lonely Planet Publications Inc (together, “Lonely Planet™), registered in Australia and the USA
respectively for a total cash consideration of £899 million Intangibles recognised on acquisitton are
included in note ¢

On initial recognition of the investment in Lonely Planet a liability was recognised in respect of a put option
over an equity interest of up to 25% of the share capital of Lonely Planet, which was exercisable by the
minonty shareholders for a penod of 25 months from the 1 October 2007 acquisition date  This other entry
for this hability was recogmsed within equity and not as part of the cost of investment as the minonty
shareholders were deemed to have retained the rnisks and rewards of ownership for their 25% shareholding

On 7 October 2008, the terms of the put option were renegotiated The put option over 25% of the share
capital of Lonely Planet 1s now exercisable by the minonty shareholders for a fixed amount from 1 January
2011 to 27 October 2012 This renegotiation has resulted in the onginal liability being de-recognised and a
new labiity based upon the revised option terms being recorded The revised amount 18 similarly
recognised within equity as 1t 1s considered that the minonty shareholders continue to retain the risks and
rewards of ownership Prospective changes to the farr value of the put option hability other than m relation
to changes in foreign exchange rates continue to be recorded in the income statement within financing
income and financing costs

The carrying value of the option In equity at the date of its renegotiation was £36 9 millon This was
derecognised and the revised option recorded 1in equity with a discounted value of £33 0 million, a reduction
of £3 9 mihen  The total foreign exchange movement charged to equity in the year In respect of these
options was £7 9 milion

19 Called up share capital

2000 2009 2008
£m Em fm
Autherised
1,000,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each 10 10 10
lssued, dlotted, called up and fully pard
250,000 Ordrary shares of £1 each 02 02 02
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20 Capital and reserves

Retained earnings

At 31 March 2010, the cumulative goodwill written off to reserves on acquisitions prior to 1 April 1998
amounted to £14 2 million This amount 1s unchanged on pricr year and remains in equity upon transition
to IFRS as permitted by IFRS 1 Furst time adopiton of IFRS (see note 29a)

Translation reserve

Since 1 Apnil 2008 £3 6 million of exchange losses on foreign currency borrowings have been offset in
reserves against exchange gains on the related investment in overseas subsidianes The net investment
hedge was discontinued from September 2008 following the settlement of the associated foreign currency
barrowings

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve I1s used to record the effective portion of the cumulative net change n the fair value of
cash flow hedging instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred (net of tax)

Other reserves

Other reserves comprises a put option over 25% of the 1ssued share capital of Lonely Planet, which 1s
exercisable by the minonty shareholders from 1 January 2011 to 27 October 2012 (see note 18¢)

Minonrity interests
Minority interests relate to Lonely Planet (25%) and Bedder 6 Limited (50%)

21 Held for sale

Assets held for sale comprise

2010 2009 2008
Note £m £m £m
Investment in associates 12 72 - -
Disposal group assets 21b 228 - -
Assets held for sale 300 - -
Liabilities held for sale compnse
2010 2009 2008
Note £m £m £m
Disposal group habilibes 21b (12 4) - -
Liabilities held for sale (12 4) - -

21a Animal Planet

During the year the Group took the decision to dispose of its 50% interest in Animal Planet Europe and has
classified this associate as an asset held for sale The asset 1s carned at £7 2 million at 31 March 2010 and
the investment 1s disclosed in the Channels operating segment (hote 2)

21b  Audiobooks

The Audiobocks business classified within the Home Entertainment operating segment (note 2) 1s
presented as a disposal group held for sale at 31 March 2010 This follows the decision taken by
management in September 2009 to sell the business
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21b Audiobooks (continued)

At 31 March 2010 the disposal group comprises assets of £22 8 miliion less habihties of £12 4 million as

detailed below

2010
£m

Non-current assets

Programme nghts for distnbution
Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Property, ptant and equipment

Current assets

Programme nghts and other inventones
Trade and other recevables

Cash and cash equivalents

02
45
01
04

24
69
83

Disposal group assets

228

2010
£m

Current habilties
Trade and other payables
Current tax iabilities

(12 1)
{03

Disposal group hiabthtes

(12 4)

22 Commitments

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure and other financial commitments not provided comprise

2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m

Capital com mitments
Programme nghts for distnbution 392 47 0 585
Property, plant and equipment - 03 130
Software 0.8 - -
Other financial commitments
Programme nghts for broadcast 105 88 44
Other commitments 34.2 13 4 123
Total 847 695 882

The Group's share of commitments for programme acquisitions and broadcasting commitments in respect
of its UKTV joint ventures, amount to £10¢ 3 million and £40 1 million respectively (2009 £6 9 million and
£26 9 milhion) Details of other financial commitments in respect of joint ventures are given in note 11

Details of the put option held by the minonty interest shareholders in Lonely Planet are given in note 16
The value of put options Issued to other minority interest shareholders and exercisable in the future has
been recognised at 31 March 2010 but did not have a matenal effect on the Group balance sheet at that

date
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23 Operating lease commitments

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future mmimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows

2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m

Within one year 129 101 89
In the second to fifth years inclusive 348 294 334
After five years 157 234 02
634 629 42 5

The majonty of operating leases relate to property The rent payable under these leases I1s subject to
renegotiation at the various intervals specified in the leases

24 Financial instruments

24a Financial risk management

In the normal course of its activities, the Group 1s exposed to a vanety of financial nsks, including currency
nsk, interest rate nsk, hquidity nisk and credit nsk BBC Worldwide takes a nsk averse approach to cash
and Treasury management activites and seeks to minimise the Group’s exposure to volatiity in the
financial markets The Group uses denvative financial instruments to hedge certain nsk exposures in
accerdance with its hedging policy

The Group's financial nsk management operations are managed internally by BBC Worldwide Group
Treasury, with trade execution carned out by BBC Group Treasury All treasury activities are governed
within parameters defined formally in the policies agreed by the BBC Executive Board and BBC Worldwide
Board In addition, treasury activities are routinely reported and are subject to review by management

The Group’s financial instruments, other than those used for treasury risk management purposes,
prncipally comprise cash and cash equivalents, a debt faciity prowided by its parent, external borrowings
and varnous tems such as trade receivables and payables that anse directly from its operations The
Group finances its operations from these financial instruments The Group does not undertake speculative
treasury transactions

Market risk
Market risk compnises currency risk, interest rate nsk and other price risks

1 Currency nsk

Over the past few years, BBC Worldwide has increasingly expanded internationally and as a result 15
exposed to foreign exchange nsk arising from various currency exposures, principally in relaton to the US
dollar, the Eurc and the Australian dollar The Group generates a surplus in most currencies in which it
operates The Group’s share of income generated outside the UK was 54 6% in 2010 versus 51 3% in 2009

Foreign exchange transaction rnisk anses from recognised assets and labilities and forecast future
commercial transactions that are dencminated in a currency that 1s not the transacting entity's functional
currency Due to movements in exchange rates over time, the amount the Group expects to receive or pay
when it enters into a transaction may differ from the amount that it actually receives or pays when it settles
the transaction A small proportion of related operating expenses will also be denominated in these foreign
currencies providing some level of offset to these revenue exposures

The Group takes a nsk averse approach to the management of foreign currency trading and has
implemented a clear hedging policy to mimimise volatiity in the financial results A substantial proportion of
foreign currency trading 1s hedged Forward currency contracts allow the Group to settle transactions at
known exchange rates, thereby eliminating much of this uncertainty
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The overall cost of these contracts in the income statement 1s therefore fixed, however where these contracts
span financial years and hedge accounting is not applied, the farr value of the forward currency contracts
results 1n timing gains/losses in each financial year The gains/losses seen are therefore a result of market
conditions as opposed to vanances in contract value

Some contracts may contain clauses whereby changes In currency rates outside an agreed range impact on
the contract price, in the majonity of cases the value of the individual contracts and other features within the
centract limit the currency nsk exposure to a level that is not significant to the Group Such clauses have
been separated from the host contracts and recorded as embedded derivatives The movement in farr values
in these denvatives 1s recorded through the income statement at 31 March 2010 Please refer to the analysis
in note 24d for movements on such dervatives

Foreign exchange translation risk anses from the retranslation of overseas subsidiaries income statements
and balance sheets into stering This translation currency risk may be hedged by funding overseas
investments with loans In the same functional currency as the overseas investment No such net investment
hedges were in place at 31 March 2010 (2009 £nil) In the current and comparative year, the majority of the
Group’ currency derivative contracts were not designated for hedge accounting under IAS 39 and as a resuit
farr value movements have been recorded principally through the mncome statement Please also refer to
section 24d

The following table shows the profit or loss and equity impact of a 10% adverse movement in currency
rates on the Group's denvative financial instruments

Derwvative Financial instruments 2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m
Forward foreign currency contracts (29) (10 7) (37)
Cumency options 01 (0 2) -
Embedded dervatives (14) (2 9) -
{42) (13 8) 37)

Impacting
Income statement (40) {13 8) 37)
Equity (02) - -
(42) {13 8) 37)

The same movement in currency rates would result in an income statement loss of £5 5 million (2009 £4 4
million loss, 2008 £8 2 million loss) in respect of the Group's interest bearing loans and borrowings, and an
Income statement loss of £4 2 million (2009 £3 6 milbon loss, 2008 £3 4 million loss) in respect of other
financial habilities at fair value through profit and loss

2 Interest rate risk

The Group’s main exposure to interest rate fluctuations arises on external interest bearing labilities and
loans from its parent undertakings BBC Worldwide borrows at floating rates of interest creating an
exposure to cashflow interest rate nsk BBC Worldwide then use mterest rate swaps, caps and collars to
generate the desired interest profile and to manage the Group's exposure to interest rate fluctuations The
Group uses Interest rate swaps to fix interest rates so that certainty about the level of future interest
payments can be achieved Interest rate swaps, caps and collars are taken out based on projected
borrowing requirements, therefore differences will occur between the notional amount of swaps, caps and
collars and the actual borrowing requirements

The profit or loss and equity impact of a 1% increase in interest rates on the Group's financial habilities
would be a far valuation loss of £0 9 million (2009 £1 7 million, 2008 £0 6 million)

3 Other price nsk

Other price nsk I1s any price change other than those ansing from changes in currency or interest rates
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Credit risk

Credit nsk 1s the nsk of financial loss to the Group If a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations Credit nsk anses from cash and cash equivalents, dervative financial
instruments, available-for-sale financial assets and trade and other receivables Group treasury polictes
require that cash and cash equivalents and denvative financial instruments are held primanly with banks of
A+ rating or better

The Group's credit nsk management policy 1n relation to trade receivables involves regularly assessing the
financial rehability of customers, taking into account several factors such as ther financial position and
historical performance Despite the existence of some key customers in major geographies, there I1s no
maternal concentration of credit nisk with respect to trade receivables as the Group has a large number of
customers, geographically dispersed Credit terms, where given, are generally for a 30-day period The
carrying amount of financial assets (ncluded 1n the financial statements represents the Group's maximum
exposure to credit nsk In relation to these assets

The Group's other classes of financial assets do not contain impaired assets and are not past due

Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk 1s the nsk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due BBC
Worldwide s subject to ceilings imposed on its borrowings by BBC Group, which in turn 1s subject to limits
set by the Secretary of State in accordance with the Agreement between the BBC and the Department for
Culture, Media and Sport At 31 March 2010, the net debt imit imposed by BBC Group on BBC Worldwide
was £118 0 million (2009 £118 0 milhion), with a gross debt imit of £168 0 million subject to corresponding
cash balances being held These imits are subject to review going forward

BBC Woridwide’s loan with the European Investment Bank (“EIB"} 1s subject to debt covenants based on
the Group's earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation, and in additton excluding
charges ansing from business disposals or restructuning (‘EBITDA") The covenants, which have been met
throughout the year are

- Net borrowings not to exceed three times EBITDA, and

- EBITDA to exceed three times net interest cost

The Group 1s also active In monitoring its debt covenants which have been met at 31 March 2010

In order to comply with these celings together with the terms of any individual debt instruments, BBC
Worldwide manages 1ts liquidity through a number of measures, including regular cash flow reporting,
forecasting, hedging against foreign exchange fluctuations and proactively managing working capital

The table below analyses the Group's financial habiities into relevant matunty groupings based on the
remaining period to contractuval matunty at the balance sheet date The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows and will therefore not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on
balance sheet for borrowings, dervative financial instruments and trade and other payables

2010 - Liquidity Risk Analysis
Amounts
Amounts Amounts Amounts due after
due nless due ini to duein 2 to mere than

than {1 year 2 years 3dyears 3years Total
£m £m £m fm £m
Financil labihities at far value through profit and loss
Denvative financial instruments (50) {35 {0 8) 27 (12 0}
Embedded derivatives - - ©2) an 13)
Cther creditors {40 6) - (35 - (44 1)
Financal liabilittes measured at amortised cost
Bank loans {0 3) (20 3) {30 0) - (50 6)
Loans owed to intermediate parent undertaking {93) (328) {64 0) 26) (108 7)
Obhgatiens under finance leases - (o1 - - © 1)
Trade and other payables (exciuding deferred income}) (245 3) - - - (245 3)
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2009 - Liquidity Risk Analysis

Amounts
Amounts Amounts Amounts due after
due inless due in1to duein2to morethan
than 1 year 2 years 3years 3years Total
fm £m £m £m £m
Financal habihties at far value through profit and loss
Denvative financral instruments (135) (42) 42) (15) (23 4)
Embedded derwvatives - - - (8 5 (8 5)
Other creditors (32 3) - - - (32 3)
Financial habilites measured at amortsed cost.
Bank loans (04) {04) (20 4) 300y (512)
Loans owed to Intermediate parent undertaking (90) 90 (119 4) (53 4) (190 8)
Chligations under finance leases {(13) (03) ©Mn - 17)
Trade and other payables (excluding deferred income) (2182) _ _ B (218 2)
2008 - Liquidity Risk Analysis
Amounts
Amounts Amounts Amounts due after
due iniess due In1to duen2to morethan
than 1 year 2 years 3years 3years Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Financial labilittes at far value through profit and loss
Denvative financial instruments {15) (02) - - 17)
Embedded dervatives - - - - -
Cther creditors - 311) - - (31 1)
Financal habilites measured at amortised cost:
Bank lpans (04) (04) (04) (50 3) {51.5)
Loans owed to Intermediate parent undertaking {10 8) (108) (10 8) (104 3) {136.7)
Obligations under finance leases (10) (12} - - (2 2)
Trade and other payables (excluding deferred income) (183 4) - - - (183 4)

24b Capital management

The Group delivers long term value to its 100% shareholder, BBC Group, through cash returned in the form
of dwvidends as a share of the Group's profits, acquisiton of BBC content or intellectual property, direct
investment in BBC programming, and growth in the capital value of the BBC’s equity in the Group BBC
Group 1s proactive In overseeing the management of capital at BBC Worldwide and it sets the targets for
the Group and the incentives placed on the management team BBC Group's own expectations of the
retumns from BBC Worldwide include regular cash returns in the form of dividends, which are an essential
part of the BBC's funding stream, and long term appreciation in the market value of BBC Worldwide

The dividend policy of the Group 1s therefore set by BBC Group to achieve the optimum balance between
annual cash returns to the BBC and BBC Worldwide investing for growth in e g  programming, intellectual
property or other assets to build value over the long term
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24b Capital management (continued)

The BBC's trust principles require strict compliance with the four Commercial Critenia fit with BBC’s public
purposes, brand reputation and brand values, commercial efficiency, and fair trading policy The Group's
policy in making investment decisions 1s governed by the BBC's trust principles and commercial efficiency
of the investment The commercial efficiency of an investment 1s determined on a case-by-case basis, with
respect to financial metrics such as net present value, internai rate of return, payback period and profit
margin The Group’s diversified portfolio of businesses means that generahsation of benchmarks 18 neither
desirable, nor possible Therefore, the Group operates a framework for calculating investment discount
rates that are tailored to each investment This framework applies appropnate risk premiums to the discount
rate in order to ensure all nsks relating to the investment are taken into account and that the required rate
of return is commensurate with this level of nsk This in turn allows the BBC and BBC Worldwide to achieve
the optimal allocation of capital and balance its short term and long term return goals

The Group 1s In the process of agreeing a shareholder return framework with the BBC Group that will

ensure that capital altocation 1s measured and reported by the Greup on a regular basis, and will allow for
meaningful comparisons with external benchmarks

24c Fair value of financial instruments
With effect from 1 Apn! 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that
are measured in the balance sheet at far value, this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by

level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or hability,

either directly (that 1s, as prnices) or indirectly (that 1s, denved from pnces)
Level 3 Inputs for the asset or hability that are not based on observable market data (that I1s, unobservable
Inputs)

The following table presents the Group's derivative assets and habilities that are measured at fair value at
31 March 2010

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2010 - Fair value {as at 31 March 2010) £m £m fm £m
Financial assets at fair value through mcome and
expenditure
Denvative financial instruments - 29 - 29
Embedded derivatives - - - -
Total assets - 29 - 29
Financial habihities at farr value through income and
expenditure
Denvative financial insruments - (120) - (12 0)
Embedded derivatives - {13) - (13}
Other creditors - - (39 8) (39 8)
Total habilties - (133) (39 8) {53 1)
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2009 - Fair value (as at 31 March 2009) £m £m £m £m
Financial assets at fairvalue through mcome and
expenditure
Denvative financial instruments - 13 - 13
Embedded Denvatives - - . -
Total assets - 13 - 13
Financal habihties at far value through mcome and
expenditure
Denvative financial instruments - (24 0) - (24 0)
Embedded derivatives - (85) - (8 5)
Other creditors - - (32 3) (32 3)
Tctal labilties - (325) {32 3} {64 8)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2008 - Fair value (as at 31 March 2008) £m £m £m £m
Financial assets at fair value through income and
expenditure
Denvative financial instruments - 13 - 13
Embedded Denvatives - - - -
Total assets - 13 - 13
Financial liabilites at farr value through ncome and
expenditure
Denvative financial insruments - (12) - (12
Embedded derivatives - - - -
Other creditors - - (310 (310
Total habilthes - (12) (31 0) (32 2)

Other than when hedge accounting 1s applied, the far values of standalone dernvatives are determined
using market prices and exchange rates at the balance sheet date in active markets which determine their
classification as Level 1 The farr values of embedded dernvatives that are not traded in an active market
are determmed using valuation model techniques All significant inputs into the valuation technigues are
based on observable market data justifying classification as Level 2 At 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009
there are no matenal differences between the far value and carrying value of any of the Group's other

financial instruments
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24d Derivative financial instruments

The following table presents the Group's denvative assets and liabilities by category of instrument, at 31
March 2010

Assets Liabihtes
2010 £m £m
Greater than one year
Forward foreign currency contracts 03 (2 4)
Currency options - -
Interest rate swaps - 41
Interest rate caps - (0 4)
Embedded dervatives - {13
03 8 2)
Less than one year
Forward foreign currency contracts 25 51)
Cumency options , 01 -
28 (5 1)
Assets Liabilities
2009 £m £m
Greater than one year
Forward foreign cumrency contracts 02 (4 5)
Currency options 01 ©8)
Interest rate swaps 01 (3 9)
Interest rate caps - (10)
Embedded derivatives - (8 5)
04 {18 5)
Less than one year
Forward foreign currency contracts 09 {11 2)
Currency options - (2 8)
08 (14 0)
Assets Liabihties
2008 £m £m
Greater than one year
Forward foreign currency contracts 01 © 2)
Cumency options - -
Interest rate swaps - 0 1}
Interest rate caps 01 -
Embedded derivatives - -
02 {0 3}

Less than one year

Forward foreign currency contracts 11 09
Cumency options - -
11 {0 9)

The farr value movements on foreign exchange forward contracts, currency options and embedded
denvatives are recorded through the income statement within operating costs and analysed separately as
specific tems Fair value movements on financial instruments held by associates and joint ventures are
also recorded through the same hine In the income statement and amount to £1 0 milkon gain (2009 £0 8
million loss) The total amount within operating costs relating to these items at 31 March 2010 was £19 8
mullion gain {2008 £27 3 milon loss), which includes the Group’s share of joint ventures and associates’
fair value movements on financial instruments
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Fair value movements in respect of interest rate swaps and interest rate options are recorded through the
income statement within the finance incomeffinance costs lines The total amount within finance income
relating to these items at 31 March 2010 was £0 3 milion gain (2009 £4 8 million loss reflected in finance
costs)

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2010
were £223 1 milion (2009 £2358 million, 2008 £557 millon) The hedged forecast transactions
denominated In foreign currency are expected to occur at vanous dates in the future

The Group applies cash flow hedge accounting for trades taken out In respect of its forecasted foreign
currency transactions Hedge accounting 1s only applied where appropriate designation and documentation,
and back-to-back trades with parties external to the Group exist Net gamns and losses (after tax and
minonty interests) recognised in the hedging reserve on forward foreign exchange centracts in cash flow
hedge relationships at 31 March 2010 were £0 5 million (2009 £nil, 2008 £nil) These amounts will be
recognised in the income statement in the period when the hedged forecast transaction affects the income
statement, at various dates over the next twelve months

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2010 were
£140 3 milkon (2009 £118 4 mulhon, 2008 £36 9 miflion) All outstanding interest rate swaps mature by
Apnl 2014

in accordance with |IAS 38, the Group has reviewed contracts for embedded denvatives that are required to
be separately accounted for If they do not meet certain requirements set out in the standard Any such
embedded derivatives have been recognised at fair value and subsequent changes to farr value have been
recorded through the income statement

24e Interest bearing loans and borrowings

2010 2008 2008
£m £m £m
Current

Cther short term loans - 33 08
Finance lease creditor {note 10) - 14 10
- 47 18

Non-cumrent
Bank loans 5040 500 500
Loan owed to intermedsiate parent undertaking 841 1584 895
Finance lease creditor (note 10) 01 03 12
1342 2087 140 7
Total interest bearing loans and borrowings 134.2 2134 142 5

105




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED

Annual Report and Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2010

24¢ Interest bearing loans and borrowings {continued)
Total Drawn Total Drawn Total Drawn
facilty down factbty down faciity down  Expiry or review
Fadility at 31 March Interest rate 2010 2010 2009 2008 2008 2008 date
Unsecwred loan Several, as indicated below £1680° 841 £16801 £158 4 £150 5 £90 3 Several, as
faaltes with BBC indicated below
Commercial Holdings
Umted (Em
equivalent)
- Ausunsecured  Commercial Holdings' base Au$1000  AuS1000 Au$S1000 Au$1000 AUB196 0 AUS1955 7 June 2012
loan {AuSm)? cost of funding {in Aus) after
interest rate swaps plus a
margin of 0 275%
- Sterling Commercial Holdings' base £1076 £237 £1200 £1104 £60 0 - 30 April 2011
unsecwred loan  cost of funding after interest (Residual (Residual
{Em) rate caps plus a margn of balance) balance}
0275%/0 325%°
Loan with Eurcpean Eurcpean Investment Bank's £500 E500 £500 £500 £50 0 £500 £20m Dec 2011
nvestment Bank own funding cost plus a £30m May 2012
(Em) margin of 0 09% on
unsecured |ocans
Secured loan with ANZ's reference rate plus a - - Auj186 Aub69 AU 3 Au$1 7 Facilty cancelled at
ANZ Bank (Au$m)‘ margin of 0 25% pa for 31 March 2010
amounts up to Aalty hmit
1 Includes £50 0 milion {2009 £50 0 milkon} borrowing facility available provided corresponding cash balance s maintained
2 The £ equivalent amount at 31 March 2010 for the facility, which was fully drawn down was £680 4 milhon (2009 facility fully
drawn down £48 0 mullion, 2008 facilty of £90 5 million of which drawn down was £90 3m)
3 Depending on the teve! of borrowings
4 The £ equivalent amounts at 31 March 2009 were facility of £8 9 million of which drawn down was £3 3 milkon (2008 facility

of £10 & million of which drawn down was £0 8 million)

Subsequent to year end, the sterling facility with BBC Commercial Holdings Limited expinng in April 2011 has
been renewed with an expiry date of 30th Apnl 2012 Further information regarding the new facility 1s included
In note 27 In addition, the Group will consider whether there 1s a need to refinance the EIB facility durtng the
next financial year

The Group held £23 3 millon 1n cash or cash equivalents at 31 March 2010 (2009 £55 9 milion, 2008
£50 7 million}

25 Parent undertaking and controlling party

The Group's immediate parent 1s BBC Ventures Group Limited, which 1s in turn 100% owned by BBC
Commercial Holdings Limited and the ultmate parent undertaking and controlling party 1s the British
Broadcasting Corporation that 1s incorporated in the United Kingdom by the Royal Charter The largest
group 1n which the results of BBC Worldwide are consolidated 1s that headed by the BBC The consoldated
accounts of BBC may be obtained online at www bbe co uk/annualreport

26 Related party transactions

The refated party transactions of the Group have been presented in accordance with IAS 24, Related Party
Disclosures Related parties of BBC Worldwide include its subsidiary, associated and joint venture
undertakings, its parent undertakings and fellow subsidianes, and key management personnel of the Group
and theirr close family members and its parent undertakings Transactions between BBC and BBC
Worldwide Group pension schemes are as disclosed in note 5b

108




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010

26a Transactions with fellow BBC Group undertakings

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated
on consolidation and are not disclosed n this note Amounts owed by and to the BBC, the intermediate
parent undertaking and fellow subsidiary undertakings within the BBC Group are reported in notes 15 and
16 respectively

The following table ilustrates transactions with BBC Group entities duning the year

2010 2009

£m £m

nvestments in BBC programme nghts {77 5) (84 2)
Dwdend paid in respect of the financial year {32 1) (68 4)
Interest paid {6 0) {7 3)
Other income 129 114
Other expenditure {46 8) (40 0)
(149 5) (188 5)

BBC Worldwide paid a dividend of £32 1 millicn in the year (2009 £68 4 milhion) to BBC Ventures Group
Limited Interest paid on the loans from BEC Commercial Holdings Limited amounted to £6 0 million (2009
£7 3 million)

Other income primarily relates to commission charged on advertising Other expenditure includes such
items as property recharges, pension charges, and various other items under service level agreements

26b Joint ventures and associated undertakings

The value of transactions conducted with joint venture and associate related parties 1Is measured annually
and disclosed below

2010 2009

Name of related party How related Income Expendture Dividend Income Expenditure Dividend
Income income

£m £m £m £m £m £m

2|entertain Lmited” Joint Venture 101 {0 4) - 276 22 90
UK Channel Management Lirnited Jont Venture 108 - 27 125 - 167
UK Gold Holdings Limited Joint Venture 386 - 24 301 - 76
JVProgrammes LLC Joint Venture 199 (02) - 280 o7 -
Cther joint ventures Joint Venture 27 (36) - 22 {10 4) -
Fronfine Limited Associate - 21) 03 03 21 -
Other assooates Associate 65 (13) 53 62 @4 37
Total 836 (7.6) 107 1079 (19 8) 7.0

107




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010

26b Joint ventures and associated undertakings (continued)

2010 2009 2008
Name of related party Net debtors/ Netdebtors/ Net debtors/
(creditors) (credntors) (creditors)
£m £m £m
2|entertain Lmrted*® - 17 3 57 .
UK Channel Management Limited 24 26 54 ,
UK Gold Holdings Limited 68 88 122
JV Programmes LLC 10 16 -
Cther joint ventures 18 27 (09
Frontiine Limited 54 62 66
Cther associates 130 27 57
Total 304 36 5 347
Total net debtors / (creditors) with related parties
Debtors (note 15) 327 43 5 372
Creditors (note 16) {23) (7 Q) (25
Total 304 365 34.7

* 2|entertain was accounted for as a joint venture up to August 2009

26c Key management compensation

The Group considers key management personnel as defined under IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to be
the BBC Worldwide Executive Committee Total emoluments for key management personnel were

2010 2009

£m £m 1
Short-term employee benefits 57 486
Post-employment benefits 14 05
Other long-term benefits 06 05
Termination benefits - 12
Total 77 68

The above increase n total emoluments of key management personnel reflects an increase of 2 9 1n the
average number of key management personnel in companson to the pnor year, and includes the
remuneration of the highest paid director (note 5d)

As detailed in note 5d, a salary sacrfice arrangement was introduced in the year ended 31 March 2009
The total salary sacnfice by key management in the year ended 31 March 2010 was £141,000 (2009

£104,000)

27 Events after the balance sheet date

On 1 June 2010, the sterling faciity with BBC Commercial Holdings Limited expining in April 2011 was
renewed with a new expiry date of 30 Apnl 2012 The terms of the new facility are similar to the existing
facility tn all matenal aspects including interest, which 1s payable on the loan balance at a rate which
refiects the cost of funds to BBCCH including a margin of 0 275% or 0 325% (depending upon the level of
drawings by BBCCH under its £350m revolving credit facility)

On 16 June 2010, the directors declared a further dividend of £41 5 milhon (2009 £nil), resulting In a total

dividend of £73 6 milkon (2009 £68 4 million) relating to the financial year The dividend declared will be
paid and deducted from equity in the year ending 31 March 2011
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28 Interest in subsidiary, associated and joint venture undertakings

A list of the significant investments in subsidiary, associated and joint venture undertakings, including the
name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership interest at 31 March 2010 1s given below

Subsidiary undertakings

2010 2009 Note Nature of business Country of incorporation
% % or registration if outside
the UK
Worldwide Channels
European Channel Broadcasting Umited 100% 100% TV channel operator
European Channel Management Limited 100% 100% TV channe! operator
New Video Channel Amenca LLC 100% 100% (&) TV channel operator UsA
BBC Worldwide Channels Australasia Pty Limited 100% 100% (b} TV channel operator Australia
{formerly UK TV Pty Limited)
Digital Media
BBC com Limited 100% 100% Digttal media provider
Contant & Production
BBC Woridwide Productions LLC 100% 100% (a) Contentproducton UsA
BBC Worldwide Realty Productions LLC 100% 100% (a) Contentproducton USA
Global Brands
Lonely Planet Publications Inc 75% 75% (&} Publishing company USA
Lonely Planet Publications Limited 75% 75% (¢} Publshing company
Lonely Planet Publications Ply Limited 75% 75% {c} Publishing company Austrahia
|
Sales & Distribution |
BBC Worldwide Australia Pty Limited 100% 100% Programme distnbutor Australia
BBC Worldwde Canada Limited 100% 100% Programme distnbutor Canada
BBC Worldwide France Sar 100% 100% Programme distnbutor France
BBC Worldwide Germany GmbH 100% 100% Programme distnbutor Germany
BBC Worldwide Japan KK 100% 100% Programme distnbutor Japan
UK Programme Distnbution Limited 93% 93% Programme distnbutor
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28 Interestin subsidiary, associated and joint venture undertakings (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings (continued)

2010 2009 Note Nature of business Country of incorporation
% % or registration «f outsde
the UK
Magazines
BBC Magazines Limited 100% 100% (d) Publshing company
Bedder 6 Limited 50% S0% Content creation
Bristol Magazines Limited 100% 100% (d) Publishing company
Magazine Services Lirmted 100% 100% (d) Publshing company
Home Entertainment
BBC Audiobooks Limited 100% 100% Audiobook publisher
Cover to Cover Cassettes Limited 100% 100% (e} Audiobook publisher
2lentertamn Limrted 100% 60% {r) DVD/wideo publisher
Investment companies
BBC Magazines Holdings Limited 100% 100% Holding company
BBC Magazmes Rights Limited 100% 100% Holding company
BBC Worldwide Americas Inc 100% 100% Holding company UsA
BBC Worldwide Australia Channels Pty Limited 100% 100% Holding company Australia
BBC Worldwide Australia Holdings Pty Limited 100% 100% Holding company Austraha
BBC Worldwide Australia Publishing Pty Limited 100% 100% (d) Holding company Australia
BBC Worldwide Holdings BV 100% 100% Holding company Helland
BBC Worldwide Investments Lmnted 100% 100% Holding company
Worldwide Amencas Investments Inc 100% 100% (a) Holding company USA
Worldwde Channel Investments Limrted 100% 100% Holding company
Worldwide Channel Investments (Europe) Limited 100% 100% () Holding company
Worldwide Channel Investments {Ontario) Limited 100% 100% () Holding company Canada
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28 Interest in subsidiary, associated and joint venture undertakings (continued)

Associated undertakings

2010 2009 Note Nature of business Country of Incorporation

% % or registration if outside

the UK
Worldwide Channels
Animal Planet {Asia) LLC 50% S50% (f} TV channel operator USA
Animal Planet {Latn America) LLC 50% 50% (q) TV channeloperator USA
AP Canada Company ULC 23% 23% (I} TV channel cperator Canada
AP Japan KK 33% 33% (q) TV channeloperator Japan
AP Japan LLP 50% 50% (f} TV channel cperator USA
Jasper Broadcasting Inc 20% 20% (I} TV channel operator Canada
Jas per Junior Broadcasting Inc 20% 20% () TV channel ocperator Canada
JV Network LLC 50% 50% {q) TV channelcperator USA
People and Arts (Latin Amenca) LLC 50% 50% (q) TV channel operator UsA
The Amimal Planet (Europe) Partinership 50% 50% (m) TV channel operator
Content & Production
Baby Cow Productions Limited 25% 25% Content creaton
Big Talk Productions Limited 25%  25% Content creaton
Clerkenwell Films Lmited 25% 25% Content creaton
Chffhanger Productions Limited 25%  25% Content creaton
Hardy Pictures Lmited 15% 15% Content creaton
Left Bank Pictures Limited 25% 25% Content creaton
Plain Vanilla Productions LLP 25% 25% (n) Content creaton
Sprout Pictures (TV) Limited 25% 25% Content creaton
Temple Street Productions Inc 25%  25% Content creaton Canada
GP Media S A 35% n/a (o) Contentcreaton Argentina
Tower Productions Gmbh 49% nfa Content creaton Gemany
Digital Media
Masher Technologres Limited 25%  25% Video mashing
Magazines
Children’s Character Books Limited 25% 25% Children’s book
Frontme Limited 23% 23% Magazine distnbutor
OPL Holdings Limited 39% 39% Holding company
Origin Publishing Limited 39% 38% (p) Magazine publisher
Home Entertainment
Educatonal Publishers LLP 15% 15% Educational product
Woodlands Books Limited 15% 15% Book publisher

11




BBC WORLDWIDE LIMITED Annual Report and Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2010

28

Interest in subsidiary, associated and joint venture undertakings {continued)

Joint ventures

2010 2009 Note Nature of business Country of Incorporation
% % or registration f outside
the UK
Worldwide Channels
UK Channel Management Limited 50% 50% TV channel cperator
UK Gold Holdings Limited 50% 50% Holding company
UK Gold Services Limited 50% 50% (g) TV channel operator
UKTV Interactive mited 50% 50% (g) TV channel operator
UKTV New Ventures Limited 50% 50% TV channel operator
Content & Production
Freehand International Pty Limited 38% 38% Content creaton Austraha
Digital Media
UK VOD LLP 33%  33% (hy VODsuppher
Sales & Distribution
JV Programmes LLC 50% 50% {(q) Contentcreaton USA
Global Brands
Ragdoll Developments Limited 50% 50% Helding company
Ragdoll Worldwide Holdings Limited 50% 50% (s) Holding company
Magazines
BBC Haymarket Exhibitions Limited 50% 50% () Consumerexhibxtion omganser
Dovetall Services (UK) Holdings Limited 50% 50% Magazine subscnption fulfiller
Park Publishmg Partnership 50% 50% () Magazine producer Austraha
Sub-Zero Events Lirmited 25% 25% (k} Live stage-performance operator
Worldwide Media Limited 50% 50% (f) Pubhshing company India
Notes
(a) owned through BBC Worldwide Amencas Inc

(b)

(©)
(d)
(&
4]
(@)
()]
0]
()
(k)
m
(m)
()]
(0)
(P
@
n
(s)

owned through Worldwide Channels Investments Limited and BBC Worldwide Australia Channels Pty
Limited

owned through BBC Worldwide Austraha Holdings Pty Limited

owned through BBC Magazines Holdings Limited

owned through BBC Audiobooks Limited

owned through Worldwide Channel Investments Limited

owned through UK Gold Holdings Limited

owned through VOD Member (BBCW A) Limited and VOD Member (BBCW B) Limited
owned through BBC Worldwide Investments Limited

owned through BBC Worldwide Australia Publishing Pty Limited

owned through Bedder 6 Limited

owned through Werldwide Channel Investments (Ontano) Limited

owned through Worldwide Channel Investments (Eurcpe) Limited

owned through Mirn Milk Limited

owned through Worldwide Argentina Limited

owned through OPL Holdings Limited

owned through Worldwde Amencas Investments Inc

2|entertain was 60% owned and accounted for as a joint venture up to 5 August 2009
owned through Ragdoll Developments Lim:ited
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29 Explanation of transition to IFRS

These are the Group's first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with EU-adopted
IFRS The accounting policies set out 1n note 1 have been applied in prepanng the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2010, the comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2009 and the
preparation of an opening balance sheet at 1 April 2008, the Group's date of transition

In prepanng its opening IFRS balance sheet, the Group has made adjustments to amounts previously
reported In its financial statements under UK GAAP IFRS and UK GAAP are not directly comparable An
overall explanation of how the transition from previous UK GAAP to IFRS has affected the Group's financial
position and financial performance i1s set out below

31 March 2009 1 Apnl 2008
Note £m £m
Total equity under UK GAAP 971 1230
Adjustments to equity to conform with IFRS
Denvative financial instruments 28b(1) (318) (05)
Goodwill and ather intangibles 28b(n) 211 134
Investments in associates and jont ventures 29b () 28 19
Employee benefits 28b(1v) (28) (24)
Taxation (net) 29b{v) 06 {6 4)
Total {reduction}increase in equity (10 1) 60
Total equity under IFRS 870 1290
2008
Note £m
Profit for the year under UK GAAP 413
Adjustments to profit to conform with IFRS
Denvative financial instruments 29b(1) {313)
Goodwill and other intangibles 29b(n) 24
Investments i associates and jont ventures 29b(in) 10
Employee benefits 29b(1v) {0 4)
Taxation (net) 28b({v) 95
Total adustment to profit for the year {18 8)
Profit forthe year under IFRS 225

A full reconciliation to IFRS of the previously reported UK GAAP balance sheet and profit and loss account
can be found on the BBC Worldwide website

29a Transitional arrangements

IFRS 1 First-ime Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards sets out the transitional rules
which must be applied when IFRS 1s applied for the first tme The Group 1s required to select accounting
policies In accordance with IFRS vahd at its first IFRS reporting date and apply those policies
retrospectively The standard sets out certain mandatory exceptions to retrospective application and certain
optional exempticns The exemptions adopted by the Group are as set out below

Business combinations the Group has elected to apply IFRS 3 Business Combinations retrospectively to
business combinations that occurred after 1 Apnl 2007, one year prior to the date of transitton In
accordance with the first-tme adoption exemption, goodwill that had been amortised, or written off against
reserves, prior to that date has not been reinstated

Cumulative translation differences the Group has elected to reset the foreign currency translation

reserve to zero at the transition date Any gains and losses on subsequent disposals of foreign operations
will exclude any translation differences ansing prior to that date
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29b The effects of adopting IFRS in the financial statements

(i} Derivative financial instruments

Under UK GAAP, the Group has recognised gains or losses on derivative financial instruments on matunty
Under IAS 39 Financial Instruments — Recogmition and Measurement, the Group 1s required to recognise
its derivative financial instruments on the balance sheet at far value from inception of the contract, with
changes n farr value being recognised in the Income statement

The farr value of dervative financial instruments recognised on the balance sheet on transition at 1 Apnl
2008 was a net liability of £0 5 milllon, with a deferred taxation impact of £0 2 milion The farr value of
derivative financial instruments at 31 March 2009 increased to a £31 3 milion net hability, resulting in a
post taxation charge to the income statement of £22 5 millen Future market interest rate and currency
mavements will give nse to adjustments to these farr values Where hedge accounting i1s not apphed under
IAS 39, changes n farr values of denvative financial instruments will impact the income statement

{ii) Goodwill and other intangibles

UK GAAP required goodwill to be amortised over its expected useful economic Iife Under /AS 38
Intangible Assets, goodwill 18 no longer amortised but held at its carrying value on the balance sheet and
tested annually for mpairment In addition, /AS 38 Intangible Assets requires other intangible assets ansing
on acquisitions after the transition date to be separately identified and amortised over therr useful economic
Iife, often a shorter penod than previously used for goodwill As a result, intangible assets such as
customer relationships and trademarks need to be separately valued and recognised on business
combinations, and then amortised over their useful economic lives

The UK GAAF goodwill amortisation charge in the year to 31 March 2009 has been reversed The other
intangible assets ansing from acquisitions since 1 Apnl 2007 are bemng amortised over therr estimated
useful economic ives The net impact of these adjustments for subsidranes 1s a £3 0 million decrease in
amortisation charge The corresponding impact on equity 1s £1 8 million higher, reflecting the impact of
IFRS conversion on the acquisiticn of UK TV and its pre-acquisition results (see note 18b)

Computer software that 1s not an integral part of the associated hardware 15 classified as an intangible
asset under IAS 38 Under UK GAAP, the Group's policy was to categorise all capitalised software as
tangible fixed assets This has resulted in a balance sheet reclassification of £2 9 million at 31 March 2009,
but has had no impact on profit or equity Programme investments are now also shown as intangible
assets, with £87 9 million reclassified at 31 March 2009

(ni) Investments In associates and joint ventures

Under UK GAAP, the Group accounted for its share of joint ventures and associates using equity
accounting Under IFRS, the Group continues to apply equity accounting However, the Group’s share of
results of associates and joint ventures 1s presented net of tax and finance expense on the face of the
income statement Previcusly under UK GAAP the Group's share of associates and joint ventures’ Interest
and tax was included in the relevant interest and tax line of the iIncome statement

Consistent with the IFRS accounting treatment of subsidianes, goodwill in relation to joint ventures and
associated undertakings 1s no lenger amortised but held at its carrying value on the balance sheet and
tested for mpairment where imparment indicators are identified The UK GAAP goodwill amortisaticn
charge in the year to 31 March 2009 of £2 3 milllon has been reversed However, £0 4 million of that
amount was charged to the income statement as a result, being an additional impairment charge n relation
to the Group's Indian magazines joint venture In addition, a further decrease in equity of £0 8 million was
recorded, betng the Group’s share of the tax effected movement in the farr value of derivatives recognised
by its joint ventures under |AS 39

{iv) Employee benefits

Under UK GAAP, the Group accrued for the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) in the penod when it was
determined that a payout would be likely This was typically in the annual period immediately preceding the
date of measurement of the award Similarly, under UK GAAP, the Group did not make a proviston for
Holiday pay, 1e holiday earned but not taken prior to year end In contrast, JAS 19 Employee Benefits
requires these costs to be accrued over the service period on a reasonable basis Adjustments for
employee benefits reflect the first tme recognition and the year-on-year impact of accruing for these
benefits In ine with the requirements of IAS19
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29b The effects of adopting IFRS in the financial statements (continued)

(v} Taxation
The above taxation adjustment includes the related taxation iImpacts of the IFRS adjustments for financial
instruments and gocdwill and other intangibles

(vi) Other adjustments and reclassifications

The Group has historically recognised some pregramme investments within inventory, and amortised them
in line with historical patterns of economic consumption In hight of the transition to IFRS and changing
market practice the Group has reviewed the presentation of these arrangements These arrangements are
now recorded within intangible assets when held for distribution, and recorded within inventory when held
for broadcast, consistent with industry practice
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BBC Worldwide Limited Company only financial statements

Balance sheet

As at 31 March 2010 2009 restated
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets E 193 251
Programme nghts for distnbution F 100 4 g0&
Investments
Investments in subsidiary undertakings G 173 840
Investments 1n joint ventures H 148 816
Investments in associated undertakings | 16 116
197 7 1772
317 4 2928
Current assets
Stocks J 18 8 131
Cument debtors K 3649 39689
Long-term debtors K 40 54
Total debtors 368 9 4023
Cash at bank and in hand - 24
3877 417 8
Creditors® amounts falling due within one year L (369 8) {364 9)
Net current assets 17 9 529
Total assets less current habilities 3353 3457
Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year L (142 7) (226 8)
Prowvisions for habifities M {2 5) (32)
Net assets 190 1 1157
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital N 02 02
Profit and lcss account o] 189 9 1155
Total equity shareholders’ funds Q 190 1 1157

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on  {& JvA¢ 2010 and were signed
on its behalf by

mith N Chugani
ef Executive Chief Financial Officer
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Statement of total recognised gains and losses

For the year ended 31 March 2010 2010 2009 restated
Note £m £m

Profit for the year 106 7 820

Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year 106 7 820

Pnor year adjustment - FRS 26 A2 {22 3)

Total gaing and losses recognised since last financial statements 84 4
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Notes to the Company only financial statements

A Principal accounting policies

The Company’s financial statements set out the positton of BBC Worldwide Limited and not the Group
which it heads These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting
standards in the United Kingdom A summary of the Company's principal accounting policies 1s set out
below These accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the current and preceding
years to items considered matenal to the financial statements

A1 Basis of accounting
The financial statements are presented on a going concern basis and under the histoncal cost accounting
convention

The Group consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010 contain related party
disclosures Conseguently, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 8 Refated Parly
Disclosures, not to disclose transachons with other members of the BBC Group

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no profit and loss account has been presented in
respect of the Company The Company’s profit after taxation for the year was £106 7 million (2009 restated
£82 0 milion) The Company's results form part of the Group consclidated financial statements

The Company 15 exempt from the requirement of FRS 1 (revised) Cash Flow Statements to prepare a cash
flow statement on the grounds that its cash flows are included in the consolidated cash flow statement of
the Group, set out on page 55

A2 Changes in accounting policies

Financial instruments

The Company has adopted FRS 26 Fmancial Instruments Measurement for the first time within these
financial statements This has resulted 1n a £22 3 millen decrease to the profit and loss reserve at 31
March 2009 and the recognmition of £0 9@ milion within debtors, £31 9 milion within creditors and £8 7 million
deferred tax assets The prior year comparatives have been restated accordingly

The BBC Worldwide Limited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010 contain
financial instrument disclosures which comply with the IFRS equivalent of FRS 29 Financial Instruments
Disclosures The Company 1s therefore exempt from the disclosure requirements of FRS 29

The impact of adopting FRS 26 1s explained below

FRS 26

£m
Adjustment to opening shareholders funds at 1 Apnl 2008 on
Adjustment to profit and loss for the year ended 31 March 2008 (21 6)
Adjustments to opening shareholder's funds at 1 Apnl 2009 (223)

Programme rights for distnbution and investment in programmes for future sales

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company has reviewed the presentation of its programme
Investments Programme investments are now recorded within Programme nights for distnbution when held
for distribution, and within stocks when held for broadcast, consistent with industry practice The
comparative figures in the balance sheet and notes thereto have been restated to reflect this revised
classificaton, resulting in a £9 9 millon reclassification from non-current assets to current assets at 31
March 2009 Current and prior year profits have been unaffected by this change
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A Principal accounting policies (continued)

A3 Investments

Investments in subsidiary, joint venture and associated undertakings are stated at cost and reviewed for
impairment if there are indicators that the carrying value may not be recoverable Only dividends received
and recewable are credited to the Company’s profit and loss account

A4  Foreign currency
The Company's presentational currency 1s sterling Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
sterling at a monthly average exchange rate

Monetary assets and habilities denominated 1n foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the balance
sheet date at the rate of exchange ruling at that date Surpluses and deficits ansing from the transtation of
monetary assets and habilities at these rates of exchange, together with exchange differences arising from
trading, are included in the profit and loss account

A5 Financial instruments

Denivative financial instruments

The Company transacts in a number of currencies, pnmarly including sterling, Euros, US dollars and
Australian dollars The Company therefore enters into derivative financial instruments to manage the
Company's exposure to fluctuations in interest rates (interest rate swaps, caps and collars), currency
options and foreign exchange rates (foreign currency forward contracts) The Company does not enter into
speculative dervative contracts

Denvative financial instruments are inibially recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured to
fair value at the balance sheet date with movements recorded in the profit and loss account, except where
hedge accounting 1s appled (see below}

The far value of the derwvative financial instruments 1s the estimated amount that the Company would
receive or pay to terminate the swap, cap or collar at the balance sheet date, taking into account current
interest rates and the current creditworthiness of counterparties

The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts 1s determined by using forward exchange market rates
at the balance sheet date

Hedge accounting

Where a financial instrument 1s designated and 1s effective as a net investment hedge of a foreign operation
or a cash flow hedge of purchases or sales in a foreign currency, any exchange differences ansing on the
retranslation of the financial instrument will be recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive
income Any ineffective portion, or any change n farr valuation on a financial instrument not designated as
an effective hedging instrument, 1s recognised immediately (n the profit and loss account If the hedge
ineffectiveness moves outside the range of 80-125 percent, all amounts related to that hedge, not mited to
the imeffective portion, are recycled to the profit and loss account

The Company currently dees not engage in net investment or fair value hedging

Embedded Derivatives

Denvatives which are embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as
separate dervatives when therr nsks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host
contracts, and the host contracts are not carrned at farr value Embedded derivatives are carned on the
balance sheet at fair value from mnception of the host contract Unrealised changes in far value are
recognised as gains/losses within the profit and less account during the period in which they arnse
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A Principal accounting policies {continued)

A6 Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost after any provision for impairment, less accumulated depreciation

Expenditure on fixed assets 15 capitalised together with directly attnbutable costs incurred on capital
projects Depreciation 1s charged so as to write off the cost of assets to therr residual value, over their
expected useful lives using the straight-lne method Depreciation commences from the date an asset Is
brought into service

The useful ives for depreciation purposes for the principal categones of assets are

Freehold builldings 50 years

Short leasehold buildings Unexpired lease term
Plant and machinery 3 to 8 years

Fixtures and fittings 3to 7 years

A7 Leased assets
Operating lease rentals payable are recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease The
Company has no finance leases

A8 Impairment of fixed assets

The Company reviews the carrying amounts of its fixed assets in accordance with FRS 11 Impawrment of
Fixed Assets and Goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable An impairment l0ss 1S recognised n the profit and loss account for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount

A9 Investment in programmes for distribution

Programme nghts for distnbution represent nghts acquired with the primary intention to sell them or
products derived from the nghts as part of the Company's long-term operations They are inihally
recognised at acquisition cost or preduction cost, when the Company controls the respective assets and the
nsks and rewards attached to them The carrying amount 1s stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and after wrnting off the costs of programmes that are considered irrecoverable Amortisation of programme
nghts for distrbution 1s charged to the income statement to match the average revenue profile of the
programme genre over its estimated average marketable life

A10 Stocks

Stocks comprising books, DVDs, paper, raw materials, and work In progress are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value Programme nghts for broadcasting refer to the programme nghts acquired for the
future broadcast on one of the Company's television channels or for sale to third party broadcasters The
carrying amount 1s stated at cost less accumulated amortisation, and after writing off the costs of
programme rights that are considered irrecoverable

A11  Provisions

A provision 15 recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation ansing from past events and 1t 1s probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation Prowvisions, other than deferred tax, that are payable over a number of years are
discounted to net present value at the balance sheet date using a discount rate approprate to the particular
provision concerned

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other
companies within its group, the Company considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for
them as such In this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liabihty until such
time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee
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A Principal accounting policies (continued)

A12 Pension costs
The Company operates both defined benefit and defined contnbution schemes for the benefit of
employees

Defined benefit schemes

The defined benefit schemes provide benefits based on final or career average pensionable pay The
assets of the BBC's main pension scheme, the BBC Pension Scheme, to which the majonity of employees
belong, are held separately from those of the BBC Group The BBC pension scheme 1s a Group wide
scheme and as such the participating employers are unable to identify their shares of the underlying assets
and habilities on a reasonable and consistent basis Therefore as required by FRS 17 Retirement benefits
BBC Worldwide accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme The expenditure
charged for the year as a result represents the contributions payable i the year

Defined contribution scheme
The Company participates in a number of defined contribution schemes in relation to its UK and overseas
operations Contnbutions to the schemes are charged to the profit and loss account when payable

A13 Taxation

The charge for taxation 1s based on the profit or loss for the year and takes into account taxation deferred
because of timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes
Except where otherwise required by accounting standards, full provision without discounting 1s made for all
timing differences that have ansen but not reversed at the balance sheet date Deferred tax assels are
recognised to the extent that, on the basis of all available evidence, it 1s more likely than not that they will
be recovered

A14 Dividends on shares presented within shareholders’ funds

Dividends unpaid at the balance sheet date are only recognised as a lability at that date to the extent that
they are appropriately authensed and are no longer at the discretion of the Company Unpaid dividends that
do not meet these cntena are disclosed in the notes to the Company only financial statements

B Auditor’s remuneration
The audit fee for the Company was as follows

2010 2009
£m £m
Fees for the audit of the Company 02 02

Fees paid to the Company's auditors, KPMG LLP, and its associates for services other than the statutory
audit of the Company are not disclosed in these financial statements This 1s on the basis that such non-
audit fees are disclosed in the consolidated accounts of the Company's ultimate parent, the BBC

C Directors’ remuneration
Informatton covenng Directors’ remuneration and pension benefits 1s set out in the Group consolidated
financial statements on page 73, and Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 42 to page 49
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D Analysis of deferred tax balance

In accordance with FRS 19 Deferred Taxation, the Company provides for all deferred tax habitthies in full

less available deferred tax assets

2009
2010 restated
Net deferred tax position £m £m
Net deferred tax asset/(hability} at start of year 7.2 87
Deferred tax assets provided/(released) during the year (note K) (4.0) 87
Deferred tax provision released dunng the year (note M) 0.9 72
Net deferred tax asset at end of year 41 72
E Tangible fixed assets
Short Plant & Fixtures & Assets under Total
leasehold Machinery Fittings construction
bwldings
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2009 70 385 55 086 526
Additions D2 39 - - 41
Transfer to completed assets - 06 - (0 6) -
Disposals - (10 0) {0 3) - (10 3)
At 31 March 2010 72 340 52 - 46 4
Depreciation
At 1 April 2009 06 254 15 - 275
Charge for the year 09 67 13 - 89
Disposals - (9 0) {0 3) - (8 3)
At 31 March 2010 15 231 25 - 271
Net book value
At 31 March 2010 57 109 27 - 183
At 31 March 2009 64 141 40 06 251

There are no assets (2009 £nil) held under finance leases in the Company
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F Programme rights for distribution

£m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2009 {restated) 1827
Additions 703
Elimination in respect of programmes fully amortised (42 4)
Exchange adjustment 27
At 31 March 2010 207 9
Amortisation
At 1 Apnl 2009 (restated) 922
Charge for the year 599
Elimination in respect of programmes fully amortised (42 4)
Exchange adjustment (22)
At 31 March 2010 107 5
Net book value
At 31 March 2010 100 4
At 31 March 2009 {restated) 90 5
G Investment in subsidiary undertakings

£m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2009 107 1
Additions 205
Transfer from joint ventures (note H) 67 5
At 31 March 2010 1851
Provisions
At 1 Apn! 2009 (23 1)
Charge for the year (07)
At 31 March 2010 (23 8)
Net book value
At 31 March 2010 1713
At 31 March 2009 840

The principal operating subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2010 are shown in note 28 Additions
dunng the year relate to the acquisition of 2|entertain Limited (see note 18a)
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H Interests in joint ventures

Investments In
Joint venture

undertakings
£m

Cost net of provision
At 1 April 2009 816
Transfer to subsidhanes (note G) (67 5)
Additions 07
At 31 March 2010 14 8
Net book value
At 31 March 2010 14.8
At 31 March 2009 816

Additions during the year primarly relate to the investment in Ragdoll Developments Limited (see note

11c)
| Interests in associated undertakings
Investments in
associated
undertakings
£m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2009 and 31 March 2010 1186
J Stocks
2009
2010 restated
£m £m
Raw matenals and consumables 01 -
Work in progress 01 01
Programme nghts for broadcasting 181 127
Finished goods for resale 05 03
18 8 131
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K Debtors
2009
2010 restated
£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year
Trade debtors 711 540
Amounts owed by substdiary undertakings 241 9 2553
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiary undertakings 247 281
Amounts owed by associates and joint ventures 116 392
Deferred tax {note D) 12 38
Other debtors 35 21
Prepayments and accrued income - other 76 127
Prepayments and accrued mncome - BBC 07 11
Financial instruments 26 086
3649 396 9
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Deferred tax {note D) 37 51
Financial instruments 03 03
40 54
Total debtors 368 9 402 3
L Creditors
2009
2010 restated
£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year
Bank loans and overdraft 154 -
Trade creditors 395 347
Rights creditors 331 302
Amounts owed to the BBC 212 303
Amounts owed to intermediate parent undertaking - 01
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 1709 1723
Amounts owed to fellow substdiary undertakings 28 16
Amounts owed to associates and joint ventures 01 65
Corporation tax payable 71 89
Other creditors including other taxes and social secunty 163 145
Financial instruments 43 136
Accruals and deferred income 59 1 523
3698 364 9
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Bank loans 500 500
Loan owed to intermediate parent undertaking 841 158 4
Financial instruments 86 18 4
1427 226 8
Total creditors 5125 5917
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L Creditors (continued)
Total Drawn Total Drawn
facility down facility down Expiry of review
Facility at 31 March Interest rate 2010 2010 2009 2009 date
Unsecured loan Several, as indicated £16801 £84 1 £1680' £1584 Severa!, as indicated
facilties with BBC below below
Commercial Holdings
Umited (Em equivalent)
- Au$ unsecured loan Commercial Holdings' Au$100 Au$100 Au$100 Au$100 7 June 2012
(Ausm)? base cost of funding (in
Aug) after interest rate
swaps plus a margin of
0275%
- Sterling unsecured Commercial Holdings' £1076 £237 £1200 £110 4 30 Apnl 2011
loan (Em) base cost of funding after (Residual (Residual
interest rate caps plus a balance) balance}
margin of 0 275%/0 325%>
Loan with Eurgpean European Investment £500 £50 0 £500 £500 £20m Dec 2011
Investment Bank (Em)  Bank's own funding cost £30m May 2012
plus a margin of 0 9% on
unsecured loans
1 Includes £50 milion (2009 £50 milion) borrowing faciity available provided corresponding cash balance is maintained across
the Group
2 The £ equivalent amount at 31 March 2010 for the facility, which was fully drawn down was £60 4 million (2009 facility fully
drawn down £48 milion, 2008 faciity of £90 5 million of which drawn down was £90 3m)
3 Depending on the level of borrowings
M Provisions for liabilities and charges and contingent liabilities
Deferred tax Other Total
provisions
£m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2009 17 15 32
Provided dunng the year 06 10 16
Released in the year (15) 08 23
At 31 March 2010 (Note D) 08 17 25

Other provisions primarily comprise property dilapidation and htigation provision

The Company has a number of contingent liabilities arising from litigation as a result of activities undertaken
in its ordinary course of business BBC Worldwide makes specific provisien for the best estimate of any
damages and costs which might be awarded Prowvision 15 only made to the extent that the Directors
consider it probable that there will be an outflow of economic benefits and the amount can be rehably
estimated

Further deferred contingent consideration may be payable in connection with acquisitions made by the

Company No provision has been made where the likelihood and magnitude of additional payments cannot
be assessed with reasonable certainty
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M Provisions for liabilities and charges and contingent liabilities (continued)

The Company and some of its subsidiaries operate a cash pooling arrangement All the cash balances
within the pool belong to the legal entity to which they relate to, although the Company has access to all
funds and each cash peol participant i1s jointly and severally hable for any overdraft balance At 31 March
2010, total overdrafts under this arrangement were £61 7 milion (2009 £68 3 million}

The Company and scme of its fellow BBC Commercial Holdings subsidiaries have given guarantees in
relation to the BBC Commercial Holdings Limited revolving credit faciity agreement At 31 March 2010,
total amounts drawn down by the BBC Commercial Holdings Group under this facility were £211 7 million
(2009 £243 5 milion)

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other
companies within its Group, the Company considers these to be insurance contracts and accounts for them
as such The Company treats a quarantee contract as a contingent hability untl such time it becomes
probable that the Company will be required to make payment under the guarantee

N Called up share capital

2010 2009
£m £m
Authonsed
1,000,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each 10 10
Issued, allotted, called up and fully paid
250,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each 02 02
0 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
Profit and
Share loss Total
capital
account
£m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2008 02 1010 1012
Prior year adjustment (note A2) - 07 {07)
At 1 Apnl 2008 {restated) 02 1003 100 5
Profit for the year - 1036 103 6
Profit for the year - prior year adjustment (note A2) - (21 6) {21 6)
Dividends - (68 4) {68 4)
Exchange adjustment - 18 16
At 31 March 2009 (restated) 02 1155 1157
At 1 Apnl 2009 02 1165 1157
Profit for the year - 106 7 106 7
Dividends - (32 1) (32 1)
Exchange adjustment - ©2) 0 2)
At 31 March 2010 02 189 9 190 1

The Company exchange adjustment in the year ended 31 March 2009 related to long term foreign currency
intercompany loans previously treated as quasi-equity and now revaluing to the profit and loss account
following part settlement of the underlying balance recewable
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P Dividends

2010 2009

£m £m

Dividends paid in the year 321 68 8
Declared and accrued at year-end - (0 4)
Total 321 68 4

Q Post balance sheet events

On 1 June 2010, the sterling faciity with BBC Commercial Holdings Limited expiring in Apnf 2011 was
renewed with a new expiry date of 30th Apnl 2012 The terms of the new facility are similar to the existing
faciity in all matenal aspects including interest, which 1s payable on the loan balance at a rate which
reflects the cost of funds to BBCCH ncluding & margin of 0 275% or 0 325% (depending upon the level of

drawings by BBCCH under its £350m revclving credit facility)

On 16 June 2010, the directors declared a final dividend of £41 5 million (2009 £nil), resulting in a total
dividend of £73 6 milion (2009 £68 4 milion) relating to the financial year

paid and deducted from equity in the year ending 31 March 2011

R Commitments

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not provided

2010 2009
£m £m
Software 05 -
Programme investments 497 557
Development funding 10 47
Other commitments 28 18
Total 540 62 2
S Operating lease commitments
Future mimimum rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases, payable in the next year, are as
follows
Land & Land & Plant & Plant &
buildings bulldings machinery  machinery
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m £m £m £m
Expiring
Within one year o1 02 18 01
Between two and five years 03 60 c4 02
After more than five years 60 01 - -
Total 64 63 22 03
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